University of Alberta

Changes in the Properties of Substantia Gelatinosa Neurons Induced by Peripheral Nerve Injury

> by Sridhar Balasubramanyan



A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Pharmacology

Edmonton, Alberta Fall 2006

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-22988-0 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-22988-0

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis. Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



Abstract

This thesis examines the effect of chronic constriction injury (CCI) of the sciatic nerve on the properties of different types of *substantia gelatinosa* (SG) neurons. The results from these studies improve our current understanding of the etiology of neuropathic pain at the cellular level.

Whole-cell patch-clamp recording under infrared-differential interference contrast (IR-DIC) microscopy was done to characterize the SG neurons in transverse slices of adult rat lumbar spinal cord. The CCI was performed by applying polyethylene cuffs to the sciatic nerve. Post-hoc morphological analysis of biocytin-filled neurons was done using confocal microscopy.

The main findings are (1) Neurons of the SG could be defined as 'tonic', 'irregular', 'phasic', 'transient' or 'delay' according to their discharge pattern at -60mV. (2) CCI decreased the amplitude and frequency of spontaneous (sEPSC's) and miniature (mEPSC's) excitatory post synaptic currents in 'tonic' neurons yet increased them in most other cell types. This may reflect cell-type specific alterations in the neurotransmitter release machinery as well as possible changes in the postsynaptic effectiveness of glutamate.

Morphological studies suggested that the majority of 'islet' cells showed the tonic firing pattern, while the majority of 'vertical' and 'radial' neurons showed the delayed firing

pattern. CCI decreased the excitatory synaptic drive to the tonic islet neurons, but increased it in vertical and radial delay neurons. The decreased synaptic drive may relate to the putative role of' 'tonic islet cells' as inhibitory GABAergic interneurons whereas increased synaptic drive to 'delay' cells may relate to their putative role as the excitatory output neurons. This specific pattern of changes in the SG neurons after CCI is defined as an 'Injury Footprint'. Such complementary changes in synaptic transmission therefore contribute to the onset of pain centralization.

Nitrendipine (2 μ M), an L-type Ca⁺⁺ channel blocker significantly suppressed both the evoked and sEPSC's in CCI rats. This suggests an involvement of L-type Ca⁺⁺ channels on primary afferent terminals to the increased excitatory synaptic transmission of the SG neurons after CCI. These studies are especially relevant for the management of neuropathic pain as L-type blockers could be an effective additive therapy along with conventional agents.

Acknowledgements

I am greatly indebted to my supervisor and friend, Peter A Smith for providing me an opportunity to come from India and study in his laboratory. I thank him for all the support and encouragement he offered me over the years. I have gained valuable knowledge and expertise while working in his lab which will help me in shaping my career. I especially appreciate him for allowing me to travel to Melbourne and Sydney, Australia for learning Immunohistochemistry and confocal microscopy and attend the Pain conference.

To Bill Dryden, I thank him for all the guidance he has provided me by being my committee member. I appreciate him for being very approachable always willing to help. His valuable insights have helped tremendously to improve my overall scientific knowledge.

To Jack Jhamandas, I thank him for being my committee member. His valuable suggestions and constructive criticism has helped a lot on improving my presentation skills. I especially thank him along with Bill Dryden for convincing Peter that I should spend at least 4-6 weeks in Australia for my immuno work.

To my external examiner, Dr. Yves De Koninck, I thank him for the suggestions and constructive criticisms at my thesis defense. His insightful comments greatly improved the quality of my thesis. I also thank him for providing some useful ideas for future publications. To Dr. Klaus Ballanyi, I thank him for participating in my thesis defense and provide me with useful suggestions. I also thank him for diligently reading over my thesis and offer me valuable comments to improve the quality of my thesis.

To my friend Martin Stebbing, and his wife Marissa Skok for kindly letting me stay at their house during my visit to his lab in Melbourne. I especially thank Martin for the support he offered me even while he was recovering from serious injury. His skillful guidance has helped a lot in learning cell identification techniques using confocal microscopy. I also thank him for passing me a trick on how to identify the ipsilateral side of the dorsal horn.

To my friend Tim Moran, for passing his knowledge on dorsal horn physiology. I am indebted to him for teaching me the skills and tricks on spinal cord dissection and patchclamp recording from the slices.

To my friend Pat Stemkowski, for making substantial contribution to my thesis work. I thank him for all the time he spent in the animal house doing behavioral studies and helping me with the surgical procedures. Without his professional and personal support the time spent in this lab would have been less productive and enjoyable.

To my friend Ken Wong, for making sure I have enough supply of 'drugs' and also helping me in behavioral and surgical procedures.

To my friend Van Lu, for many enjoyable scientific discussions. I thank her for the companionship at the Neuroscience conferences. I also thank her for sharing the office and always reminding me of my lab chores.

To my friend Kwai Alier, for providing useful comments on improving the clarity of presentations. I thank him for patiently sharing the desk space next to me in the office. I also thank Sabrina Gustafson for her help and companionship.

To the faculty members of the Department of Pharmacology especially Fred Tse, Wendy Gati, Susan Dunn and Bill Colmers for providing me valuable suggestions and help at various times during my stay in this department.

To Nathalie Vergnolle, I thank her for allowing me to come to her lab and learn von Frey hair technique for allodynia measurement.

To Dr. John Furness, for graciously allowing me to visit his lab and use his confocal microscope and Vicky Staikopoulos for her technical assistance.

To Katie Robertson, I thank her for fine tuning my figures and making them look pretty.

To my parents, Balasubramanyan and Gowri for their constant love and support without which I would never have been able to come so far to complete my thesis work.

I am grateful to Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research for providing me studentship for my studies and Canadian Institute for Health Research for funding my studies.

Finally to my loving wife, Sripriya who was always there to support me during my ups and downs from my undergraduate days. It was because of her encouragement and demand that I decided to pursue my PhD.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

This Thesis is dedicated to my parents and to my wife. Without their constant love and support this body of work would never have been completed.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1

1. General Introduction1
1.1 Nociception 4
1.2 Pain definition
1.3 Nociception and Pain
1.4 Acute Vs Chronic Pain: Pain Paradox6
1.5 Pain Pathways
1.5.1 Primary Afferents.61.5.2 Superficial Dorsal Horn.111.5.2.1 Lamina I Neurons.151.5.2.2 Lamina II Neurons.201.5.3 Supraspinal Tracts and Brain Centers Involved in Nociceptive Processing.30
1.6 Animal Models of Neuropathic Pain33
1.6.1 Neuroma Model (Axotomy).341.6.2 Chronic Constriction Injury Model (Bennet and Xie).351.6.3 Partial Sciatic Nerve Injury.361.6.4 Spinal Nerve Ligation Model.361.6.5 Chronic Constriction Injury with Polyethylene Cuffs (Kruger and Mosconi).371.6.6 Spared Nerve Injury.39
1.7 Neuropathic Pain and Pain pathways 40
1.7.1 Changes in the Primary Afferent fibers
1.8 Hypothesis
1.9 References
Chapter 2
2. General Methods97

2.1 Surgical procedure for Chronic Constriction Injury	97
2.2 Behavioral Testing	98
2.3 Preparation of Spinal Cord Slices	99
2.4 Arrangement and Visualization of the Slices	101
2.5 Electrophysiological Recordings	102
2.6 Data analysis	104
2.7 Immuno-histochemical Procedures	106
2.8 Confocal Microscopy	107
2.9 References	117

Chapter 3

Sc th Su ne	Sciatic Chronic Constriction Injury generates a specific Pattern of Changes in the Synaptic excitation and the Electrophysiological properties of Rat Substantia Gelatinosa 118 neurons		
3. :	1 Introduction	.119	
3.2	2 Methods	.121	
3.:	3 Results	. 122	
	3.3.1 Behavioral testing	122	
	3.3.2 Electrophysiological Characterization of Neuron Types	. 123	
	3.3.3 Effects of CCI on Passive Membrane Properties	.126	
	3.3.4 Effects of CCI on Membrane Excitability	126	
	3.3.5 Effect of CCI on Voltage-Sensitive Conductance	. 127	
•	3.3.6 Effects of CCI on Spontaneous Excitatory Synaptic Currents	129	
	3.3.7 Effects of CCI on Miniature Excitatory Synaptic Currents	.130	

.

3.4 Discussion	132
3.5 References	163
Chapter 4	
Effects of Sciatic Chronic constriction Injury on Morphologically and Electrophysiologically Identified Neurons of Rat Substantia gelatin Neurons	osa 168
4.1 Introduction	169
4.2 Methods	171
4.3 Results	171
 4.3.1 Morphological Characterization of the Substantia Gelatinosa Neurons	171 172 173 174 175
4.4 Discussion	176
4.5 References	200
Chapter 5	
L-type Calcium Channels and Neuropathic pain	204
5.1 Introduction	205
5.2 Methods	209
5.3 Results	209
 5.3.1 Effects of Nitrendipine on Spontaneous Excitatory Postsynaptic Currents 5.3.2 Evoked Excitatory Postsynaptic Currents 5.3.3 Effects of Nitrendipine on evoked Excitatory Postsynaptic Currents 5.3.4 Effects of ω-conotoxin GVIA on evoked Excitatory Postsynaptic 	209 210 211
Currents	212

5.4 Discussion	
5.5 References	

Chapter 6

General Discussion 232	
6.1 Chapter Summaries	233
Chapter 3 Chapter 4 Chapter 5	
6.2 General conclusions and Future perspectives	
6.3 References	242

List of Tables

Table	Page
Table 1.1	60
Table 3.1	140
Table 3.2	141
Table 3.3	142
Table 4.1	181
Table 4.2	182
Table 4.3	183

List of Figures

Figure no

Page

Figure 1.1 Figure 1.2	62 64
Figure 2.1	110
Figure 2.2	112
Figure 2.3	114
Figure 2.4	116
Eigune 2.1	111
	144
Figure 3.2	140
Figure 3.4	140
Figure 3.5	150
Figure 3.6	154
Figure 3.7	156
Figure 3.8	158
Figure 3.9	160
Figure 3.10	162
Figure 4.1	195
Figure 4.2	187
Figure 4.3	180
Figure 4.4	191
Figure 4 5	193
Figure 4.6	195
Figure 4.7	197
Figure 4.8	199
Figure 5.1	218
Figure 5.2.	220
Figure 5.3.	222
rigure 5.4	224

•

•

List of Abbreviations

aCSF	Artificial cerebrospinal fluid
AHP	After-hyperpolarization
AIDS	Acquired immune deficiency syndrome
AMH	Aδ-fiber mechano-heat-sensitive
AMPA	α - amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid
AP	Action potential
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
Bax	Bcl-2 associated X protein
Bcl-2	B-cell leukemia/lymphoma 2
Calbindin-D28K	Vitamin D-dependent calcium-binding protein
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CCI	Chronic constriction injury
CDNA	Complementary deoxy ribonucleic acid
CGRP	Calcitonin-gene related peptide
CNQX	6-cyano-7-nitroquinoxaline-2,3-dione
CNS	Central nervous system
СТВ	Cholera toxin B
CV	Conduction velocity
CVLM	Caudal ventrolateral medulla
DRG	Dorsal root ganglion
EGFP	Enhanced green fluorescent protein
EGTA	Ethylene glycol-bis-(2-aminoethyl)-N,N,N, N-tetra-acetic acid
EPSC	Excitatory postsynaptic current
EPSP	Excitatory postsynaptic potential
GABA	γ-amino-butyric acid
GABA-IR	GABA-immunoreactive
GAD	Glutamate decarboxylase
GAD67	Glutamate decarboxylase 67kDa isoform
GDNF	Glial derived neurotrophic factor
Glycine-IR	Glycine-immunoreactive
HIV	Human immune deficiency virus
HPC	Polymodal nociceptive
HVA	High voltage activated
I _A	A-type K current
IASP	International association for the study of pain
IB4	Isolectin B4
I Ca ⁺⁺ p	Persistent calcium current
I _H	H-current
IL-1	Interleukin 1
I Na ⁺ p	Persistent sodium current
IPSC	Inhibitory post synaptic current
IPSP	Inhibitory post synaptic potential
IR	Infrared

.

IR-DIC	Infrared-differential interference contrast
KCC2	Potassium chloride co-transporter 2
Kdr	Delayed rectifier
Lamina II _o	Lamina II outer
Lamina II _i	Lamina II inner
LIF	Leukemia inhibitory factor
LTP	Long term potentiation
mEPSC	Miniature excitatory postsynaptic current
MHC	Major histocompatability complex
mIPSC	Miniature inhibitory postsynaptic current
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
NA	Numerical aperture
NGF	Nerve growth factor
NK-1	Neurokinin-1
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
nNOS	Neuronal nitric oxide synthase
NOD	Non obese diabetic
NS	Nociceptive specific
P2X	Ligand-gated purinergic receptor
PAD	Primary afferent depolarization
PAG	Periaqueductal grey
PBA	Parabrachial area
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
РКСВ	Protein kinase C beta
РКСу	Protein kinase C gamma
PNS	Peripheral nerve stimulation
PSL	Partial sciatic nerve injury
RAS	Nuclei of the reticular formation
RVM	Rostral ventromedial medulla
SG	Substantia gelatinosa
SHT	Spinohypothalamic tract
SMT	Spinomescencephalic tract
SNI	Spared nerve injury
SNL	Spinal nerve ligation
SNS	Sensory neuron specific
SRT	Spinoreticular tract
STT	Spinothalamic tract
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
TrkA	Receptor tyrosine kinase A
TTX	Tetrodotoxin
VR1	Vanniloid receptor 1
WDR	Wide dynamic range

.

Chapter 1

General Introduction

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Pain in the periphery is a natural consequence of tissue injury. Over one third of the world population will suffer from persistent or recurrent pain at some point in their life (Loeser and Melzack, 1999;Loeser et al., 2001). Because nociceptive pain serves as warning signal against potentially harmful stimuli, it is essential for the survival of the individual. On the contrary, injury to the nervous system induces intractable pain that can persist for years after the initial injury had healed. Because this neuropathic pain serves no useful biological purpose, it is sometimes referred to as 'bad' pain (Iadarola and Caudle, 2002). It contributes to the morbidity associated with post-herpetic neuralgia, diabetic neuropathy, cancer pain, as well as injury to the peripheral nerve, spinal cord or brain. About 25-50% of diabetic patients develop neuropathic pain (Schmader, 2002). Painful neuropathy is also a common complication of HIV/AIDS (Schifitto et al., 2002). The annual incidence of herpes zoster is about 2-4 cases for every 1000 people (Schmader, 2002). One-third to one-half of patients experience peripheral neuropathic pain after surgical procedures such as mastectomy and the reported incidence of phantom limb pain after amputation varies from 50-85% (Macrae, 2001). An internet report suggests that by 2014 there will be over 2.6 million people in the United States alone suffering from neuropathic pain (Global Information, 2004). The estimated market value of drugs used for neuropathic pain is about \$450 million (Pullar and Palmer, 2003). Neuropathic pain is refractory to common therapeutic interventions and often requires combination of multiple medications and /or other non-pharmacological methods of pain relief (Sindrup and Jensen, 2000). Hence, it is imperative to develop novel therapeutic strategies. This demands better understanding of the complex etiology of neuropathic pain.

In animal models, peripheral nerve injury invokes spontaneous, persistent activity in primary afferent fibers (Cummins et al., 2000a;Devor and Seltzer, 1999;Govrin-Lippmann and Devor, 1978). With time, this aberrant activity may promote an enduring increase in excitability of the dorsal horn neurons of the spinal cord (Devor and Wall, 1981;Doubell et al., 1999;Ji and Woolf, 2001). This form of spinal cord plasticity, driven by the activity in the primary afferents and their sprouting terminals in the dorsal horn is termed as "Central Sensitization" (Ji and Woolf, 2001;Ji et al., 2003). Because of their resemblance to clinical situations/conditions (Hansson, 2003;Backonja, 2003;Attal and Bouhassira, 2004;Woolf, 2004a), animal models using peripheral nerve injury are widely accepted as models for human neuropathic pain (Bennett, 2005).

The current understanding of the central sensitization after nerve injury is based on anatomical, electrophysiological and molecular biological studies (Costigan and Woolf, 2000;Doubell et al., 1999;Ji and Woolf, 2001;Ji et al., 2003;Woolf and Salter, 2000;Woolf, 2004a). Thus, several mechanisms have been proposed including reorganization of synaptic connections, increased or alterations in excitatory transmission, loss of inhibition involving neuronal apoptosis, and alterations in functions of different ion channels in the dorsal horns neurons (Baba et al., 1999;Kohno et al., 2003;Moore et al., 2002;Scholz et al., 2004;Zhuang et al., 2005;Woolf et al., 1995;Coull et al., 2005). Despite this, many aspects of the relationship between peripheral nerve injury and changes in the dorsal horn excitability are poorly understood. Thus, the major focus of my thesis is to understand how the recognized cellular and molecular mechanisms conspire to produce an overall increase in the excitability of dorsal horn, particularly the *substantia gelatinosa* neurons. In order to address this question, I have made comprehensive study of the effects of chronic constriction injury on the electrophysiological properties of morphologically and electrophysiologically defined neurons of the *substantia gelatinosa*. In order to put my work into perspective, I will first review the relevant aspects of pain pathways with emphasis on changes in the dorsal horn neurons after peripheral nerve injury.

1.1 Nociception

Nociception, simply refers to the physiological transfer of noxious information along the sensory pathways to higher centers in brain for processing. Nociception thus involves two stages; transduction, where noxious information is converted into an electrical signal and transmission, where the signals are perceived and modulated as they pass through peripheral and central nervous system. Transduction occurs at nociceptors, which are functionally specialized regions of the nerve endings. Peripherally located nociceptors are not merely passive transducers of the nociceptive information, as they can sensitize and thereby alter the body's perceptions and hence the response to injury (Lawson, 2002;Stucky et al., 2001). Nociceptive input is conveyed to the central nervous system predominantly by two classes of primary afferent fibers. Of these, thinly-myelinated Aðfibers mediate thermal and mechanical nociception whereas the unmyelinated, polymodal C-fibers are activated by a variety of high-intensity mechanical, chemical, hot and cold stimuli (Djouhri and Lawson, 2004). These signals, in addition to evoking a sensory

response, elicit a withdrawal reflex response at the spinal level. This reflex reaction helps to prevent additional injury and permanent damage. Even though nociception and pain are often used interchangeably, in acute and chronic pain models it is difficult to know what is actually perceived by the animal. Hence, we often study nociception and extrapolate the inference to the perception of pain.

1.2 Pain Definition

No single definition seems to encompass all the aspects of pain which range from a simple reflex response to more complex emotional experiences. The consensus definition set forth by the International Association for the Study of Pain is "an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience which we primarily associate with tissue damage or describe in terms of tissue damage, or both". (Merskey and Bogduk, 1994;Backonja, 2003;Bennett, 2003).

1.3 Nociception and Pain

The severity and extent of a painful response to noxious information is highly dependent on the emotional and psychological state of the individual. Thus, two individuals can receive same intensity of injury and yet differ in response to the perception of pain. The complex interaction of discriminative, motivational and emotional elements on the cognitive processing of sensory information limits our understanding on how neurobiological signals are translated to the perception of pain. The current view is that the pain signaling is a dynamic process involving complex networks of neurons whose functions are regulated by external and internal factors.

1.4 Acute vs Chronic Pain: Pain Paradox

As already mentioned, acute, nociceptive pain can prevent further damage to an injured area or even prevent an injury from occurring. Thus, it warns us against harmful stimuli and activates our defensive fight and flight mechanisms, when threatened by hostile stimuli and hence has useful biological purpose. Acute pain has definable source and is rapid in onset and is relatively of short duration. Thus, acute pain disappears once the harmful stimulus is removed or when the injury has healed. Even though changes occur at different levels of pain pathways, these too are transient. Moreover, the pain responds well to conventional analgesics. On the contrary, neuropathic pain typically develops days or weeks after initial injury, and continues beyond the normal time expected for resolution of the injury (Loeser and Melzack, 1999). This pain has no useful biological purpose. Since it outlasts the healing process, chronic neuropathic pain is considered as a disease in itself (Loeser and Melzack, 1999;Merskey et al., 2005).

1.5 Pain Pathways:

1.5.1 Primary Afferents:

Primary afferent fibers convey sensory information about the external and internal environment and are therefore important for maintenance of homeostasis. Sherrington (1906), first proposed the concept of a distinct class of peripheral nerve fibers for conducting pain signals. Zotterman (1936) recorded the first action potentials from a single nociceptive nerve fiber in response to noxious heat in cat's tongue. Later electrophysiological studies demonstrated the existence of primary sensory neurons that can be excited by noxious heat, intense pressure or irritant chemicals (Burgess and Perl,

1967; Bessou and Perl, 1969). Subsequently, several classes of nerve fibres (Raja et al., 1999) that convey information about the type of painful stimuli have been described. The afferent fibers have specialized sensory receptors including nociceptors at their nerve endings (Raja et al., 1999). Nociceptors can be chemical, thermal or mechanical in nature (Raja et al., 1999) and are present throughout the body except the brain. Nociceptors are numerous in the skin, hence pain detection here is well defined and the source of pain can be easily localized. Visceral organs have fewer nociceptors and hence the pain is poorly localized and is sometimes referred to another area far away from the origin ("referred pain"). One of the most important characteristics that distinguish nociceptors from other types of somatic receptors is sensitization (Perl et al., 1976; Bessou and Perl, 1969; Treede et al., 1992). Unlike other somatic receptors, which fatigue after repeated and strong stimulation, nociceptors become more responsive to previously effective stimuli (LaMotte et al., 1982;LaMotte et al., 1983). Nociceptors and their primary afferents are extremely heterogeneous and differ from each other in several aspects such as the neuropeptides, receptors and ion channels they express, conduction speed, spinal terminations, responses to noxious and non-noxious stimuli, and the plastic changes in response to injury (Abdulla et al., 2001;Lawson, 2002;Millan, 1999). However the most widely used classification of $A\alpha/\beta$, $A\delta$ and C fibers is defined to the basis of conduction velocities and threshold characteristics (Lawson, 2002;Djouhri and Lawson, 2004). The classical view is that the anatomically large, fast-conducting myelinated A^β axons carry signals about non-noxious stimuli and smaller, slowly conducting, thinly myelinated Aδ and unmyelinated C-fibres carry information about thermal and noxious stimuli (Doubell et al., 1999). It is however important to note that discrepancies have been reported in the literature over the years (Bessou and Perl, 1969;Light and Perl, 2003;Perl, 1996;Lawson, 2002;Djouhri and Lawson, 2004). Hence, it must be realized that under optimal conditions all of these afferent fibers ($A\alpha/\beta$, $A\delta$ and C) have the capability to carry both noxious and non-noxious information and can be activated by both high and low intensity polymodal stimuli (Doubell et al., 1999). It has also been reported that some primary afferent fibers do not respond to any of the stimuli normally employed to activate sensory receptors (Schaible and Schmidt, 1983). These are termed ``silent nociceptors'', which can however be sensitized by noxious events, after which they become responsive to mechanical and thermal stimuli (McMahon and Koltzenburg, 1990b;McMahon and Koltzenburg, 1990a). The presence of several ion channels which are unique for nociceptors have been demonstrated. These include ATP gated P2X channels, acid sensing ion channels, heat sensitive channels including the vanilloid receptor (VR1), and certain voltage gated Na⁺ channels (Stucky et al., 2001;McCleskey and Gold, 1999).

A α/β fibers are heavily myelinated large diameter fibers with high conduction velocity (>30 m/s) (Lawson, 2002;Waxman, 1980;Treede et al., 1998). These fibers are believed to carry non-noxious cutaneous information and mainly terminate deep in laminae (III-V) (Cervero et al., 1994;Fyffe, 1992). However *in-vivo* studies using intracellular recordings have confirmed the presence of A β nociceptors and show that substantial proportions of A-fiber nociceptive neurons conduct in the A β -fiber conduction velocity group across various species (Ritter and Mendell, 1992). These A β -fiber nociceptive neurons also have similar termination patterns to A δ -nociceptive fibers in the superficial dorsal horn lamina II (Light and Perl, 1979). Under normal conditions, pain induced by activation of nociceptive neurons is inhibited by the concurrent activation of low threshold mechanoceptors that promote primary afferent depolarization (Van Hees and Gybels, 1981). Hence, at low intensities of afferent nociceptive inputs, the low level release of GABA probably has anti-nociceptive effects, mediated by presynaptic inhibition (Cervero and Laird, 1996b;Cervero and Laird, 1996a). However after nerve or tissue injury, the nociceptors at the lesion site are sensitized (Raja et al., 1999;Treede et al., 1992). Hence, low threshold mechanoceptor activation produces a much more intense primary afferent depolarization generating spike activity. This activation conducted antidromically results in dorsal root reflex (Willis, Jr., 1999). Such activity in C-fibers could release pain mediators in the periphery leading to enhanced inflammatory response or hyperalgesia (Cervero and Laird, 1996b;Cervero et al., 2003).

A δ fibers are medium to large diameter fibers which are thinly myelinated and have moderate conduction velocity of 4 to 44 m/sec (median, 9.3 m/sec) (Lawson, 2002;Harper and Lawson, 1985). A δ -fiber nociceptors have been divided, on the basis of their responses to mechanical and thermal stimuli, into three groups: (i) high threshold mechanoreceptive units responding only to noxious mechanical stimuli, (ii) mechanoheat units that respond to noxious mechanical stimuli and also promptly to a single application of noxious heat and (iii) mechano-cold units responding to both noxious mechanical and noxious cold stimuli. (Burgess and Perl, 1967;Raja et al., 1999).

A δ fiber nociceptors are thought to evoke sharp pricking or fast pain because the latency of withdrawal response to this pain is too short to be carried by slowly conducting C-

fibers (Campbell and LaMotte, 1983). They also signal very precisely about the localization of the noxious stimulus and are important in triggering rapid reflex withdrawal responses (Lawson, 2002). A δ -nociceptive neurons project to both superficial (lamina I and IIo) and deeper laminae (lamina V) (Fyffe, 1992).

C-fibers (Bessou and Perl, 1969) carry slow, dull, poorly localized, burning type or 'unbearable' sensation (Raja et al., 1999). They are small diameter fibers, un-myelinated and hence have low conduction velocity (< 2 m/s) (Raja et al., 1999). It is generally believed that C-fiber inputs project to the lamina I and II layers of the dorsal horn (Stucky et al., 2001). C-fibers constitute about 70% of all nociceptors. C-fibers from skin are primarily polymodal nociceptors responding to intense mechanical, thermal and chemical stimuli (Dubner and Bennett, 1983;Perl, 1996). However, low threshold C-fiber mechanoceptors have been described in several species (Bessou et al., 1971;Djouhri et al., 1998), which respond to low intensity mechanical stimuli moving very slowly across the skin (Bessou et al., 1971). Hence it is important to realize that nociception and pain, may not be the sole afferent function of C-fibers (Light and Perl, 2003).

C-fibers can also be differentiated based on the peptide markers they express. One group contains neuropeptides such as calcitonin gene related peptide (CGRP) and substance P, and express high affinity receptor (trkA) for nerve growth factor and project to lamina I and lamina II_0 (Averill et al., 1995;Stucky and Lewin, 1999). The other group lacks these peptides but possesses fluoride-resistant acid phosphatase and thiamine monophosphatase activity and binds the plant lectin, isolectin B₄ (IB₄) (Nagy and Hunt, 1982;Silverman and Kruger, 1990) and expresses purinergic (P2x3) receptors (Vulchanova et al., 1998). These IB4-binding neurons project to inner lamina II (Vulchanova et al., 1998) and are sensitive to glial derived neurotrophic factor in the postnatal period and show over expression of the receptor tyrosine kinase during late embryonic stage (Molliver et al., 1997;Bennett et al., 1998). IB₄-positive nonpeptidergic neurons and the IB₄-negative peptidergic neurons also differ in the electrophysiological properties and their response to noxious heat (Stucky and Lewin, 1999). These differing characteristics suggest that these subclasses of C-fibers may differ in their role in nociceptive and sensory processing.

1.5.2 Superficial Dorsal Horn

The dorsal horn neurons act as the site of termination of primary afferent fibers. The primary afferents communicate with the second order sensory neurons of the dorsal horn by releasing neurotransmitters, mainly glutamate and substance P (Dougherty and Willis, 1992;Yoshimura and Nishi, 1992). The organization and the physiological properties of the spinal cord dorsal horn have striking similarities with sub nucleus caudalis (trigeminal brainstem sensory nucleus) or the medullary dorsal horn (Sessle, 1987). The structural classification of the dorsal horn was first described by Rexed (Rexed, 1952). The dorsal horn of the mammalian spinal cord has been divided into six different laminae (Fitzgerald and Lynn, 1977;Molander et al., 1984). These classifications are based on size of neuronal cell bodies, anatomical and functional organization, termination pattern of sensory fibers, neurotransmitter distribution (Willis, 2001;Lawson, 2002;Djouhri and Lawson, 2004) and intrinsic firing properties. The superficial dorsal horn (laminae I and

II), is the major termination site for thin primary afferent fibers and, are important for processing nociceptive information (Treede et al., 1992). Low-threshold mechanoreceptors, which convey non-nociceptive information, terminate in deeper laminae (III & IV) (Cervero et al., 1994). High-threshold nociceptors, such as Aδ-fibers, terminate in laminae I, II and V (Light and Trevino, 1979;Djouhri et al., 1998) and unmyelinated C-fibers, many of which are nociceptors, terminate predominantly in lamina II (substantia gelatinosa) (Lawson, 2002;Djouhri et al., 1998). This difference in the specificity of termination of sensory fibers is important to distinguish between an innocuous sensation and a noxious stimulus (Dubner and Bennett, 1983). Neurons in lamina I project, via the spinothalamic tract to higher centers in the CNS (Shea and Perl, 1985).

Neurons in the *substantia gelatinosa* are thought to be a local neuronal network that is involved in processing nociceptive information (Bennett et al., 1980;Gobel, 1978a). The gate control theory predicts that the transmission of sensory nociceptive information is gated at the level of dorsal horn of the spinal cord, thereby allowing or limiting nociceptive information from reaching the higher centers (Wall, 1978;Melzack and Wall, 1965). These "gates" are controlled by activity in small fibers ('On' switches) and large fibers '(Off' switches). When conditions favor excitation such as acute and chronic pain states, the gates are opened and the signals get through. On the other hand, when conditions favor inhibition, the gate remains closed and the pain sensation is alleviated. Such sophisticated modulation is achieved by the complex interplay of neurons and also by the descending influence from higher centers. The most logical explanation of gate theory stems from the fact that stimulation of large fibers either in peripheral nerves or in the dorsal column relieves pain (Long, 1976). Spinal cord stimulation peripheral nerve stimulation, and transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (Lindblom and Meyerson, 1975;Sweet, 1976) methods used to treat neuropathic pain are based on the neurophysiological predictions of gate theory. Even though some of the underlying concepts have been challenged, (Zimmermann, 1968;Schmidt, 1971), the gate theory, still forms the fundamental basis for modern pain concepts (Merskey et al., 2005). Hence, over the years, it was realized that pain transmission is not mere passage of information but involves dynamic (constantly changing) modulation at different levels of the pain pathway. This paved the way to understanding the plastic changes driven by activity (injury) in the nociceptive pathways which outlast the stimulus resulting in central sensitization.

Numerous studies have addressed the anatomical and functional organization of the dorsal horn (Gobel, 1978a;Bennett et al., 1980;Lu and Perl, 2005;Lu and Perl, 2003;Light and Trevino, 1979;Hantman et al., 2004;Grudt and Perl, 2002;Woolf and Fitzgerald, 1983;Prescott and de Koninck, 2002). Several electrophysiological recording techniques such as extracellular unit recordings, intracellular recording with sharp microelectrodes, and patch-clamp recording from spinal cord slices have helped to understand the intrinsic firing and synaptic properties of the dorsal horn neurons (Laird and Bennett, 1993;Yoshimura and Jessell, 1989a;Lopez-Garcia and King, 1994;Moran et al., 2004;Woolf and Fitzgerald, 1983;Baba et al., 2003). In addition, *in-vivo* recordings have

examined the response characteristics of the dorsal horn neurons to the application of peripheral cutaneuos stimulation (Graham et al., 2004).

Various staining procedures have revealed a tremendous amount of information about the morphological features of the dorsal horn neurons (Gobel, 1978a; Bennett et al., 1980;Okamoto et al., 2001;Heinke et al., 2004). In addition, immuno-histocemical techniques and the use of retrograde tracers have been helpful delineating the functional features of the neurons and their projection sites in the brain (Todd et al., 1996;Spike et al., 1998;Sandkuhler and Liu, 1998;Ruscheweyh et al., 2004;Ikeda et al., 2003). Moreover, recent simultaneous recordings from synaptically connected pairs of neurons and subsequent cell fills have started to provide clues regarding a different connection that exists in the dorsal horn and their projections (Lu and Perl, 2005; Lu and Perl, 2003). Hence, it is possible to perform correlative analysis of the physiological features with morphological and functional profiles that will help in elucidating the complex circuitry of this region. These classifications and correlations were made with a view that one could make assumptions on the role of various types of neurons in mediating sensory transmission in normal conditions and during the onset or presence of chronic pain, based on the differences in their intrinsic properties, transmitter and receptor phenotypes, synaptic properties, inputs from afferent fibers, location, projection characteristics, and response profiles to sensory inputs.

1.5.2 .1 Lamina 1 neurons.

Lamina I is one of the key areas for modulating pain information and transmission to the higher centers (Prescott and de Koninck, 2002;Sandkuhler and Liu, 1998;Ruscheweyh and Sandkuhler, 2002). It is the most superficial region of the sensory dorsal horn and receives "heavy input" from nociceptive primary afferents, mainly small diameter Cfibers and also A δ fibers (Willis and Coggeshall, 2004). Based on response to cutaneous stimuli, a large proportion of lamina I neurons are considered to be nociceptive. However thermoreceptive, and wide dynamic range type, neurons have also been described (Christensen and Perl, 1970; Willis and Coggeshall, 2004; Bester et al., 2000). Lamina I contains local excitatory and inhibitory interneurons as well as large number of projection neurons (Craig et al., 2001; Nichols et al., 1999; Ikeda et al., 2003; Spike et al., 2003). With the advent of high-resolution anterograde tracers it became possible to label specific nociceptive subregions of the dorsal horn that project to different brain nuclei mainly in medulla and brainstem (Ikeda et al., 2003;Spike et al., 2003;Todd et al., 2000; Ruscheweyh et al., 2004). The axon of lamina I neurons in cats and primates project contralaterally in the lateral spinothalamic tract into brain areas which are critical for the sensations of pain, temperature, itch, and sensual touch in humans (Craig, 2000). There are also direct connections to the medulla and brainstem via the spinoreticular (SRT) and spinomesencephalic (SMT) tracts and to the hypothalamus via the spinohypothalamic tract (SHT) (Craig and Dostrovsky, 1999). The periacqueductal gray matter (PAG), parabrachial area (PBA) and the caudal ventrolateral medulla (CVLM) are the major projecting sites for the lamina I neurons in rat (Bernard et al., 1995;Spike et al., 2003). The projections into variety of regions in brain imply that lamina 1 neurons could

modulate autonomic, endocrine, emotional and cognitive function which could have an impact on pain perception. It is the projection neurons that exhibit activity dependent long tem potentiation (Ikeda et al., 2003;Sandkuhler and Liu, 1998). The PAG and PBA projection neurons but not the unidentified neurons show LTP at their synapses with primary afferent C-fibers (Ikeda et al., 2003). There are three main categories of lamina I projection neurons: nociceptive-specific (NS) cells, innocuous thermoreceptive-specific (COOL or WARM) cells, and polymodal nociceptive (HPC) cells sensitive to noxious heat, pinch, and noxious cold (Christensen and Perl, 1970;Han et al., 1998;Dostrovsky and Craig, 1996; Craig and Bushnell, 1994). These three groups have different response properties, different ascending conduction velocities, and different susceptibility to descending or pharmacological modulation (Craig and Serrano, 1994; Dostrovsky et al., 1983). Current evidence indicates that these three categories are also distinct morphologically and correspond to the three major anatomical types of lamina I neurons that can be distinguished in horizontal sections (Dostrovsky and Craig, 1996;Han et al., 1998). A majority (80%) of lamina I projection neurons express neurokinin 1 (NK1) receptor for substance P and are activated by noxious stimuli (Ding et al., 1995; Todd et al., 2000). Selective ablation (P-saporin) of the NK1 containing neurons reduces pain behaviors in inflammatory and neuropathic pain models, suggesting the essential role of these neurons in development and maintenance of chronic pain states (Khasabov et al., 2002; Nichols et al., 1999). Only a minority (5%) of lamina 1 neurons send projections to brain (Spike et al., 2003). Hence, even though most lamina 1 neurons are responsive to substance P, it is not certain that all project rostrally. So most unidentified neurons are likely to be interneurons (Dahlhaus et al., 2005), that are essential for modulating sensory information before passing them on to the projection cells.

Traditional views presented lamina I as a layer of horizontally oriented cells of a sole type, the marginal cells of Waldeyer (Ramon y Cajal, 1909). A population of these giant cells receives strong GABAergic inputs (Puskar et al., 2001), suggesting they are under strong inhibitory control. However, later studies have suggested that these giant cells constitute only a small proportion of the cell population (Chung et al., 1984; Willis and Coggeshall, 2004). Gobel described two kinds of multipolar neurons (compact and loose) and two kinds of pyramidal neurons (spiny and smooth) based on Golgi studies in cat laminal layer of medullary dorsal horn (Gobel, 1978b). However, later studies have revealed at least four different morphological types of lamina 1 dorsal horn neurons of the spinal cord based on somatic shape and proximal dendritic branching (Galhardo and Lima, 1999;Lima and Coimbra, 1986;Lima et al., 1993;Prescott and de Koninck, 2002). These are defined as (1) Fusiform neurons, which are characterized by spindle-shaped, smooth surfaced cell bodies oriented along the longitudinal axis, and bipolar dendritic arbors. These cells also had the longest rostro-caudal dendritic length. (2) Multipolar neurons were characterized by the bulging ovoid shape of the cell bodies with numerous primary dendritic branching. These cells had the smallest cell body and thin primary dendrites. Multipolar cells also had significant dorso-vental extension beyond laminal reaching well into lamina II. (3) Flattened neurons, posses' discoid cell bodies flattened across the dorso-ventral axis. They had scarcely ramified aspiny dendritic arbors expanded in the horizontal plane. (4) Pyramidal Neurons, recognized by the triangular shape of the cell bodies and dendritic arbors expanding longitudinally and latero-medially inside the marginal zone. It must however be noted that there are further subclasses with each subtype and are some structural differences in the morphological classes between species. In addition to being morphologically different, these cells also have a different projection pattern in the thalamus and differ in their axonal conduction velocities (Craig and Dostrovsky, 2001; Han et al., 1998). In cats, fusiform cells, which are believed to be nociceptive-specific neurons (NS), have unmyelinated axons and respond only to noxious heat and pinch (Han et al., 1998). The multipolar and pyramidal neurons have myelinated axons. While the multipolar neurons are polymodal nociceptive neurons, pyramidal cells are innocuous, thermoreceptive (COLD cells) (Craig and Bushnell, 1994; Dostrovsky and Craig, 1996;Han et al., 1998). Consistent with the fact that only nociceptive dorsal horn neurons respond to substance P in primates most fusiform and multipolar cells show NK1 immunoreactivity, whereas only a small proportion of lamina I pyramidal cells express this receptor (Yu et al., 1999). In rodents however, this relationship does not hold true as most of pyramidal cells also express NK1 immunoreactivity and show c-fos expression to noxious stimuli (Todd et al., 2002;Todd et al., 2005).

Lamina 1 neurons could also be distinguished on the basis of their intrinsic firing properties such as tonic, phasic or initial bursting, delayed onset, single spike or transient. The phasic cells are sometimes termed as initial burst cells (Ruscheweyh and Sandkuhler, 2002;Dougherty et al., 2005). Ruscheweyh et al, observed two more firing patterns termed gap firing and bursting firing (Ruscheweyh et al., 2004). Correlation of morphology with firing properties suggest that tonic cells correspond to fusiform cells,

delay and single spike cells are multipolar. The phasic cells are considered to be pyramidal even though the correlation is not very strong in this case (Prescott and de Koninck, 2002;Dougherty et al., 2005). It must be noted that there is slight disparity among different laboratories in the correlation of morphology with firing properties (Dougherty et al., 2005). This could reflect differences in species and/or age and/or differences in recording conditions. Dougherty et al. have recently shown that the predominant neurons expressing GAD67-EGFP in lamina 1 were fusiform and multipolar cells, suggesting these two cells type could be inhibitory neurons (Dougherty et al., 2005).

Based on studies on cortical cells, central neurons could be of two distinct functional types, coincidence detectors or integrators based on the operational mode by which they process incoming synaptic potential (Konig et al., 1996). This assumption is based on the relationship between the integration time, over which neurons can effectively summate synaptic potentials and the mean interspike interval. If the integration time is short compared to the mean interspike interval, coincidence detection prevails, requires the evaluation of temporal simultaneity on a millisecond timescale. On the other hand, if the integration time is long it results in temporal integration which allows for summation of synaptic events over extended intervals (Konig et al., 1996;Rudolph and Destexhe, 2003). Thus in lamina 1 neurons it is reported that phasic and single spike neurons could act as coincidence detectors whereas the tonic and delay cells behave as integrators (Prescott and de Koninck, 2002). The assumption of tonic neurons as integrators stem from the fact that they exhibit prolonged EPSPs compared to other cell types and hence summate

synaptic events (Prescott and de Koninck, 2002;Prescott and De Koninck, 2005). It is the synergistic effect of both persistent sodium (I Na⁺p) and calcium current (I Ca⁺⁺p) that contribute to shaping EPSPs in tonic cells (Prescott and De Koninck, 2005).

1.5.2.2 Lamina II neurons:

The substantia gelatinosa of Rolando was described as early as 1824, as a distinctive feature in the spinal cord dorsal horn, (Pearson, 1952). This region is characterized by the paucity of myelinated axons and hence appears as translucent band below the marginal layer of the dorsal horn. This translucent property not only made *substantia gelatinosa*, the most conspicuous layer, but also helps prominently in the delineation of additional laminae. The neuronal composition and synaptic architecture of the Lamina II region seems to originate from multiple lineages of the neuronal progenitor cells (Lee and Jessell, 1999;Muller et al., 2002). The *substantia gelatinosa* is believed to be comprised of complex network of local interneurons (Rexed, 1952). This region is thought to integrate noxious information from different classes of afferent fibers and thus to modify the output projection neurons located in both lamina I and the deeper laminae of the dorsal horn (Kumazawa and Perl, 1978;Light and Trevino, 1979;Willis, 2005;Doubell et al., 1999).

The diversity of sensory modalities is encoded by the type of peripheral afferent fibers that are activated, their synaptic connectivity to the dorsal horn neurons and the intrinsic firing properties the neurons (Cervero, 1987;Willis and Coggeshall, 2004). The afferent input to the *substantia gelatinosa* region includes predominantly fine Aδ-fibers and also
unmyelinated C-fibers (Light and Perl, 1979;Sugiura et al., 1986). However, reports from Golgi studies (Beal et al., 1988), transganglionic transport techniques (Rivero-Melian and Grant, 1990), and single fiber analyses (Light and Perl, 1979; Shortland and Woolf, 1993b; Woolf, 1987) suggest that certain classes of myelinated afferents innervating lowthreshold mechanoreceptors extend into the inner substantia gelatinosa from deeper laminae. Hence, in addition to well-known modulation of nociceptive input, substantia gelatinosa is also involved in signaling temperature, itch and some tactile sensations (Perl, 1984;Sugiura et al., 1986;Vallbo et al., 1999). Lamina II can be further sub-divided into lamina IIo (outer) and lamina 2 IIi (inner) based on expression of several markers (Woodbury et al., 2000; Polgar et al., 1999; Todd and Spike, 1993; Silverman and Kruger, 1990). In rodents, choleragenoid (B), the binding subunit of cholera toxin (CTB), and the B_4 isolectin (IB₄) from *Bandeiraea simplicifolia*, have been shown to preferentially label the central projections of myelinated and unmyelinated cutaneous primary afferents (non peptidergic C-fibers), respectively (Robertson and Grant, 1985; Rivero-Melian and Grant, 1990;Kitchener et al., 1993). Several earlier studies indicate that IB4-positive neurons terminate predominantly in inner lamina II (Silverman and Kruger, 1990;Coimbra et al., 1986; Fitzgerald and Vrbova, 1985), however recent findings from Woodbury et al. in 2000 suggest that IB4 labels putative unmyelinated afferents in the outer half of the substantia gelatinosa (Woodbury et al., 2000). The reasons underlying this discrepancy are apparently not clear. Myelinated fibers, labeled with CTB seem to terminate in the inner half of the substantia gelatinosa (Robertson and Grant, 1985; Woodbury et al., 2000). Another marker which helps to differentiate the inner from the outer lamina II region is PKCy. PKCy-immunoreactivity has been found in a restricted population of small neurons which are concentrated in the inner ventral part of lamina IIi (Malmberg et al., 1997;Mori et al., 1990).

Activation of primary afferent fibers produces excitatory synaptic events mediated by excitatory amino acids and neuropeptides (Yoshimura and Jessell, 1989b;Yoshimura, 1996; Yoshimura et al., 1993; Yoshimura and Nishi, 1992). These excitatory events mediated by primary afferent stimulation are often followed by a short or long duration inhibitory postsynaptic potential (IPSP) or IPSC (Yoshimura and Nishi, 1993; Yoshimura and Nishi, 1995). These IPSPs/IPSCs have variable latencies and exhibit failures following high frequency stimulation, suggesting they are polysynaptic in origin (Yoshimura and Nishi, 1993). Dense core vesicles are common in lamina II₀ synaptic terminals that store and release neuropepetides such as CGRP, substance P, Neuropeptide Y and opioid peptides (Yoshimura, 1996; Willis and Coggeshall, 2004). Substance P and CGRP serve as long-lasting slow excitatory transmitters (Urban et al., 1985; Yoshimura, 1996) and hence may enhance the efficacy of fast transmission (excitatory amino acid mediated) of substantia gelatinosa neurons. Neuropepetide Y and opioid peptides modulate both excitatory and inhibitory synaptic transmission in substantia gelatinosa region (Kohno et al., 1999; Moran et al., 2004). Unlike lamina I neurons, the intrinsic substantia gelatinosa neurons lack NK1 receptors in their cell bodies and hence do not respond to substance P (Bleazard et al., 1994). However, dendritic fibers from neurons of lamina I or deeper laminae (lamina III and IV) which project into lamina II region contain NK1 receptors contributing to the peptidergic transmission in this region (Naim et al., 1997;Todd et al., 2000;Todd and Spike, 1993).

Morphological, electrophysiological and immuno-histochemical studies have suggested the presence of distinctive types of neurons that differ in their responses to sensory stimuli. In addition, the presence of multiple excitatory and inhibitory mediators in substantia gelatinosa suggests the complex synaptic circuitry and functional distinctions. Earlier studies indicate the outflow of information from substantia gelatinosa neurons is mainly to the projection neurons of lamina I (Bennett et al., 1980;Bennett et al., 1979;Gobel, 1975) or into the neurons of the deep dorsal horn (Gobel and Falls, 1979;Light and Kavookjian, 1988) possibly contributing to the receptive field of wide dynamic range neurons (Szentagothai, 1964). Although the majority of projection neurons of the spinothalamic tract are present in lamina I, some of them do reside in lamina II-III (Giesler, Jr. et al., 1978). Moreover, studies using retrograde tracers and immuno-histochemistry suggest that brain centers capable of modulating pain and nociception send projections to the substantia gelatinosa (Willis and Westlund, 1997; Willis and Coggeshall, 2004). Recently, Braz et al. have identified a voltage gated sodium channel (Nav) 1.8 expressing subset of IB4 sensitive fibers, that are involved in a pathway from periphery to lamina II region and then through deep dorsal horn projection neurons, to the limbic regions in brain (Braz et al., 2005). Hence lamina II can no longer be viewed as just a local network system.

One of the major hindrances in interpreting the function of *substantia gelatinosa* interneurons is the lack of unequivocal structural and functional scheme for classifying the cells. Several studies have attempted to identify and classify multiple different cell types in lamina II based on their morphological and functional characteristics

(Christensen and Perl, 1970;Grudt and Perl, 2002;Hantman et al., 2004;Light and Trevino, 1979; Polgar et al., 1999; Heinke et al., 2004; Ruscheweyh and Sandkuhler, 2002; Bennett et al., 1980; Lopez-Garcia and King, 1994). It must be noted that many neurons do not fit a readily recognizable class and show atypical features (Grudt and Perl, 2002; Rethelvi et al., 1989; Todd, 1988). Moreover, intracellular studies have suggested that there is no obvious relationship between receptive field properties of these cells and the morphological class they belong to (Light and Trevino, 1979;Rethelyi et al., 1989; Bennett et al., 1980; Woolf and Fitzgerald, 1983). The most classical view of the substantia gelatinosa suggests just two different cell types, the inhibitory islet cell whose dendrites extend rostro-caudally within lamina II and the excitatory stalked cells, whose dendrites extend dorso-ventrally reaching deeper laminae (Bennett et al., 1980;Bennett et al., 1979). Ramon y Cajal (1909) described three types of neurons in lamina II of young cat: vertical oriented limitroph cells with dendrites directed sagitally, central cells located in middle of lamina II with rostro-caudal dendritic orientation and transverse cells with medio-lateral processes. Gobel, utilizing Golgi staining defined four types of neurons in cat lamina II. (1) Islet neurons with saggitally oriented dendrites, confined largely within lamina II and often posses characteristic recurrent branching. (2) Stalked neurons with vertically oriented dendrites, extending across lamina II into lamina III and sometimes even reaches lamina IV. (3) Arboreal (tree-like) cells whose dendrites burst in tree like fashion into highly focal pattern and confined within lamina II and (4) the border cells, which lie in lamina II-III border. Based on differences of the axonal projections (Gobel, 1978a;Gobel, 1975). Gobel defined islet cells to be inhibitory and stalked as excitatory (Gobel and Falls, 1979; Gobel, 1975). But later studies could not differentiate these two cell types based on responses to cutaneuous stimulation. In monkey lamina II, only islet and stalked cells were reported (Price et al., 1979). Todd and Lewis found that in rat lamina II even though majority of neurons resembled Gobel's classical islet and stalked cells, there are additional categories of cells (Todd and Lewis, 1986). They went further by subdividing islets cells into small islet cells that do not contain GABA or glycine and have axons that form asymmetrical synapses, indicative of glutametergic interneurons, and the large classical, inhibitory islet cells (Todd et al., 1996).

Several types of *substantia gelatinosa* neurons are distinguished on the basis of their intrinsic firing properties (Grudt and Perl, 2002;Lopez-Garcia and King, 1994;Thomson et al., 1989;Yoshimura and Jessell, 1989a). Thus, lamina II neurons can be classified as tonic, delayed onset, phasic or initial bursting or adapting firing, transient or single spike. The ionic basis for tonic firing was described by Melnick at al (Melnick et al., 2004b). They showed that the voltage gated Na⁺ and delayed rectifier K⁺ channels (DR) were responsible for generating the basic pattern of tonic firing, while Ca⁺⁺-dependent slow after–hyperpolarization (AHP) stabilized firing and regulated the discharge frequency (Melnick et al., 2004b). The same authors recently demonstrated the mechanism for spike frequency adaptation in the adapting firing (phasic) neurons. Thus, similar to tonic firing neurons, Na⁺ and Kdr channels contribute to adapting firing except their amplitudes were smaller. Unlike the tonic cells, however the Ca⁺⁺ dependent K⁺ conductance's do not contribute to the discharge pattern of the phasic neurons and it is the reduction in Na⁺ conductance that seems to be the crucial factor for adaptation (Melnick et al., 2004a). Tonic and phasic neurons show lack of transient (I_A) type potassium current (Melnick et al., 2004a).

al., 2004b;Melnick et al., 2004a), however the I_A current may play a crucial role in determining the delayed onset firing pattern (Yoshimura and Jessell, 1989a;Grudt and Perl, 2002;Ruscheweyh and Sandkuhler, 2002). A role for a K⁺ current with the features of a slowly inactivating 'D' current have been suggested for the single spiking phenotype (Ruscheweyh and Sandkuhler, 2002). Comparison of the relationship between a neuron's biophysical profile (AP firing) and its excitatory or inhibitory response to peripheral cutaneous afferent stimulation implies that most wide dynamic range neurons exhibit tonic firing and the nociceptive specific neurons were initial bursters (Lopez-Garcia and King, 1994). However recent in-vivo recordings in mice suggest even though neurons differ in response profiles to current injection, they cannot be differentiated based on processing noxious and innocuous information (Graham et al., 2004). Grudt and Perl (2002) have correlated the morphology with the firing properties of five different neuronal types in hamster lamina II region. (1) Islet cells, had marked rostro-caudal elongation (456µm), exhibit sustained (tonic) AP discharge, express hyperpolarization activated ('H') currents and show monosynaptic excitatory post synaptic currents (EPSC's) mediated by C-fibers. (2) Central cells, which show limited rostro-caudal extension (200µm) and their cell bodies and dendrites restricted mainly within inner lamina II. Central cells exhibit mainly transient (initial few spikes and then remain silent) firing or in few cases tonic firing. Most transient central cells show large GABAergic inhibitory postsynaptic currents (IPSC's) and subgroup exhibit transient I_A type potassium current. The transient central cells received monosynaptic input from C-fibers while the tonic central cells received A δ -fiber input (3) Radial (stellate) cells, whose dendrites radiate in all directions. These cells exhibit a characteristic delay in AP

discharge following the injection of depolarizing current and most had polysynaptic dorsal root evoked EPSC's and IPSC's. The mean frequency of spontaneous EPSC's was very high in this group. (4) Vertical (stalked) neurons, characterized by distinct vertically oriented sparse, wide dendrites. Vertical cells show tonic or delayed discharge in response to depolarizing current. They exhibit A δ mediated monosynaptic EPSC's, as well high frequency spontaneous EPSC's. (5) Medio-lateral cells, are a rare category which had large dendritic span in both medio-lateral and dorso-ventral directions. These cells show tonic discharge with presence of I_A current and have relatively high frequency sepSC's. Figure 1.1 illustrates the major neuronal types of the *substantia gelatinosa* based on morphological features and firing properties reported in the *substantia gelatinosa*.

About 30-45% of neurons in laminae I-III appear to contain GABA and/ or glycine, and a major proportion of the remaining cells contain the excitatory transmitters, glutamate and aspartate (Todd et al., 1996;Todd and Spike, 1993;Todd and Sullivan, 1990). These include stalked and small islet cells of laminae II (Todd and McKenzie, 1989;Todd and Spike, 1993). Immunoreactivity to glutamate has been demonstrated in Laminae I and II. Immunohistochemistry indicates that glutamate is present in high concentrations in axonal boutons in the dorsal horn and can be studied by post-embedding immunogold method (Spike et al., 2003;Ruscheweyh et al., 2004;Dostrovsky et al., 1983;Dahlhaus et al., 2005). Thus, glutamate and to a lesser extent, aspartate are very likely the major

excitatory transmitters in the superficial dorsal horn (Craig and Bushnell, 1994;Dostrovsky and Craig, 1996;Han et al., 1998;Dougherty et al., 2005).

Approximately one third of neurons in the substantia gelatinosa are inhibitory, GABAergic or glycinergic interneurons (Todd and McKenzie, 1989;Todd and Sullivan, 1990). These observations are supported by electrophysiological studies, which indicate that both GABA and glycine mediate fast inhibitory transmission in the substantia gelatinosa (Yoshimura and Nishi, 1993; Yoshimura and Nishi, 1995). In addition, studies have also demonstrated co-localization and co-release of GABA and glycine in superficial dorsal horn neurons (Todd et al., 1996;Todd, 1996;Chery and de Koninck, 1999). GABA released from the dorsal horn neurons is involved in post synaptic inhibition (Alvarez et al., 1992; Bernardi et al., 1995). Additionally, a presynaptic mechanism of GABA action in lamina II is supported by the fact that many interneurons in lamina II are GABAergic, form synapses on primary afferent terminals (Rudomin and Schmidt, 1999; Schmidt et al., 1998; Todd, 1996). Behavioral pain manifestations are observed in rodents following blockade of spinal GABA receptors. This suggests a tonic GABAergic inhibition is necessary for maintaining normal sensory responses (Sivilotti and Woolf, 1994; Yaksh, 1989; Malcangio and Bowery, 1996). GABA neurons were initially identified by glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD) anti-sera, an enzyme that synthesizes GABA (McLaughlin et al., 1975). GABA is found to be in high concentration in lamina I-III of the dorsal horn (Todd and McKenzie, 1989;Todd and Sullivan, 1990;Todd et al., 1996). GAD-immunoreactive cells were large, and found close to the dorsal and ventral borders of lamina II (Hunt et al., 1981) and resembled islet cells (Todd and Spike, 1993;Todd and McKenzie, 1989). GABA appears to coexist with parvalbumin in islet cells and parvalbumin-immunoreactive neurons resembled islet cells (Antal et al., 1990).

Nowadays, it is becoming popular to label a subset of GABAergic neurons in transgenic mice by the expression of green fluorescent protein (GFP) under the control of a specific promoter sequence (Hantman et al., 2004;Heinke et al., 2004;Dougherty et al., 2005). These subgroups of neurons that express GFP are believed to be homogenous in some aspects. Hantman et al, used one such transgenic mouse that express GFP under control of the mouse prion promoter (van den Pol et al., 2002). They have shown that most GFP expressing cells were located in outer lamina II and fit the category of Grudt and Perl's tonic central cells. These cells exhibit c-fos protein expression in response to noxious stimuli and thus seem to participate in nociceptive processing. As expected, these cells show GABA immunoreactivity suggestive of inhibitory neurons and accounts for about 10% of the GABAergic population in lamina II. They are neurochemically homogenous as they contained PKC β II but not parvalbumin or PKC γ and also showed only C-fiber evoked EPSC's (Hantman et al., 2004). Heinke et al by using another transgenic mouse model which label subgroup of GAD67-expressing GABAergic cells have shown that most GFP expressing neurons are islet cells (note: Heinke at al did not make a distinction between islet and central cells as they used transverse slices) and accounts for about 35 % of the total GABAergic neurons. These neurons were less homogenous with respect to their characteristics. Even though AP discharge was mainly initial bursting (phasic), other firing patterns were also observed. The GFP-cells also show both A\delta and C-fiber evoked responses and are neurochemically diverse, thus some cells show parvalbumin, some nNOS, some glycine and some neither (Heinke et al., 2004).

1.5.3 Supra Spinal tracts and Brain Centers involved in Nociceptive Processing:

There are several pathways that carry nociceptive information from the superficial layers of dorsal horn into higher centers in brain. Nociceptive projection neurons in the spinal cord transmit information to a number of regions of the brainstem and diencephalon, including the thalamus, PAG, PBA, and bulbar reticular formation, as well as to limbic structures in the hypothalamus, amgydaloid nucleus, septal nucleus, and other sites (Willis and Coggeshall, 2004;Besson and Chaouch, 1987). In addition, several brain centers exert descending influence on modulation of pain either directly or indirectly (through brainstem) by sending projections to the spinal cord (Ossipo and Porreca, 2005;Fields and Basbaum, 1999).

The anterolateral spinothalamic tract (STT) is the most widely studied and hence well described ascending supra spinal pathway (Willis and Westlund, 1997;Willis and Coggeshall, 2004;Willis, 2005). The majority of the projection neurons that travel in the STT originate in the superficial laminae I and II and deeper lamina V of the spinal dorsal horn (Willis et al., 1979). STT is believed to be the major pathway for mediating sensations of pain, touch as well as thermal information (Willis and Coggeshall, 2004). The STT neurons terminate in multiple nuclei in the thalamus, which modulate emotional, motivational, sensory-discriminative aspects of nociceptive processing (Apkarian and Shi, 1994;Craig and Dostrovsky, 1999;Willis and Westlund, 1997). It is

the thalamus where type, temporal pattern intensity, and topographic localization of the pain is integrated and then transferred to limbic and cortical centers (Craig and Dostrovsky, 1999; Willis and Coggeshall, 2004).

The second prominent ascending pathway that is involved in transmission of nociceptive information is the spinomesencephalic tract (SMT) which terminates in different areas of mid-brain including PAG, nucleus cuneiformis, intercolliculus nucleus, deep layers of the superior colliculus, and Edinger-Westphal nucleus (Willis and Coggeshall, 2004). The SMT tract mainly originates from laminae I, II, and V of the spinal dorsal horn (Millan, 1999; Willis and Coggeshall, 2004; Willis, 2005). Terminations in different areas of the mid-brain could activate different affective components to modulate pain sensation. Thus, the projections to the PAG contribute to the response to aversive stimulation (Millan, 1999). In addition it could contribute to activation of descending pain control system (Craig and Dostrovsky, 1999;Ossipo and Porreca, 2005). PAG is one of the prominent analgesic centers in brain, as electrical stimulation of PAG inhibits activity in the wide range dynamic neurons in response to noxious stimuli in primate spinal cord (Hayes et al., 1979). Moreover, electrical stimulation produces antinociception in rodents and also in humans (Ossipo and Porreca, 2005; Craig and Dostrovsky, 1999). Even though there are direct descending analgesic projections from PAG to the dorsal horn, it can also exert its influence through relay stations like the rostraventral medulla (RVM) and other brain stem areas (Willis and Westlund, 1997;Craig and Dostrovsky, 1999). The RVM is a crucial site for balancing descending modulation (Craig and Dostrovsky, 1999; Fields and Basbaum, 1999). In the RVM, two cell types are thought to be involved in pain

modulation, the 'ON' cells which discharge prior to the occurrence of a nociceptive reflex and are pro-nociceptive and the 'OFF' cells which terminate firing prior to the occurrence of a nociceptive reflex and are anti-nociceptive (Fields and Basbaum, 1999). The RVM and the PAG along with the dorsal horn are the important sites for the action of opioids (Craig and Dostrovsky, 1999;Ossipo and Porreca, 2005;Willis and Westlund, 1997;Fields and Basbaum, 1999).

The third most prominent pathway that conveys nociceptive information is the spinoreticular tract (Willis and Westlund, 1997;Willis and Coggeshall, 2004). SRT originates from the deep layers of the dorsal horn and in laminae VII and VIII of the ventral horn (Willis, 2005). In addition, retrograde and anterograde tracing have identified projections of SRT from lamina 1 neurons to several nuclei of PBA including the locus ceruleus of the brainstem (Craig, 1995;Willis, 2005). These cells terminate in several nuclei of the reticular formation (RAS) of the medulla and pons (Willis and Westlund, 1997;Willis and Coggeshall, 2004). The STT neurons can preferentially be activated by noxious stimuli (Willis and Coggeshall, 2004;Willis, 2005). The major role of this pathway is in mediating arousal responses and activating endogenous analgesic control and also in modulating the homeostatic changes through brainstem autonomic centers (Willis and Coggeshall, 2004;Willis, 2005;Millan, 1999).

Even though the above three pathways are the most studied ones, there are several minor yet significant pathways which carry nociceptive information to brain centers from the spinal cord including the spinolimbic, spinocervicothalamic, spinohypothalamic, and spinoamygdalar tracts (Willis and Westlund, 1997; Willis and Coggeshall, 2004; Willis, 2005; Millan, 1999).

1.6 Animal models of Neuropathic pain

Neuropathic pain is multifactorial disease with complex etiology (Woolf and Mannion, 1999;Smith, 2004). Depending on the nature of the nerve injury, it can have different consequences and hence be treated differently. For example, neuropathic pain, due to diabetes may be due to excessive glucose (sorbitol) (Kawanishi et al., 2003) and hence is different from neuropathic pain due to trauma (Smith et al., 2002;Woolf, 2004a). Thus neuropathic pain should be viewed as a syndrome with different abnormalities in the pain pathway under different conditions. The underlying commonalities are: no visible signs of injury, paradoxical combinations of sensory loss and hyperalgesia in the affected and nearby areas, spontaneous ongoing pain, an increase in pain response following repetitive stimulation and allodynia (Hansson, 2003;Sindrup and Jensen, 1999). Animal models are the mainstay for development of novel therapeutics. Given the diverse etiology of neuropathic pain, it is not possible to develop one single animal model which encompasses all the attributes with sufficient predictive, and construct validity (Blackburn-Munro, 2004;Kontinen and Meert, 2003). This underlies the importance of development of different animal models which can mimic neuropathic pain in different conditions with different intensities of insults. Despite rapid advancements over the years, an ideal model of neuropathic pain is still a great challenge. Moreover, interpretation of animal's behavioral responses to different pain tests and correlating with human symptoms is a matter of debate (Blackburn-Munro, 2004; Bennett, 2005).

Most neuropathic pain models involve experimentally controlled injuries to the spinal or peripheral nerves. The commonly studied animal models of neuropathic pain are due to direct nerve injury which involves manipulations (cut or ligation) of the peripheral sciatic nerve (main trunk or its branches) or its spinal counterpart the lumbar 5 or 6 spinal nerves (Bennett and Xie, 1988;Kim and Chung, 1992;Wall et al., 1979;Seltzer et al., 1990;Mosconi and Kruger, 1996;Decosterd and Woolf, 2000) (Figure 1.2).

The limitations of animal models are that the pain induced in the laboratory does not exactly mirror the chronic pain situations normally encountered in clinics. Most animal models of neuropathic pain are studies in the laboratory for weeks or months, whereas the clinical course of neuropathic pain is in years or even decades. Moreover, the complex experience of painful sensation in human is reduced to 'Pain like' withdrawal reflexes to mechanical and thermal stimuli in animals (Ekblom and Hansson, 1993;Blackburn-Munro, 2004). As a result, extrapolation of animal results to humans should be made with a degree of caution. Despite these limitations, the animal models have contributed enormously to our current understanding of neuropathic pain etiology.

1.6.1 The Neuroma Model (axotomy)

The neuroma model, developed by Wall et al was the first model of peripheral nerve injury (Wall et al., 1979). This model involves sectioning the sciatic nerve completely at the mid thigh level (Figure 1.2). In some cases, the cut end of the nerve was also encapsulated to prevent possibility of the sprouts invading the surrounding tissue. Following complete nerve transection of the sciatic nerve of rats and mice, a neuroma develops at the proximal nerve stump, consisting of regenerative nerves sprouting in all directions (Amir and Devor, 1993; Devor and Wall, 1976). Wall et al. observed self-attack and mutilation of the injured limb, and used the term 'autotomy' to describe the behavior that is probably caused by denervation of the hindpaw (Wall et al., 1979; Wall and Gutnick, 1974). This self-mutilatory behavior is interpreted as the animal's response to a spontaneous pain and is viewed as the equivalent of human phantom limb (Coderre and Melzack, 1986;Kauppila, 1998). However, it has also been suggested the autotomy arises due to motor and sensory denervation of the hind paw rather than pain (Rodin and Kruger, 1984;Kauppila, 1998), hence interpretations of autotomy as an index of pain have been a subject of serious debate over the years (Coderre et al., 1986;Kauppila, 1998). The limitation of this model is that the self-mutilation phenomenon is rarely observed in humans (Bennett and Xie, 1988; Mailis, 1996). Even though this model has made enormous contribution in understanding underlying mechanisms of neuropathic pain, it represents only a very special case of nerve damage and also does not exhibit the common manifestations of peripheral neuropathy particularly hyperalgesia and allodynia (Bennett and Xie, 1988).

1.6.2 Chronic Constriction Injury Model (Bennet model or CCI)

This model was developed by Bennet and Xie in 1988, where they reported a peripheral neuropathy model that produces pain symptoms like those seen in man (Bennett and Xie, 1988). This model involved placing loose ligatures around the common sciatic nerve in such a way that the diameter of the nerve was just barely constricted so that the circulation was retarded but not completely arrested (Figure 1.2). The rats showed

behavioral signs such as, guarding (lifting from surface), excessive licking and limping of ipsilateral hind paw, and avoidance of placing weight on the injury side, and symptoms of spontaneous pain (mild to moderate autotomy). Moreoever, the rats also exhibited prominent symptoms of hyperalgesia and allodynia with respect to both thermal and mechanical stimuli (Bennett and Xie, 1988).

1.6.3 Partial sciatic nerve injury (PSL or Seltzer model)

Seltzer et al developed a rat model of neuropathic pain in 1990 to mimic causalgia in humans (Seltzer et al., 1990). The causalgia which is characterized by burning pain combined with hyperalgesia and allodynia is usually observed after partial or incomplete nerve injury, but not complete nerve section. In this model, the sciatic nerve was exposed at high thigh level and ligated with suture in such a way that 1/3–1/2 (33-50%) thickness of the nerve is trapped in the ligature, while leaving the rest 'uninjured'. Rats in this model also exhibited signs of robust allodynia and hyperalgesia. The rats also exhibited signs of spontaneous pain with respect to gait and posture (Seltzer et al., 1990).

1.6.4 Spinal Nerve Ligation Model (SNL) (Kim and Chung)

This model was developed by Kim and Chung in 1992 as another neuropathy model resembling human pain symptoms (Kim and Chung, 1992). In this model either L5 or the L5 and L6 spinal nerves were isolated and tightly ligated distal to the dorsal root ganglia (DRG) with silk thread (Choi et al., 1994;Kim and Chung, 1992) (Figure 1.2). Hyperalgesia and allodynia developed quickly after the ligation. As seen in other models,

symptoms of spontaneous pain such as licking the paw on injured side as well as limping on the operated foot were observed. However, there was no obvious signs of autotomy.

A major problem with Bennet model is the variability in terms of tension around the nerve which in turn will affect the number and type of injured afferent fibers. This is true for even the Seltzer model as the variability may result from failure to damage exactly the same part of the nerve in each animal. Compared to Bennet and Seltzer model the SNL seemed to be more consistent in terms of ligation and also has the advantage of separation of injured and intact spinal segments (Kim et al., 1997;Lee et al., 1998). This permits analysis of the role of injured as well as intact fibers in terms of development and maintenance of pain. In addition, the analgesic effect of sympathectomy was more evident in SNL compared to Bennet or Seltzer model and hence SNL is a preferred model to study mechanisms underlying sympathetically maintained pain (Kim et al., 1997). In terms of behavioral parameters, the sign of touch evoked pain (allodynia) is more robust in SNL whereas the ongoing pain was more evident in Bennet model. The disadvantage of SNL is being technically demanding and requires extensive surgical procedure and hence difficult to perform in smaller rodents.

1.6.5 Chronic Constriction Injury with Polyethylene Cuffs:

This was a variant of the Bennet model. Several labs have utilized the CCI (Bennet) model over the years to study underling mechanisms of neuropathic pain. Even though most labs report evidence of allodynia and hyperalgesia, there is wide variability in the extent of fiber spectrum (myelinated and unmyelinated axons) damage (Attal et al.,

1990; Bennett and Xie, 1988; Coggeshall et al., 1993). In addition, there could be interanimal variability in terms of pathological change and resulting behavioral manifestations. This makes the comparison of results from different labs in terms of quantitative analyses difficult. These variations could be likely due to in controlling the tightness (Nuvtten et al., 1992; Ro and Jacobs, 1993) of the constriction with sutures, and also because of different suture materials (chromic gut, plain gut, silk) (Kupers et al., 1994). Hence, to minimize these shortcomings, Kruger and Mosconi developed a variation in CCI model called the cuff model in 1996, which involves applying small polyethylene cuffs, loosely around the sciatic nerve (Mosconi and Kruger, 1996) (Figure 1.2). As the cuffs were wider, there is no marked constriction or translucency in the constricted region and hence less ischemic damage. The alteration in fiber spectrum damage includes transient decrease unmyelinated and small myelinated axons and a sustained decrease in large myelinated axons. In addition, Wallerian degeneration and inflammatory reactions at near and distal sites of injury were reported. Another significant difference in the cuff model is the non-occurrence of autotomy (Mosconi and Kruger, 1996; Pitcher et al., 1999). The behavioral manifestations of hypersensitivity to mechanical and thermal stimuli were comparable to the Bennet model. Hence, this model has the advantage to being easy, standardized and reproducible constriction injury model (Mosconi and Kruger, 1996;Pitcher et al., 1999;Coull et al., 2003). It was therefore chosen as the neuropathic pain model for the experiments in this thesis.

1.6.6 Spared Nerve Injury (SNI):

This is fairly recent model developed by Decosterd and Woolf in 2000 (Decosterd and Woolf, 2000). The sciatic nerve has three terminal branches namely the tibial, peroneal and the sural nerves which innervate different regions of the dorsal and plantar surfaces of the paw. The earlier models of Bennet and Seltzer consisted of constricting or ligating the main sciatic nerve trunk. In this model however, the tibial and peroneal nerves were ligated and sectioned distally, while leaving the sural nerve intact (Figure 1.2). The aim of such injury is to understand the contribution of both injured and uninjured sensory axons to development and maintenance of pain. This model resulted in substantial and prolonged mechanical and thermal hypersensitivity. Also, compared to Bennett's model where behavioral hypersensitivity is seen in the whole area of the damaged sciatic nerve territory, in SNI it is restricted to the intact sural nerve territory. The author's further claim, by sparing the sural nerve there is minimal co-mingling of intact axons with denervated schwann cells (Decosterd and Woolf, 2000).

There are other less commonly used nerve injury models like sciatic cryoneurolysis model which involves freezing the sciatic nerve to induce damage; sciatic inflammatory neuritis model which involves injection of zymosan around the sciatic nerve (Chacur et al., 2001;DeLeo et al., 1994). There are also central pain models which are based on spinal cord injury like weight drop or contusion model, photochemical model and excitotoxic spinal cord injury (Hao et al., 1991;Yezierski, 1996). In addition, there are neuropathy models induced by diseases such as diabetes (streptozotocin model, insulin deficient BB rats and NOD mice, insulin resistant ob/ob and db/db mice) (Mosseri et al.,

2000;Pieper et al., 2000;Courteix et al., 1994) and post herpetic neuralgia (Rowbotham and Fields, 1996). Moreover, there are also chemotherapy induced neuropathic pain models (Portenoy, 1999).

1.7 Neuropathic Pain and Pain Pathways:

Neuropathic pain is characterized by sensations of burning, electricity, extreme cold, numbness and tingling. It can be triggered by conditions such as trauma, diabetes, post herpetic neuralgia, heavy metal toxicity and some medications. Clinically, it is difficult to define neuropathic pain and set an unequivocal diagnostic criterion (Attal and Bouhassira, 2004; Bennett, 2003; Hansson, 2003; Backonja, 2003). There are certain conditions where identification is relatively straightforward like diabetic neuropathy, herpetic neuralgia and spinal cord or nerve injuries. However, clinical conditions such as fibromyalgia (Moldofsky and Merskey, 2005; Treede et al., 1992) do not have clearly identified lesions but yet may involve some nerve dysfunction (Hansson, 2003). Moreover, in certain conditions such as arthritis or cancer pain, it is difficult to isolate possible neuropathic component from inflammatory component (Backonja, 2003; Portenoy and Lesage, 1999).

Neuropathic pain has been viewed as a consequence of long term plastic changes involving both neuronal and non-neuronal cells. Peripheral nerve damage results in spontaneous, persistent, aberrant activity in the primary afferent fibers (Devor and Seltzer, 1999;Wall and Devor, 1983;Govrin-Lippmann and Devor, 1978) and leads to an increased excitability of the DRG neurons (Amir et al., 2005;Abdulla and Smith, 2001a;Spike and Todd, 1992;Todd and McKenzie, 1989). In addition, there is a sustained increase in excitability of dorsal horn neurons (Woolf and Salter, 2000;McMahon et al., 1993) leading to abnormal pain sensation. Thus the pain, which had a peripheral site of origin, advances into the central nervous system (CNS) and becomes "centralized" and is often irreversible (Devor and Seltzer, 1999;Woolf et al., 1995;Woolf, 1983). The etiology of neuropathic pain is complex so that development of effective therapy is challenging. However, there is a steady increase in the understanding of anatomical, cellular and molecular basis of neuropathic pain. This, along with the advent of many experimental models, has helped us to make considerable progress and has led to the prospect of exploring novel therapeutic targets.

1.7.1 Changes in Primary Afferent Fibers:

Nerve injury induces a phenotypic shift in the properties of primary afferent fibers (Millan, 1999;Xiao et al., 2002). Nerve transection results in the formation of neuroma at the proximal nerve stump which consists of regenerative nerve sprouts (Devor and Wall, 1976;Wall and Gutnick, 1974). The pronociceptive cytokines [e.g., tumor necrosis factor (TNF) α , interleukin (IL)-1 β], or other inflammatory mediators released from injured site excite the neighboring intact DRG neurons (Li et al., 2000). The increased expression of proinflamatory cytokines affects vascular permeability (Schnell et al., 1999) and leads to increased infiltration of macrophages (Hu and McLachlan, 2002;Watkins et al., 1995). Long term processes initiated by these initial inflammatory events could continue even after the initial injury has healed. These could alter the physiology of the sensory

afferents and their spinal targets, the second order neurons (Watkins and Maier, 2002;Watkins et al., 1995).

Nerve injury promotes aberrant, spontaneous ectopic discharges at various points on the sensory nerve including the injured axonal neuroma, the region of the axonal T junction and in the cell bodies (Liu et al., 2001;Amir and Devor, 1993;Amir et al., 2002;Govrin-Lippmann and Devor, 1978;Wall and Devor, 1983). The increase in the firing discharges in afferent fibers has also been demonstrated in humans with neuropathic pain (Wall and Gutnick, 1974;Nordin et al., 1984) but see (Rice et al., 1994). Moreover, the ectopic activity arises in not only the injured or severed sensory axons but also in their uninjured neighbours (Ma et al., 2003;Li et al., 2000). The spontaneous pain and hyperesthesia that exists after nerve injury is believed to be due to increased excitability of primary afferent nociceptors (Bessou and Perl, 1969;Fitzgerald and Lynn, 1977). Anesthetizing the DRG or performing dorsal rhizotomy alleviates neuropathic pain, suggesting the inputs from cell bodies could play a dynamic role in manifestation of pain symptoms in neuropathic pain (Devor and Seltzer, 1999;Sukhotinsky et al., 2004).

DRG neurons can be classified into three major cell types based on AP firing and cell capacitance as small, medium and large cells (Abdulla and Smith, 1998;Smith et al., 2002). Nerve injury results in alteration in properties of all the cell types and thus nociceptive A δ and C-fibers as well as high threshold A β -fibers are affected (Abdulla and Smith, 2001a;Abdulla and Smith, 2001b;Abdulla and Smith, 2002;Stebbing et al., 1999). It is thus important to realize the pain that arises from nerve injury reflects

changes in both nociceptive and non-nociceptive fibers. Axotomy seems to affect predominantly the excitability of small neurons. In some injury models the appearance of autotomy seems to correlate well with the alterations in the excitability of large (A β) cells (Kajander and Bennett, 1992;Abdulla and Smith, 2001a;Abdulla et al., 2003).

Nerve injury seems to affect the properties of different ion channels in the DRG (Lai et al., 2004;McCleskey and Gold, 1999;Chaplan et al., 2003;Abdulla and Smith, 2002; Abdulla and Smith, 2001b). Several mediators that are released from the injured site may enhance the expression of tetrodotoxin (TTX)-resistant Na⁺ channels (Nav 1.8) (Gold and Levine, 1996; Khasar et al., 1998; Cardenas et al., 2001; Okamoto et al., 2002). This Nav 1.8 has an important role in AP generation and enables the DRG neurons to fire repetitively and hence has functional significance (Renganathan et al., 2001;Baker et al., 2003:Gold. 1999:Khasar et al., 1998). The alteration with respect to Na⁺ currents seems to differ with respect to injury models used (Devor and Seltzer, 1999; Everill et al., 2001;Sleeper et al., 2000;Abdulla and Smith, 2002;Waxman et al., 2000b;Waxman et al., 1999). The nerve injury seems to reduce the amplitude of delayed rectifier K⁺ currents and the calcium sensitive K^+ conductance and reduce the expression of Kv1.2, Kv2.1 mRNA in the DRG cell bodies (Abdulla and Smith, 2001b; Yang et al., 2004a; Ishikawa et al., 1999). In addition, there seems to be reduction in high voltage activated (HVA) Ca⁺⁺ channel currents after axotomy (Abdulla and Smith, 2001b;Baccei and Kocsis, 2000). However studies on alteration in gene expression profiles using cDNA array technologies show an increase in the expression of L-type $\alpha 2 \delta 1 \operatorname{Ca}^{++}$ channel subunit (Xiao et al., 2002). There is also an upregulation of hyperpolarization activated (Ih) pacemaker currents in the DRG following nerve injury (Chaplan et al., 2003). The mechanisms responsible for the changes in the channel expression are not yet clear, but current evidence indicates that mediators such as neurotrophins, prostaglandins and serotonin could play a potential role (Cummins et al., 2000b;Leffler et al., 2002;Waxman et al., 2000b;Gold, 1999;Cardenas et al., 2001).

Peripheral nerve injury promotes sprouting of perivascular sympathetic axons to form baskets of noradrenergic terminals around the large cells (Ramer et al., 1999). This leads to noradrenergic excitation of DRG contributing to sympathetically maintained pain (Ramer and Bisby, 1997;Lee et al., 1998). In addition, there is formation of pericellular baskets (axonal sprouts) containing CGRP, substance P, around the large cells which provide an ideal environment for peptidergic neuron-neuron interactions (Wakisaka et al., 1992;Hu and McLachlan, 2001;McLachlan and Hu, 1998). The mechanism responsible for sprouting is not very clear, it is however likely that the neurotropins (NGF or BDNF) and gp130 family of cytokines such as the leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) (Jones et al., 1999;Ramer et al., 1999;Cafferty et al., 2001) could play a crucial role. In addition, after axotomy, the ability of opioids to suppress Ca⁺⁺ currents in DRG is reduced. This may offer some explanation for reduced effectiveness of opioids in neuropathic pain (Abdulla and Smith, 1998;Abdulla et al., 2003).

Since ectopic foci (spontaneous discharge) in the primary afferents and DRG (Amir et al., 2005;Devor and Seltzer, 1999;Wall and Devor, 1983), may be responsible for initiation of sensitization, therapies have targeted this aberrant activity in an attempt to alleviate

neuropathic pain (Cummins et al., 2000b;Waxman et al., 2000a;Lai et al., 2003). Even though Na⁺ channel blockers are valuable in animal models, in the clinical setting they are only of modest efficacy (Sindrup and Jensen, 2000;Sindrup and Jensen, 1999). The majority of reports on the usefulness of Na⁺ channel blockers have been performed only in conditions of postherpetic neuralgia, diabetic neuropathy or trigeminal neuralgia (Bach et al., 1990;Sindrup and Jensen, 1999). Moreover, to prevent potentially harmful side effects, blockers specific for sensory neurons should be developed (Lai et al., 2003;Lai et al., 2002). The processes triggering the sensitization phenomenon peripherally may differ from those that maintain it centrally (Cervero et al., 2003;Costigan and Woolf, 2000;Doubell et al., 1999). Hence, inhibition of ectopic foci alone may not be sufficient to counteract the generation of neuropathic pain. This underlies the importance of spinal mechanisms in the etiology of neuropathic pain.

1.7.2 Changes in the Superficial Dorsal Horn

The superficial dorsal horn is the primary site for termination of nociceptive primary afferent fibers (Light and Perl, 1979;Perl, 1984;Sugiura et al., 1986;Stucky et al., 2001;Stucky and Lewin, 1999). The integration of information in this region would have a high impact on the transmission and hence the perception of noxious information in higher centers. Nerve injury induces anatomical and physiological changes in the properties of different cell types on the dorsal horn (Baba et al., 1999;Doubell et al., 1999;Ji et al., 1999;Kohno et al., 2003;Moore et al., 2002;Woolf et al., 1995;Coull et al., 2003). The peripheral events such as sensitization of nociceptors contribute to spontaneous pain and an exaggerated response to noxious stimulation in the areas of

injury (primary hyperalgesia) (Meyer and Campbell, 1981;Treede et al., 1992;Raja et al., 1999). However, the plastic changes in the dorsal horn modify the abnormal or excessive input from the periphery leading to central sensitization. This is a key element underlying development of mechanical allodynia or secondary hyperalgesia observed in neuropathic pain (Costigan and Woolf, 2000;Ji and Woolf, 2001;Ji et al., 2003;Woolf and Salter, 2000;Zhuang et al., 2005).

It has been suggested that peripheral nerve injury results in the appearance of vacant synaptic sites in the superficial dorsal horn (Arvidsson et al., 1986;Kapadia and LaMotte, 1987). This could be due to atrophy of nonmyelinated C-fibers (Castro-Lopes et al., 1990;Coggeshall et al., 1997). Woolf et al. reported anatomical reorganization of the primary afferent fibers after axotomy leading to the misinterpretation of low threshold sensory information as nociceptive (Woolf et al., 1992). Thus, innocuous information conveyed by large myelinated afferents (selectively stained with CTB) (LaMotte et al., 1991; Robertson and Grant, 1985) which normally project to deeper laminae, (Fyffe, 1992; Willis and Coggeshall, 2004) reorganizes into the substantia gelatinosa after nerve injury resulting in allodynia (Baba et al., 1999;Shortland and Woolf, 1993a;Woolf et al., 1995). The results from CTB staining should however be interpreted with caution as even C-fibers could take up this stain after nerve injury (Tong et al., 1999;Shehab et al., 2003). Hence, this hypothesis of anatomical rewiring has been seriously questioned (Bao et al., 2002;Tong et al., 1999;Hughes et al., 2003;Shehab et al., 2003). Kohama et al. (2000), using extracellular and intracellular recording techniques, reported that many substantia gelatinosa neurones received direct inputs from AB afferent fibres following peripheral nerve neuroma formation (Kohama et al., 2000). Thus, after nerve damage the long latency response of *substantia gelatinosa* neurons to high threshold activation is switched to short latency responses to low threshold stimulation resembling deeper lamina neurons (Baba et al., 1999). The loss of GABAergic inhibition could facilitate the excitatory inputs (A β -mediated) from deeper layers to more superficial regions (Baba et al., 1999;Baba et al., 2003;Moore et al., 2002;Okamoto et al., 2001). Even though, the structural rewiring may or may not happen, functionally there is still a possibility of an increase in A β -mediated excitatory transmission into lamina II.

Gate theory predicts disruption of balance between inhibition and excitation in the dorsal horn for transmission of nociceptive information (Melzack and Wall, 1965;Wall, 1978). Reports from several studies suggest loss of inhibition as one of the major contributors to the central sensitization in neuropathic pain (Laird and Bennett, 1992;Wall, 1978;Baba et al., 2003;Moore et al., 2002;Woolf and Wall, 1982;Ibuki et al., 1997;Castro-Lopes et al., 1993;Coull et al., 2005). In fact loss of inhibition seems to be a characteristic of neuropathic pain when compared to inflammatory or nociceptive pain (Millan, 1999). GABA is a major inhibitory neurotransmitter in the superficial dorsal horn. About 30% of neurons in lamina 1 and 2 are GABAergic (Todd and Spike, 1993;Todd, 1996). GABA plays an important role in the regulation of nociceptive transmission (Kangrga et al., 1991;Hao et al., 1992). Intrathecal application of a GABA antagonist produces signs of behavioral hypersensitivity (Sivilotti and Woolf, 1994;Malcangio and Bowery, 1996), and tactile allodynia induced by peripheral nerve injury is exacerbated by GABA antagonists (Yamamoto and Yaksh, 1993). GABA has at least two distinct roles in the

superficial dorsal horn. The GABA released from the dorsal horn interneurons could result in primary afferent (where E_{cl} less negative than resting potential) depolarization (PAD) (Rudomin and Schmidt, 1999;Cervero et al., 2003;Laird et al., 2004;Schmidt, 1971). This release can be triggered either due to activity in primary afferent fibers (dorsal root reflex) and/or by descending signals from brain (Willis, Jr., 1999;Cervero and Laird, 1996a; Cervero et al., 2003; Laird et al., 2004) and is mediated through $GABA_A$ receptors (Rees et al., 1995). This forms the basis for the mechanism, whereby activation of A-fibers inhibits C-fiber evoked response (gate theory) (Melzack and Wall, 1965; Wall and Devor, 1981; Fitzgerald and Woolf, 1981). Nerve injury or inflammation results in the alteration of A- fiber mediated inhibition of C- fiber evoked responses in the dorsal horn contributing to loss of inhibition (Wall and Devor, 1981;Laird and Bennett, 1992; Cervero et al., 2003; Laird et al., 2004). The second mechanism of GABA inhibition involves direct hyperpolarization of dorsal horn cells. In a model of chronic constriction injury with polyethylene cuffs, Coull et al. have demonstrated loss of this GABA hyperpolarization (Coull et al., 2003). In this model there is a shift in the Cl⁻ concentration gradient of the dorsal horn cells due to disruption of anion homeostasis. The underlying mechanism for such change is the reduction in potassium chloride transporter (KCC2) after nerve injury resulting in higher intracellular Cl⁻ concentrations, and hence more depolarized reversal potential for GABA mediated events (Beggs et al., 2004;Coull et al., 2003). GABA has been shown to be depolarizing in immature neurons of the CNS including the neonatal dorsal horn (Baccei and Fitzgerald, 2004). Thus, after nerve injury there is a phenotypic shift in the GABAergic (Beggs et al., 2004;Coull et al.,

2003;Coull et al., 2005) dorsal horn neurons resembling neonatal characteristics (Cordero-Erausquin et al., 2005).

Immuno-histochemical studies of dorsal horn neurons in several nerve injury models report reduced levels of GABA immunoreactivity or its receptors (Castro-Lopes et al., 1993;Ibuki et al., 1997;Castro-Lopes et al., 1995). GABA immunoreactivity showed some recovery at prolonged survival times after a CCI model suggesting downregulation of GABA synthesis in surviving neurons may play at least a part of the mechanism (Ibuki et al., 1997). However, there are also contrasting reports of GABA levels or function after nerve injury (Cervero and Laird, 1996b). Thus, Somers and Clemente found no significant change in GABA or glycine content in spinal synaptosomes after CCI (Somers and Clemente, 2002). Satoh and Omote report an increase in GABA and glycine in the dorsal half of spinal cord after nerve injury (Satoh and Omote, 1996) and Kontinen et al report enhancement of GABAergic inhibition after spinal nerve ligation (Kontinen et al., 2001).

Central sensitization may also involve neuronal cell death altering the circuitry of dorsal horn (Sugimoto et al., 1990;Azkue et al., 1998;Whiteside and Munglani, 2001;Moore et al., 2002;de, V et al., 2004). Morphological studies suggest an occurrence of cell death in spinal cord following nerve damage (Sugimoto et al., 1990;Coggeshall et al., 2001). Partial nerve injury and chronic constriction injury reduces the primary afferent evoked IPSCs, due to reduced release of GABA from presynaptic terminals of the interneurons. Moreover, the mixture of GABA and glycine IPSC's in control condition was shifted to pure glycinergic current, as the bicuculline sensitive GABA component was lost after nerve injury (Moore et al., 2002). Coupled with these synaptic changes is the occurrence of neuronal apoptosis suggesting a possible cell death of GABAergic interneurons (Moore et al., 2002;Scholz and Woolf, 2002) Additional report on neuronal apoptosis come from a study which suggests an increase in the expression of the pro-apoptotic bax gene of the *bcl-2* gene family (Yuan and Yankner, 2000) at the lumbar spinal cords of rats after CCI (Maione et al., 2002). Peripheral nerve injury also triggers the induction of immediate early genes, such as *c-jun* and *c-fos* (Zimmermann, 2001;Coggeshall, 2005;Ro et al., 2004). These genes are able to induce cell death by a complex cascade of transcriptional processes (Harper and LoGrasso, 2001). The loss of GABAergic function seems to be dependent on some intact input from the primary afferents or a mixture of injured and uninjured afferent supply, because complete transection of the sciatic nerve (axotomy) alone does not induce neuronal loss or decrease in GABAergic IPSC's (Coggeshall et al., 2001; Moore et al., 2002; Scholz et al., 2004). Hence, these findings imply that neuropathic pain should be viewed as a neurodegenerative disease. Thus, therapies should also focus on preventing the loss of inhibitory neurons (Scholz and Woolf, 2002; Woolf, 2004a; Woolf, 2004b).

There is however some controversy regarding the cell death of inhibitory neurons as a parameter for enhanced pain behaviors in animal models of neuropathic pain. Polgar et al. suggest that there was neither neuronal loss nor reduction in the proportion of neurons that showed GABA or glycine immnuoreactivity in superficial laminae after CCI (Polgar et al., 2003;Polgar et al., 2004). Further, Polgar et al. also performed studies on spared

nerve injury model (Moore et al., 2002), which show robust and long lasting allodynia and also exibit significant neuronal loss. In this model they used two different markers for neuronal apoptosis (tunnel staining and activated caspase3). With their findings they challenged the previous hypothesis, and suggest loss of neurons is not required for tactile hypersensitivity (Polgar et al., 2005). As a further continuation of this controversy, Scholz et al. have showed recently that by blocking apoptosis with a caspase inhibitor (z-VAD), preserves the integrity of synaptic properties and prevents neuronal cell apoptosis. Also, the intrathecal delivery of z-VAD after nerve injury is able to attenuate the neuropathic pain like behavior (Scholz et al., 2005).

Increase in excitatory (glutamatergic) transmission could be another mechanism that contributes to sensitization in dorsal horn (Kohno et al., 2003). Glutamate is the major excitatory transmitter released from primary afferent terminals in the dorsal horn and is a likely mediator of central sensitization in neuropathic pain (Willis, 2001;Yoshimura and Nishi, 1992;Yoshimura and Jessell, 1990). Pain hypersensitivity has been suggested to be a consequence of glutamate induced excitotoxicity and neuronal cell death (Zimmermann, 2001;Sugimoto et al., 1990). CCI and axotomy result in an increase in the incidence of polysynaptic A β -mediated EPSC's, at the expense of monosynaptic A δ mediated EPSC's in *substantia gelatinosa* neurons (Kohno et al., 2003;Okamoto et al., 2001). Glutamate acts on ionotropic AMPA, NMDA and kainate receptors. In spinal dorsal horn, AMPA and kainate receptors mediate monosynaptic activation of neurons by primary afferent fibers (Yoshimura and Nishi, 1992;Yoshimura and Jessell, 1990), while NMDA receptors are responsible for late and polysynaptic components of the evoked excitatory post synaptic potentials (Nastrom et al., 1994). Central sensitization involves changes in both AMPA and NMDA receptors mediated components (Garry et al., 2003;Brenner et al., 2004;Ji et al., 2003).

Some aspects of central sensitization in dorsal horn share similarities to early phases of hippocampal long term potentiation as both share similarities in the underlying mechanisms, including involvement of NMDA receptor (NMDAR) mediated component (Ji et al., 2003; Woolf and Thompson, 1991; Woolf and Salter, 2000). This phenomenon is suspected to be triggered by the ongoing ectopic activity in the primary afferents after nerve injury (Koltzenburg et al., 1992). The induction of a LTP-like phenomenon in dorsal horn projection neurons requires activation of NMDA, NK1 receptors along with activation of T-type Ca⁺⁺ currents (Ikeda et al., 2003). NMDARs, by inducing activity dependant plastic changes in the dorsal horn provide positive continual feedback loop for the maintenance of central sensitization (Baranauskas and Nistri, 1998; Woolf and Salter, 2000;Brenner et al., 2004; Ji and Woolf, 2001). Noxious signals induce phosphorylation of NMDAR subunits in the dorsal horn (Brenner et al., 2004;Kawasaki et al., 2004). Application of NMDAR agonists results in enhanced pain behaviors due to increased activity of dorsal horn neurons (Malmberg and Yaksh, 1993). In contrast, NMDAR blockers effectively alleviate pain behaviors and block neuropathic pain (Ren and Dubner, 1993;Suzuki et al., 2001). Activity of NMDARs is regulated by phosphorylation. In particular, the PKC mediated phosporylation increases channel activity (Liao et al., 2001). Spinal PKC activation has been reported to participate in the generation of pain hypersensitivity (Yajima et al., 2003). An NMDA-dependant loss of spinal opioid analgesia was also observed after nerve injury (Narita et al., 2001).

Because AMPA receptor activation induces nociceptive behavior and AMPA blockers are effective in neuropathic pain, these receptors may also play an important role in central sensitization (Chaplan et al., 1997; Sorkin et al., 2001). GluR1 and GluR2 subunits of AMPA receptors are expressed throughout the superficial layers of dorsal horn (Harris et al., 1996; Spike et al., 1998). The neurons can however be differentiated based on the presence of one or the other subunits (Spike et al., 1998). Based on findings in brain slices, AMPA receptors have diverse properties with respect to different subunit composition, for instance the presence GluR2 imparts Ca^{++} impermeability (Geiger et al., 1995; Jonas et al., 1994). Thus, in superficial dorsal horn, the inhibitory GABAergic (parvalbumin positive) neurons contained the GluR1 subunit (Albuquerque et al., 1999). However, the excitatory (neurotensin and somatostatin positive) interneurons, were associated with GluR2/3 subunits (Spike et al., 1998). Thus GluR1 and GluR2/3 subunits may be differentially altered, and hence are the inhibitory and excitatory cells, under pathological conditions. Ca⁺⁺-permeable AMPA receptors may be more important in neuropathic pain condition. The CCI causes appearance of dark neurons which undergo degeneration (apoptosis) in the superficial laminae (Sugimoto et al., 1990). Thus nerve injury could cause cytotoxic cell death (Ibuki et al., 1997;Moore et al., 2002) through activation of Ca⁺⁺ permeable subunit resulting in the degeneration of selective neurons (Albuquerque et al., 1999;Antal et al., 1991). There have also been reports on increased GluR 2 immunoreactivity in the ipsilateral dorsal horn CCI (Harris et al., 1996).

Other cellular mechanism that could contribute central sensitization is alteration in properties of various ion channels and currents. Voltage-gated Na⁺ channels play a mandatory role in the electrical signaling between the neurons. Recently, Hains et al reported an abnormal expression of Na⁺ channel which is normally not expressed in adult spinal cord neurons (Felts et al., 1997; Hains et al., 2002; Hains et al., 2004). This aberrant Nav 1.3 channel is found mainly in the medial dorsal horn cells after peripheral nerve injury resulting in their hyperresponsiveness (Hains et al., 2004). cDNA array analysis also indicates changes in genes of various Na⁺ channels in the dorsal horn after nerve injury (Waxman et al., 2000a; Yang et al., 2004b). High voltage-activated Ca⁺⁺ channels L-, N-, P,Q-. and R-types are widely expressed throughout the spinal cord (Kerr et al., 1988). They regulate membrane excitability and neurotransmitter release and hence establish a major link between neuronal excitability and synaptic transmission (Miller, 1987). For these reasons, high voltage activated Ca⁺⁺ channels have been the focus of chronic pain studies. An up-regulation of Ca^{++} channel $\alpha 2\delta$ subunit in the dorsal horn was observed under different nerve injury models (Luo et al., 2002;Field et al., 2000; Snutch et al., 2001). Gabapentin, which has shown efficacy in different neuropathic pain syndromes (Nicholson, 2000) may mediate its analgesic effects through interaction with the $\alpha 2\delta$ subunit (Gee et al., 1996; Field et al., 2000; Luo et al., 2002). In the nerve terminals of primary afferent fibers in the superficial dorsal horn, N-type Ca⁺⁺ channels play an indispensible role in afferent transmission (Catterall, 1998;Westenbroek et al., 1998). After CCI there is upregulation of N-type Ca⁺⁺ channel α 1B-subunit in the outer as well as the inner part of lamina II, extending from the medial towards the lateral region (Cizkova et al., 2002). The importance of the spinally expressed N-type Ca⁺⁺ channels in

the development of hypersensitivity following nerve injury is confirmed by the efficacy of intrathecal N-type channel blockers in several models of nerve injury and the clinical use of synthetic ω -conotoxin (ziconotide) (Chaplan, 2000;Matthews and Dickenson, 2001;Snutch et al., 2001). There is also an up regulation of mRNA for L-type Ca⁺⁺ channel in DRG (Xiao et al., 2002) which could result in abnormal appearance of Lchannels in the primary afferent terminals. The afferent inputs can also recruit L-type Ca⁺⁺ channel plateau current, which contributes to phenomenon of wind-up, a cellular model of central sensitization (Russo et al., 1997;Russo and Hounsgaard, 1994;Perrier et al., 2002). In chapter 5 of this thesis, I explore the role of L-type Ca⁺⁺ in mediating the synaptic transmission of the *substantia gelatinosa* neurons after CCI.

Classically, glial cells were considered to perform house keeping functions in providing support to the neurons to maintain homeostasis. However, it is now established that glia play a more direct role in modulating neuronal transmission (Haydon, 2001;Watkins and Maier, 2003). Thus, they posses different ion channels and receptors and release several substances which in turn modify the functions of neurons (Bruce-Keller, 1999;Haydon, 2001;Coull et al., 2005;Tsuda et al., 2003;Tsuda et al., 2005). Moreover, they are also involved in the turnover of neurotransmitters and trophic factors. Garrison *et al* first reported the activation of spinal cord glia under conditions of nerve injury (Garrison et al., 1991). The likely role of glial-neuron interactions in mediating dorsal horn plasticity associated with neuropathic pain is a topic of intensive study (Coyle, 1998;Coull et al., 2005;Inoue et al., 2004;Tsuda et al., 2004;Tsuda et al., 2005). Affecting glial activation does not have an impact of normal pain behavior suggesting involvement of glial cells

only under pathological conditions (Milligan et al., 2003; Watkins and Maier, 2003). Glial and microglial hypertrophy in the dorsal horn (Eriksson et al., 1993;Coyle, 1998; Molander et al., 1997) has been reported after peripheral nerve injury. Moreover, spinal delivery of ATP-activated microglia induces allodynia in rats through disruption of anion homeostasis in the dorsal horn neurons, mimicking the peripheral nerve injury (Coull et al., 2003;Coull et al., 2005). The mediator involved has been identified to be BDNF, released from activated microglia and the inhibition of BDNF-TrkB signaling is thus able to reverse the tactile allodynia in rats (Coull et al., 2005). The microglia could be activated and in turn release several pronociceptive substances such as, glutamate, cytokines, NO, prostaglandins and ATP in addition to neurotrophins such as BDNF (Milligan et al., 2003; Watkins and Maier, 2002; Coull et al., 2005; Tsuda et al., 2005). These pain mediators could directly activate the dorsal horn neurons, might induce cell death of inhibitory neurons, and/or could activate abnormal release of neurotransmitters in synaptic sites (Milligan et al., 2003; Watkins et al., 2001; Watkins and Maier, 2003). The activated microglia also expresses several protein molecules including P2X4 receptors, P38 mitogen activated protein kinase, chemotactic cytokine receptor 2, cannabinoid receptor CB2, major histocompatability complex (MHC) class II protein, which have been suggested to be responsible for neuropathic pain behavior (Inoue et al., 2004;Tsuda et al., 2004;Tsuda et al., 2005). Inhibition or activation (CB2) of these proteins has been shown to reverse the evoked pain behaviors in various animal models (Cravatt and Lichtman, 2004;Tsuda et al., 2005). In addition, direct inhibitors of glial activation are effective in blocking allodynia and hyperalgesia in different animal models (Raghavendra et al., 2003; Watkins and Maier, 2003). Hence, inhibiting glia-neuronal
signaling could be exploited for novel therapeutic interventions for neuropathic pain. Many drugs that target neurons are ineffective in managing neuropathic pain, hence It has been suggested that the immune and microglial system may present more appropriate targets (Watkins et al., 1995; Watkins and Maier, 2003; Watkins and Maier, 2002).

1.8 Hypothesis:

Molecular and electrophysiological studies have thus identified several underlying mechanisms for central sensitization in the dorsal horn including attenuation of GABAergic inhibition (Moore et al., 2002; Baba et al., 2003), changes in chloride equilibrium potential (Coull et al., 2003; Baba et al., 2003), upregulation of rapidly repriming Na⁺ channels (Hains et al., 2004), changes in protein kinases, amino acid receptors, src, extracelluar regulated kinases, and cAMP response element binding protein (Kawasaki et al., 2004), ATP activation of microglia (Tsuda et al., 2003) and alterations in 'wind-up' mediated via NMDA-receptors (Baranauskas and Nistri, 1998). Although all such cellular changes are conducive to increased excitability, their exact relationship to global, injury-induced changes in dorsal horn activity, as monitored by extracellular recording techniques (Laird and Bennett, 1993; Dalal et al., 1999; Hao et al., 2004), remains to be established. Moreover, the morphological (Gobel, 1978a;Gobel, 1978b), immunohistochemical (Todd and Spike, 1993) and electrophysiological properties of dorsal horn neurons are far from homogeneous (Grudt and Perl, 2002; Thomson et al., 1989; Prescott and de Koninck, 2002; Graham et al., 2004; Lu and Perl, 2005; Dougherty et al., 2005) and it is yet to be determined whether all neuronal types are affected similarly by peripheral nerve injury. Hence, my primary hypothesis is

that <u>Peripheral nerve injury results in cell-type specific changes in the Substantia</u> <u>Gelatinosa neurons of the dorsal horn in such a way that the global excitability is</u> enhanced.

To address these issues, first I have characterized multiple cell types in the *substantia gelatinosa* neurons based on their action potential firing properties at -60mV holding potential. Voltage clamp experiments were carried out to determine any underlying potassium currents were responsible for exhibiting a particular firing property. Spontaneous and miniature synaptic currents were recorded for different cell types. These electrophysiological properties were then correlated with the morphology, especially with their dendritic orientations of the different neuronal types.

Secondly, nerve injury was induced in 20 days old rats using the modified chronic constriction injury model developed by Mosconi and Kruger. The mechanical hypersensitivity was evaluated using the Von Frey hair technique. The animals exhibiting enhanced mechanical sensitivity were then subjected to the electrophysiological analysis, 13-25 days after CCI. Any changes in the membrane and synaptic properties of different neuronal types were then analyzed.

Gene array studies have suggested that nerve injury results in an increase in the messages for proteins involved in neurotransmitter relase and ion channels such as L-type Ca⁺⁺ channels (Xiao et al., 2002;Yang et al., 2004b). Hence particular attention is paid to study

any alteration in the spontaneous excitatory transmission in different cells types and any changes in L-type Ca^{++} channels after CCI.

Table 1.1: Morphological Features and the Firing Patterns of *Substantia Gelatinosa* neurons.

Authors	Predominant Dendritic Orientation	Rostro-Caudal				Dorso ventr)- al	In all direction	Medio- lateral
Grudt, Lu, Hantman and Perl in hamster rat, and GFP mice	Morphological Class	Islet		Central		Vertical		Radial	Medio- lateral
	Major firing pattern	Tonic		Transient (Phasic)		Delay or Tonic		Delay	Tonic
	Minor firing pattern			Tonic		Irregular			
	Functional Phenotype	Inhibitory		Phasic Excitatory? Tonic Inhibitory		Excita	atory		
Gobel in cat spinal trigeminal cuadalis	Morphological class	Islet Arbo		oreal II-III border		Stalked			
	Inhibitory Vs excitatory Functional Phenotype	Inhibitory				Excita	atory		
Todd et al. in rat	Morphological class	Large Islet		Small Islet		Stalked			
	Functional Phenotype	Inhibitory		Excitatory		Excitatory			
Bennet and	Morphological class	Islet Inhibitory			Stalked				
Dubner in cat	Functional Phenotype					Excitatory			
Schoenen in human	Morphological class	Islet				Fila men tous	curly	Stellate	
Raymon Cajal in cat	Morphological class	Central				Limitroph or Vertical			Transverse
Heinke et al. in GFP mice Note: No correlation in morpholog y and firing pattern	Morphological class	Islet/Central				Vertical		Radial	
	Functional Phenotype	Inhibitory							
	Firing pattern	Initial bursting (Phasic)				Delay		Gap firing	

.

61

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Figure 1.1

63

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



64

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

1.9 References

Abdulla FA, Moran TD, Balasubramanyan S, Smith PA (2003) Effects and consequences of nerve injury on the electrical properties of sensory neurons. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 81: 663-682.

Abdulla FA, Smith PA (1998) Axotomy reduces the effect of analgesic opioids yet increases the effect of nociceptin on dorsal root ganglion neurons. J Neurosci 18: 9685-9694.

Abdulla FA, Smith PA (2001a) Axotomy and Autotomy-Induced Changes in the Excitability of Rat Dorsal Root Ganglion Neurons. J Neurophysiol 85: 630-643.

Abdulla FA, Smith PA (2001b) Axotomy- and Autotomy-Induced Changes in Ca^{2+} and K⁺ Channel Currents of Rat Dorsal Root Ganglion Neurons. J Neurophysiol 85: 644-658.

Abdulla FA, Smith PA (2002) Changes in Na⁺ channel currents of rat dorsal root ganglion neurons following axotomy and axotomy-induced autotomy. J Neurophysiol 88 : 2518-2529.

Abdulla FA, Stebbing MJ, Smith PA (2001) Effects of substance P on excitability and ionic currents of normal and axotomized rat dorsal root ganglion neurons. Eur J Neurosci 13: 545-552.

Albuquerque C, Lee CJ, Jackson AC, MacDermott AB (1999) Subpopulations of GABAergic and non-GABAergic rat dorsal horn neurons express Ca2+-permeable AMPA receptors. Eur J Neurosci 11: 2758-2766.

Alvarez FJ, Kavookjian AM, Light AR (1992) Synaptic interactions between GABAimmunoreactive profiles and the terminals of functionally defined myelinated nociceptors in the monkey and cat spinal cord. J Neurosci 12: 2901-2917.

Amir R, Devor M (1993) Ongoing activity in neuroma afferents bearing retrograde sprouts. Brain Res 630: 283-288.

Amir R, Michaelis M, Devor M (2002) Burst discharge in primary sensory neurons: triggered by subthreshold oscillations, maintained by depolarizing afterpotentials. J Neurosci 22: 1187-1198.

Amir R, Kocsis JD, Devor M (2005) Multiple Interacting Sites of Ectopic Spike Electrogenesis in Primary Sensory Neurons. Journal of Neuroscience 25: 2576-2585.

Antal M, Freund TF, Polgar E (1990) Calcium-binding proteins, parvalbumin- and calbindin-D 28k-immunoreactive neurons in the rat spinal cord and dorsal root ganglia: a light and electron microscopic study. J Comp Neurol 295: 467-484.

Antal M, Polgar E, Chalmers J, Minson JB, Llewellyn-Smith I, Heizmann CW, Somogyi P (1991) Subpopulations of GABAergic and non-GABAergic rat dorsal horn neurons express Ca2+ permeable AMPA receptors. J Comp Neurol 314: 114-124.

Apkarian AV, Shi T (1994) Squirrel monkey lateral thalamus. I. Somatic nociresponsive neurons and their relation to spinothalamic terminals. J Neurosci 14: 6779-6795.

Arvidsson J, Ygge J, Grant G (1986) Cell loss in lumbar dorsal root ganglia and transganglionic degeneration after sciatic nerve resection in the rat. Brain Res 373: 15-21.

Attal N, Bouhassira D (2004) Can pain be more or less neuropathic? Pain 110: 510-511.

Attal N, Jazat F, Kayser V, Guilbaud G (1990) Further evidence for 'pain-related' behaviours in a model of unilateral peripheral mononeuropathy. Pain 41: 235-251.

Averill S, McMahon SB, Clary DO, Reichardt LF, Priestley JV (1995) Immunocytochemical localization of trkA receptors in chemically identified subgroups of adult rat sensory neurons. Eur J Neurosci 7: 1484-1494.

Azkue JJ, Zimmermann M, Hsieh TF, Herdegen T (1998) Peripheral nerve insult induces NMDA receptor-mediated, delayed degeneration in spinal neurons. Eur J Neurosci 10: 2204-2206.

Baba H, Doubell TP, Woolf CJ (1999) Peripheral inflammation facilitates Ab fibermediated synaptic input to the substantia gelatinosa of the adult rat spinal cord. J Neurosci 19: 859-867.

Baba H, Ji RR, Kohno T, Moore KA, Ataka T, Wakai A, Okamoto M, Woolf CJ (2003) Removal of GABAergic inhibition facilitates polysynaptic A fiber-mediated excitatory transmission to the superficial spinal dorsal horn. Mol Cell Neurosci 24: 818-830.

Baccei ML, Kocsis JD (2000) Voltage-Gated Calcium Currents in Axotomized Adult Rat Cutaneous Afferent Neurons. J Neurophysiol, 83: 2227-2238.

Baccei ML, Fitzgerald M (2004) Development of GABAergic and Glycinergic Transmission in the Neonatal Rat Dorsal Horn. Journal of Neuroscience 24: 4749-4757.

Bach FW, Jensen TS, Kastrup J, Stigsby B, Dejgard A (1990) The effect of intravenous lidocaine on nociceptive processing in diabetic neuropathy. Pain 40: 29-34.

Backonja MM (2003) Defining neuropathic pain. Anesth Analg 97: 785-790.

Baker MD, Chandra SY, Ding Y, Waxman SG, Wood JN (2003) GTP-induced tetrodotoxin-resistant Na+ current regulates excitability in mouse and rat small diameter sensory neurones. J Physiol 548: 373-382.

Bao L, Wang HF, Cai HJ, Tong YG, Jin SX, Lu YJ, Grant G, Hokfelt T, Zhang X (2002) Peripheral axotomy induces only very limited sprouting of coarse myelinated afferents into inner lamina II of rat spinal cord. Eur J Neurosci 16: 175-185.

Baranauskas G, Nistri A (1998) Sensitization of pain pathways in the spinal cord: cellular mechanisms. Prog Neurobiol 54: 349-365.

Beal JA, Knight DS, Nandi KN (1988) Structure and development of central arborizations of hair follicle primary afferent fibers. Anat Embryol (Berl) 178: 271-279.

Beggs SA, Coull JAM, Boivin D, Boudreau D, Salter MW, de Koninck Y (2004) Activated microglia induce tactile allodynia in the rat through a disruption of anion homeostasis in dorsal horn lamina I neurons. 2004 Abstract Viewer/Itinerary Planner Washington, DC: Society for Neuroscience, 2004 Online Program No. 292.13.

Bennett DL, Michael GJ, Ramachandran N, Munson JB, Averill S, Yan Q, McMahon SB, Priestley JV (1998) A distinct subgroup of small DRG cells express GDNF receptor components and GDNF is protective for these neurons after nerve injury. J Neurosci 18: 3059-3072.

Bennett GJ (2003) Neuropathic pain: a crisis of definition? Anesth Analg 97: 619-620.

Bennett GJ (2005) Animal models and their clinical implications. In: The paths of Pain 1975-2005 (Merskey H, Loeser JD, Dubner R, eds), pp 243-252. Seattle: IASP Press.

Bennett GJ, Abdelmoumene M, Hayashi H, Dubner R (1980) Physiology and morphology of substantia gelatinosa neurons intracellularly stained with horseradish peroxidase. J Comp Neurol 194: 809-827.

Bennett GJ, Hayashi H, Abdelmoumene M, Dubner R (1979) Physiological properties of stalked cells of the substantia gelatinosa intracellularly stained with horseradish peroxidase. Brain Res 164: 285-289.

Bennett GJ, Xie Y-K (1988) A peripheral mononeuropathy in rat that produces disorders of pain sensation like those seen in man. Pain 33: 87-107.

Bernard JF, Dallel R, Raboisson P, Villanueva L, Le Bars D (1995) Organization of the efferent projections from the spinal cervical enlargement to the parabrachial area and periaqueductal gray: a PHA-L study in the rat. J Comp Neurol 353: 480-505.

Bernardi PS, Valtschanoff JG, Weinberg RJ, Schmidt HH, Rustioni A (1995) Synaptic interactions between primary afferent terminals and GABA and nitric oxide-synthesizing neurons in superficial laminae of the rat spinal cord. J Neurosci 15: 1363-1371.

Besson JM, Chaouch A (1987) Peripheral and spinal mechanisms of nociception. Physiol Rev 67: 67-186.

Bessou P, Burgess PR, Perl ER, Taylor CB (1971) Dynamic properties of mechanoreceptors with unmyelinated (C) fibers. J Neurophysiol 34: 116-131.

Bessou P, Perl ER (1969) Response of cutaneous sensory units with unmyelinated fibers to noxious stimuli. J Neurophysiol 32: 1025-1043.

Bester H, Chapman V, Besson JM, Bernard JF (2000) Physiological properties of the lamina I spinoparabrachial neurons in the rat. J Neurophysiol 83: 2239-2259.

Blackburn-Munro G (2004) Pain-like behaviours in animals - how human are they? Trends in Pharmacological Sciences 25: 299-305.

Bleazard L, Hill RG, Morris R (1994) The correlation between the distribution of the NK1 receptor and the actions of tachykinin agonists in the dorsal horn of the rat indicates that substance P does not have a functional role on substantia gelatinosa (lamina II) neurons. J Neurosci 14: 7655-7664.

Braz JM, Nassar MA, Wood JN, Basbaum AI (2005) Parallel "pain" pathways arise from subpopulations of primary afferent nociceptor. Neuron 47: 787-793.

Brenner GJ, Ji RR, Shaffer S, Woolf CJ (2004) Peripheral noxious stimulation induces phosphorylation of the NMDA receptor NR1 subunit at the PKC-dependent site, serine-896, in spinal cord dorsal horn neurons. Eur J Neurosci 20: 375-384.

Bruce-Keller AJ (1999) Microglial-neuronal interactions in synaptic damage and recovery. J Neurosci Res 58: 191-201.

Burgess PR, Perl ER (1967) Myelinated afferent fibres responding specifically to noxious stimulation of the skin. J Physiol 190: 541-562.

Cafferty WB, Gardiner NJ, Gavazzi I, Powell J, McMahon SB, Heath JK, Munson J, Cohen J, Thompson SW (2001) Leukemia inhibitory factor determines the growth status of injured adult sensory neurons. J Neurosci 21: 7161-7170.

Campbell JN, LaMotte RH (1983) Latency to detection of first pain. Brain Res 266: 203-208.

Cardenas LM, Cardenas CG, Scroggs RS (2001) 5HT increases excitability of nociceptor-like rat dorsal root ganglion neurons via cAMP-coupled TTX-resistant Na(+) channels. J Neurophysiol 86: 241-248.

Castro-Lopes JM, Coimbra A, Grant G, Arvidsson J (1990) Ultrastructural changes of the central scalloped (C1) primary afferent endings of synaptic glomeruli in the substantia gelatinosa Rolandi of the rat after peripheral neurotomy. J Neurocytol 19: 329-337.

Castro-Lopes JM, Malcangio M, Pan BH, Bowery NG (1995) Complex changes of GABAA and GABAB receptor binding in the spinal cord dorsal horn following peripheral inflammation or neurectomy. Brain Res 679: 289-297.

Castro-Lopes JM, Tavares I, Coimbra A (1993) GABA decreases in the spinal cord dorsal horn after peripheral neurectomy. Brain Res 620: 287-291.

Catterall WA (1998) Structure and function of neuronal Ca2+ channels and their role in neurotransmitter release. Cell Calcium 24: 307-323.

Cervero F (1987) Dorsal horn neurons and their sensory inputs. In: Spinal afferents processing, ed. Yaksh TL pp 197-216. New York: Plenum press.

Cervero F, Laird JM (1996a) Mechanisms of allodynia: interactions between sensitive mechanoreceptors and nociceptors. Neuroreport 7: 526-528.

Cervero F, Laird JM (1996b) Mechanisms of touch-evoked pain (allodynia): a new model. Pain 68: 13-23.

Cervero F, Laird JM, Garcia-Nicas E (2003) Secondary hyperalgesia and presynaptic inhibition: an update. Eur J Pain 7: 345-351.

Cervero F, Meyer RA, Campbell JN (1994) A psychophysical study of secondary hyperalgesia: evidence for increased pain to input from nociceptors. Pain 58: 21-28.

Chacur M, Milligan ED, Gazda LS, Armstrong C, Wang H, Tracey KJ, Maier SF, Watkins LR (2001) A new model of sciatic inflammatory neuritis (SIN): induction of unilateral and bilateral mechanical allodynia following acute unilateral peri-sciatic immune activation in rats. Pain 94: 231-244.

Chaplan SR (2000) Neuropathic pain: role of voltage-dependent calcium channels. Reg Anesth Pain Med 25: 283-285.

Chaplan SR, Malmberg AB, Yaksh TL (1997) Efficacy of spinal NMDA receptor antagonism in formalin hyperalgesia and nerve injury evoked allodynia in the rat. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 280: 829-838.

Chaplan SR, Guo HQ, Lee DH, Luo L, Liu C, Kuei C, Velumian AA, Butler MP, Brown SM, Dubin AE (2003) Neuronal Hyperpolarization-Activated Pacemaker Channels Drive Neuropathic Pain. Journal of Neuroscience 23: 1169-1178.

Chery N, de Koninck Y (1999) Junctional versus extrajunctional glycine and GABA(A) receptor-mediated IPSCs in identified lamina I neurons of the adult rat spinal cord. J Neurosci 19: 7342-7355.

Choi Y, Yoon YW, Na HS, Kim SH, Chung JM (1994) Behavioral signs of ongoing pain and cold allodynia in a rat model of neuropathic pain. Pain 59: 369-376.

Christensen BN, Perl ER (1970) Spinal neurons specifically excited by noxious or thermal stimuli: marginal zone of the dorsal horn. J Neurophysiol 33: 293-307.

Chung K, Kevetter GA, Willis WD, Coggeshall RE (1984) An estimate of the ratio of propriospinal to long tract neurons in the sacral spinal cord of the rat. Neurosci Lett 44: 173-177.

Cizkova D, Marsala D, Lukacova N, Marsala M, Jergova S, Orendacova J, Yaksh TL (2002) Localization of N-type Ca²⁺ channels in the rat spinal cord following chronic constriction injury. Exp Brain Res 147: 456-463.

Coderre TJ, Grimes RW, Melzack R (1986) Deafferentation and chronic pain in animals: an evaluation of evidence suggesting autotomy is related to pain. Pain 26: 61-84.

Coderre TJ, Melzack R (1986) Procedures which increase acute pain sensitivity also increase autotomy. Exp Neurol 92: 713-722.

Coggeshall RE (2005) Fos, nociception and the dorsal horn. Prog Neurobiol 77: 299-352.

Coggeshall RE, Dougherty PM, Pover CM, Carlton SM (1993) Is large myelinated fiber loss associated with hyperalgesia in a model of experimental peripheral neuropathy in the rat? Pain 52: 233-242.

Coggeshall RE, Lekan HA, Doubell TP, Allchorne A, Woolf CJ (1997) Central changes in primary afferent fibers following peripheral nerve lesions. Neuroscience 77: 1115-1122.

Coggeshall RE, Lekan HA, White FA, Woolf CJ (2001) A-fiber sensory input induces neuronal cell death in the dorsal horn of the adult rat spinal cord. J Comp Neurol 435: 276-282.

Coimbra A, Ribeiro-da-Silva A, Pignatelli D (1986) Rexed's laminae and the acid phosphatase (FRAP)-band in the superficial dorsal horn of the neonatal rat spinal cord. Neurosci Lett 71: 131-136.

Cordero-Erausquin M, Coull JA, Boudreau D, Rolland M, de Koninck Y (2005) Differential maturation of GABA action and anion reversal potential in spinal lamina I neurons: impact of chloride extrusion capacity. J Neurosci 25: 9613-9623.

Costigan M, Woolf CJ (2000) Pain: molecular mechanisms. J Pain 1: 35-44.

Coull JA, Beggs S, Boudreau D, Boivin D, Tsuda M, Inoue K, Gravel C, Salter MW, de Koninck Y (2005) BDNF from microglia causes the shift in neuronal anion gradient underlying neuropathic pain. Nature 438: 1017-1021.

Coull JA, Boudreau D, Bachand K, Prescott SA, Nault F, Sik A, De Koninck P, de Koninck Y (2003) Trans-synaptic shift in anion gradient in spinal lamina I neurons as a mechanism of neuropathic pain. Nature 424: 938-942.

Courteix C, Bardin M, Chantelauze C, Lavarenne J, Eschalier A (1994) Study of the sensitivity of the diabetes-induced pain model in rats to a range of analgesics. Pain 57: 153-160.

Coyle DE (1998) Partial peripheral nerve injury leads to activation of astroglia and microglia which parallels the development of allodynic behavior. Glia 23: 75-83.

Craig AD (1995) Distribution of brainstem projections from spinal lamina I neurons in the cat and the monkey. J Comp Neurol 361: 225-248.

Craig AD (2000) The functional anatomy of lamina I and its role in post-stroke central pain. Prog Brain Res 129: 137-151.

Craig AD, Bushnell MC (1994) The thermal grill illusion: unmasking the burn of cold pain. Science 265: 252-255.

Craig AD, Dostrovsky J (1999) Medulla to Thalamus. In: Textbook of Pain (Wall P.D, Melzack R, eds), pp 183-214. Churchill Livingstone: Toronto.

Craig AD, Dostrovsky JO (2001) Differential projections of thermoreceptive and nociceptive lamina I trigeminothalamic and spinothalamic neurons in the cat. J Neurophysiol 86: 856-870.

Craig AD, Krout K, Andrew D (2001) Quantitative response characteristics of thermoreceptive and nociceptive lamina I spinothalamic neurons in the cat. J Neurophysiol 86: 1459-1480.

Craig AD, Serrano LP (1994) Effects of systemic morphine on lamina I spinothalamic tract neurons in the cat. Brain Res 636: 233-244.

Cravatt BF, Lichtman AH (2004) The endogenous cannabinoid system and its role in nociceptive behavior. J Neurobiol 61: 149-160.

Cummins TR, Dib-Hajj SD, Black J, Waxman S (2000a) Altered excitability of largediameter cutaneous afferents following nerve injury: consequences for chronic pain. In: Proceedings of the 9th World Congress on Pain (Devor M, Rowbotham MC, Wiesenfeld-Hallin Z, eds), pp 119-135. Seattle: IASP Press.

Cummins TR, Dib-Hajj SD, Black J, Waxman S (2000b) Sodium channels as molecular targets in pain. In: Proceedings of the 9th World Congress on Pain (Devor M, Rowbotham MC, Wiesenfeld-Hallin Z, eds), pp 77-91. Seattle: IASP Press.

Dahlhaus A, Ruscheweyh R, Sandkuhler J (2005) Synaptic input of rat spinal lamina I projection and unidentified neurones in vitro. J Physiol 566: 355-368.

Dalal A, Tata M, Allègre G, Gekiere F, Bons N, Albe-Fessard D (1999) Spontaneous activity of rat dorsal horn cells in spinal segments of sciatic projection following transection of sciatic nerve or of corresponding dorsal roots. Neuroscience 94: 217-228.

de N, V, Siniscalco D, Galderisi U, Fuccio C, Nolano M, Santoro L, Cascino A, Roth KA, Rossi F, Maione S (2004) Blockade of glutamate mGlu5 receptors in a rat model of neuropathic pain prevents early over-expression of pro-apoptotic genes and morphological changes in dorsal horn lamina II. Neuropharmacology 46: 468-479.

Decosterd I, Woolf CJ (2000) Spared nerve injury: an animal model of persistent peripheral neuropathic pain. Pain 87: 149-158.

DeLeo JA, Coombs DW, Willenbring S, Colburn RW, Fromm C, Wagner R, Twitchell BB (1994) Characterization of a neuropathic pain model: sciatic cryoneurolysis in the rat. Pain 56: 9-16.

Devor M, Seltzer Z (1999) Pathophysiology of damaged nerves in relation to chronic pain. In: Textbook of pain (Wall P.D, Melzack R, eds), pp 129-164. Toronto: Churchill Livingstone.

Devor M, Wall PD (1976) Type of sensory nerve fibre sprouting to form a neuroma. Nature 262: 705-708.

Devor M, Wall PD (1981) Plasticity in the spinal cord sensory map following peripheral nerve injury in rats. J Neurosci 1: 679-684.

Ding YQ, Takada M, Shigemoto R, Mizumo N (1995) Spinoparabrachial tract neurons showing substance P receptor-like immunoreactivity in the lumbar spinal cord of the rat. Brain Res 674: 336-340.

Djouhri L, Bleazard L, Lawson SN (1998) Association of somatic action potential shape with sensory receptive properties in guinea-pig dorsal root ganglion neurones. J Physiol 513 (Pt 3): 857-872.

Djouhri L, Lawson SN (2004) Abeta-fiber nociceptive primary afferent neurons: a review of incidence and properties in relation to other afferent A-fiber neurons in mammals. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 46: 131-145.

Dostrovsky JO, Craig AD (1996) Cooling-specific spinothalamic neurons in the monkey. J Neurophysiol 76: 3656-3665.

Dostrovsky JO, Shah Y, Gray BG (1983) Descending inhibitory influences from periaqueductal gray, nucleus raphe magnus, and adjacent reticular formation. II. Effects on medullary dorsal horn nociceptive and nonnociceptive neurons. J Neurophysiol 49: 948-960.

Doubell TP, Mannion RJ, Woolf C.J (1999) The dorsal horn: state-dependent sensory processing, plasticity and the generation of pain. In: Textbook of Pain (Wall P.D, Melzack R, eds), pp 165-181. Toronto: Churchill Livingstone.

Dougherty KJ, Sawchuk MA, Hochman S (2005) Properties of mouse spinal lamina I GABAergic interneurons. J Neurophysiol 00184.

Dougherty PM, Willis WD (1992) Enhanced responses of spinothalamic tract neurons to excitatory amino acids accompany capsaicin-induced sensitization in the monkey. J Neurosci 12: 883-894.

Dubner R, Bennett GJ (1983) Spinal and trigeminal mechanisms of nociception. Annu Rev Neurosci 6: 381-418.

Ekblom A, Hansson P (1993) When is "pain" appropriate? Pain 55: 403.

Eriksson NP, Persson JK, Svensson M, Arvidsson J, Molander C, Aldskogius H (1993) A quantitative analysis of the microglial cell reaction in central primary sensory projection territories following peripheral nerve injury in the adult rat. Exp Brain Res 96: 19-27.

Everill B, Cummins TR, Waxman SG, Kocsis JD (2001) Sodium currents of large (Abeta-type) adult cutaneous afferent dorsal root ganglion neurons display rapid recovery from inactivation before and after axotomy. Neuroscience 106: 161-169.

Felts PA, Yokoyama S, Dib-Hajj S, Black JA, Waxman SG (1997) Sodium channel alpha-subunit mRNAs I, II, III, NaG, Na6 and hNE (PN1): different expression patterns in developing rat nervous system. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 45: 71-82.

Field MJ, Hughes J, Singh L (2000) Further evidence for the role of the alpha(2)delta subunit of voltage dependent calcium channels in models of neuropathic pain. Br J Pharmacol 131: 282-286.

Fields HL, Basbaum AI (1999) Central nervous system mechanisms of pain modulation. In: Textbook of Pain (Wall P.D, Melzack R, eds), pp 309-329. Edinburgh, London: Churchill Livingstone.

Fitzgerald M, Lynn B (1977) The sensitization of high threshold mechanoreceptors with myelinated axons by repeated heating. J Physiol 265: 549-563.

Fitzgerald M, Vrbova G (1985) Plasticity of acid phosphatase (FRAP) afferent terminal fields and of dorsal horn cell growth in the neonatal rat. J Comp Neurol 240: 414-422.

Fitzgerald M, Woolf CJ (1981) Effects of cutaneous nerve and intraspinal conditioning of C-fibre afferent terminal excitability in decerebrate spinal rats. J Physiol 318: 25-39.

Fyffe REW (1992) Laminar organisation of primary afferent terminations in the mammalian spinal cord. In: Sensory Neurones:Diversity, Development and Plasticity pp 131-139. NewYork: Oxford University Press.

Galhardo V, Lima D (1999) Structural characterization of marginal (lamina I) spinal cord neurons in the cat: a Golgi study. J Comp Neurol 414: 315-333.

Garrison CJ, Dougherty PM, Kajander KC, Carlton SM (1991) Staining of glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) in lumbar spinal cord increases following a sciatic nerve constriction injury. Brain Res 565: 1-7.

Garry EM, Moss A, Rosie R, Delaney A, Mitchell R, Fleetwood-Walker SM (2003) Specific involvement in neuropathic pain of AMPA receptors and adapter proteins for the GluR2 subunit. Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience 24: 10-22.

Gee NS, Brown JP, Dissanayake VU, Offord J, Thurlow R, Woodruff GN (1996) The novel anticonvulsant drug, gabapentin (Neurontin), binds to the alpha2delta subunit of a calcium channel. J Biol Chem 271: 5768-5776.

Geiger JR, Melcher T, Koh DS, Sakmann B, Seeburg PH, Jonas P, Monyer H (1995) Relative abundance of subunit mRNAs determines gating and Ca2+ permeability of AMPA receptors in principal neurons and interneurons in rat CNS. Neuron 15: 193-204.

Giesler GJ, Jr., Cannon JT, Urca G, Liebeskind JC (1978) Long ascending projections from substantia gelatinosa Rolandi and the subjacent dorsal horn in the rat. Science 202: 984-986.

Global Information, Inc. US NEUROPATHIC PAIN. <u>http://www.the-infoshop.com</u> . 2004.

Ref Type: Internet Communication

Gobel S (1975) Golgi studies in the substantia gelatinosa neurons in the spinal trigeminal nucleus. J Comp Neurol 162: 397-415.

Gobel S (1978a) Golgi studies of the neurons in layer II of the dorsal horn of the medulla (trigeminal nucleus caudalis. J Comp Neurol 180: 395-414.

Gobel S (1978b) Golgi studies of the trigeminal neurons in layer I of the dorsal horn of the medulla (trigeminal nucleus caudalis). J Comp Neurol 180: 375-394.

Gobel S, Falls WM (1979) Anatomical observations of horseradish peroxidase-filled terminal primary axonal arborizations in layer II of the substantia gelatinosa of Rolando. Brain Res 175: 335-340.

Gold MS (1999) Tetrodotoxin-resistant Na+ currents and inflammatory hyperalgesia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96: 7645-7649.

Gold MS, Levine JD (1996) DAMGO inhibits prostaglandin E2-induced potentiation of a TTX-resistant Na+ current in rat sensory neurons in vitro. Neurosci Lett 212: 83-86.

Govrin-Lippmann R, Devor M (1978) Ongoing activity in severed nerves: source and variation with time. Brain Res 159: 406-410.

Graham BA, Brichta AM, Callister RJ (2004) In vivo responses of mouse superficial dorsal horn neurones to both current injection and peripheral cutaneous stimulation. J Physiol (Lond) 561: 749-763.

Grudt TJ, Perl ER (2002) Correlations between neuronal morphology and electrophysiological features in the rodent superficial dorsal horn. J Physiol 540: 189-207.

Hains BC, Black JA, Waxman SG (2002) Primary motor neurons fail to up-regulate voltage-gated sodium channel Na(v)1.3/brain type III following axotomy resulting from spinal cord injury. J Neurosci Res 70: 546-552.

Hains BC, Saab CY, Klein JP, Craner MJ, Waxman SG (2004) Altered Sodium Channel Expression in Second-Order Spinal Sensory Neurons Contributes to Pain after Peripheral Nerve Injury. Journal of Neuroscience 24: 4832-4839.

Han ZS, Zhang ET, Craig AD (1998) Nociceptive and thermoreceptive lamina I neurons are anatomically distinct. Nat Neurosci 1: 218-225.

Hansson P (2003) Difficulties in stratifying neuropathic pain by mechanisms. Eur J Pain 7: 353-357.

Hantman AW, van den Pol AN, Perl ER (2004) Morphological and Physiological Features of a Set of Spinal Substantia Gelatinosa Neurons Defined by Green Fluorescent Protein Expression. Journal of Neuroscience 24: 836-842.

Hao JX, Xu XJ, Aldskogius H, Seiger A, Wiesenfeld-Hallin Z (1991) Allodynia-like effects in rat after ischaemic spinal cord injury photochemically induced by laser irradiation. Pain 45: 175-185.

Hao JX, Xu XJ, Yu YX, Seiger A, Wiesenfeld-Hallin Z (1992) Baclofen reverses the hypersensitivity of dorsal horn wide dynamic range neurons to mechanical stimulation after transient spinal cord ischemia; implications for a tonic GABAergic inhibitory control of myelinated fiber input. J Neurophysiol 68: 392-396.

Hao JX, Kupers RC, Xu XJ (2004) Response Characteristics of Spinal Cord Dorsal Horn Neurons in Chronic Allodynic Rats After Spinal Cord Injury. J Neurophysiol 92: 1391-1399.

Harper AA, Lawson SN (1985) Conduction velocity is related to morphological cell type in rat dorsal root ganglion neurones. J Physiol (Lond) 359: 31-46.

Harper SJ, LoGrasso P (2001) Signalling for survival and death in neurones: the role of stress-activated kinases, JNK and p38. Cell Signal 13: 299-310.

Harris JA, Corsi M, Quartaroli M, Arban R, Bentivoglio M (1996) Upregulation of spinal glutamate receptors in chronic pain. Neuroscience 74: 7-12.

Haydon PG (2001) GLIA: listening and talking to the synapse. Nat Rev Neurosci 2: 185-193. Hayes RL, Price DD, Ruda M, Dubner R (1979) Suppression of nociceptive responses in the primate by electrical stimulation of the brain or morphine administration: behavioral and electrophysiological comparisons. Brain Res 167: 417-421.

Heinke B, Ruscheweyh R, Forsthuber L, Wunderbaldinger G, Sandkuhler J (2004) Physiological, neurochemical and morphological properties of a subgroup of GABAergic spinal lamina II neurones identified by expression of green fluorescent protein in mice. J Physiol 560: 249-266.

Hu P, McLachlan EM (2001) Long-term changes in the distribution of galanin in dorsal root ganglia after sciatic or spinal nerve transection in rats. Neuroscience 103: 1059-1071.

Hu P, McLachlan EM (2002) Macrophage and lymphocyte invasion of dorsal root ganglia after peripheral nerve lesions in the rat. Neuroscience 112: 23-38.

Hughes DI, Scott DT, Todd AJ, Riddell JS (2003) Lack of Evidence for Sprouting of A {beta} Afferents into the Superficial Laminas of the Spinal Cord Dorsal Horn after Nerve Section. Journal of Neuroscience 23: 9491-9499.

Hunt SP, Kelly JS, Emson PC, Kimmel JR, Miller RJ, Wu JY (1981) An immunohistochemical study of neuronal populations containing neuropeptides or gamma-aminobutyrate within the superficial layers of the rat dorsal horn. Neuroscience 6: 1883-1898.

Iadarola MJ, Caudle RM (2002) Good pain, bad pain. Science 278: 239-240.

Ibuki T, Hama AT, Wang XT, Pappas GD, Sagen J (1997) Loss of GABAimmunoreactivity in the spinal dorsal horn of rats with peripheral nerve injury and promotion of recovery by adrenal medullary grafts. Neuroscience 76: 845-858.

Ikeda H, Heinke B, Ruscheweyh R, Sandkuhler J (2003) Synaptic Plasticity in Spinal Lamina I Projection Neurons That Mediate Hyperalgesia. Science 299: 1237.

Inoue K, Tsuda M, Koizumi S (2004) Chronic pain and microglia: the role of ATP. Novartis Found Symp 261: 55-64.

Ishikawa K, Tanaka M, Black JA, Waxman SG (1999) Changes in expression of voltagegated potassium channels in dorsal root ganglion neurons following axotomy. Muscle Nerve 22: 502-507.

Ji RR, Baba H, Brenner GJ, Woolf CJ (1999) Nociceptive-specific activation of ERK in spinal neurons contributes to pain hypersensitivity. Nat Neurosci 2: 1114-1119.

Ji RR, Kohno T, Moore KA, Woolf CJ (2003) Central sensitization and LTP: do pain and memory share similar mechanisms? Trends Neurosci 26: 696-705.

Ji RR, Woolf CJ (2001) Neuronal plasticity and signal transduction in nociceptive neurons: implications for the initiation and maintenance of pathological pain. Neurobiol Dis 8: 1-10.

Jonas P, Racca C, Sakmann B, Seeburg PH, Monyer H (1994) Differences in Ca2+ permeability of AMPA-type glutamate receptor channels in neocortical neurons caused by differential GluR-B subunit expression. Neuron 12: 1281-1289.

Jones MG, Munson JB, Thompson SW (1999) A role for nerve growth factor in sympathetic sprouting in rat dorsal root ganglia. Pain 79: 21-29.

Kajander JC, Bennett GJ (1992) Onset of a painful peripheral neuropathy in rat: a partial and differential deafferentation and spontaneous discharge in A and A primary afferent neurons. J Neurophysiol, 68: 734-744.

Kangrga I, Jiang MC, Randic M (1991) Actions of (-)-baclofen on rat dorsal horn neurons. Brain Res 562: 265-275.

Kapadia SE, LaMotte CC (1987) Deafferentation-induced alterations in the rat dorsal horn: I. Comparison of peripheral nerve injury vs. rhizotomy effects on presynaptic, postsynaptic, and glial processes. J Comp Neurol 266: 183-197.

Kauppila T (1998) Correlation between autotomy-behaviour and current theories of neuropathic pain. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 23: 111-129.

Kawanishi K, Ueda H, Moriyasu M (2003) Aldose reductase inhibitors from the nature. Curr Med Chem 10: 1353-1374.

Kawasaki Y, Kohno T, Zhuang ZY, Brenner GJ, Wang H, Van Der MC, Befort K, Woolf CJ, Ji RR (2004) Ionotropic and metabotropic receptors, protein kinase A, protein kinase C, and Src contribute to C-fiber-induced ERK activation and cAMP response elementbinding protein phosphorylation in dorsal horn neurons, leading to central sensitization. J Neurosci 24: 8310-8321.

Kerr LM, Filloux F, Olivera BM, Jackson H, Wamsley JK (1988) Autoradiographic localization of calcium channels with [125I]omega-conotoxin in rat brain. Eur J Pharmacol 146: 181-183.

Khasabov SG, Rogers SD, Ghilardi JR, Peters CM, Mantyh PW, Simone DA (2002) Spinal neurons that possess the substance P receptor are required for the development of central sensitization. J Neurosci 22: 9086-9098.

Khasar SG, Gold MS, Levine JD (1998) A tetrodotoxin-resistant sodium current mediates inflammatory pain in the rat. Neurosci Lett 256: 17-20.

Kim KJ, Yoon YW, Chung JM (1997) Comparison of three rodent models of neropahic pain. Exp Brain Res 113: 200-206.

Kim SJ, Chung JM (1992) An experimental model for peripheral neuropathy produced by segmental nerve ligation in the rat. Pain 50: 355-363.

Kitchener PD, Wilson P, Snow PJ (1993) Selective labelling of primary sensory afferent terminals in lamina II of the dorsal horn by injection of Bandeiraea simplicifolia isolectin B4 into peripheral nerves. Neuroscience 54: 545-551.

Kohama I, Ishikawa K, Kocsis JD (2000) Synaptic reorganization in the substantia gelatinosa after peripheral nerve neuroma formation: aberrant innervation of lamina II neurons by A beta afferents. J Neurosci 20: 1538-1549.

Kohno T, Kumamoto E, Higashi H, Shimoji K, Yoshimura M (1999) Actions of opioids on excitatory and inhibitory transmission in substantia gelatinosa of adult rat spinal cord. J Physiol (Lond) 518: 803-813.

Kohno T, Moore KA, Baba H, Woolf CJ (2003) Peripheral nerve injury in the rat alters excitatory synaptic transmission in lamina II of the dorsal horn. J Physiol 548: 131-138.

Koltzenburg M, Lundberg LE, Torebjork HE (1992) Dynamic and static components of mechanical hyperalgesia in human hairy skin. Pain 51: 207-219.

Konig P, Engel AK, Singer W (1996) Integrator or coincidence detector? The role of the cortical neuron revisited. Trends Neurosci 19: 130-137.

Kontinen VK, Stanfa LC, Basu A, Dickenson AH (2001) Electrophysiologic evidence for increased endogenous gabaergic but not glycinergic inhibitory tone in the rat spinal nerve ligation model of neuropathy. Anesthesiology 94: 333-339.

Kontinen VS, Meert TF (2003) Predictive Validity of Neuropathic Pain Models in Pharmacological Studies with a Behavioral Outcome in the Rat: A Systematic Review. In: Proceedings of the 10th World Congress on Pain (Dostrovsky J, Carr DB, Koltzenburg M, eds), pp 489-498. IASP Press.

Kumazawa T, Perl ER (1978) Excitation of marginal and substantia gelatinosa neurons in the primate spinal cord: indications of their place in dorsal horn functional organization. J Comp Neurol 177: 417-434.

Kupers R, Nuytten D, Gybels J (1994) Comments on Maves et al., Pain, 54 (1993) 57-69. Pain 56: 119.

Lai J, Gold MS, Kim CS, Biana D, Ossipov MH, Hunterc JC, Porreca F (2002) Inhibition of neuropathic pain by decreased expression of the tetrodotoxin-resistant sodium channel, NaV1.8. Pain 95: 143-152.

Lai J, Hunter JC, Porreca F (2003) The role of voltage-gated sodium channels in neuropathic pain. Curr Opin Neurobiol 13: 291-297.

Lai J, Porreca F, Hunter JC, Gold MS (2004) Voltage-gated sodium channels and hyperalgesia. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 44: 371-397.

Laird JM, Bennett GJ (1993) An electrophysiological study of dorsal horn neurons in the spinal cord of rats with an experimental peripheral neuropathy. J Neurophysiol 69: 2072-2085.

Laird JM, Garcia-Nicas E, Delpire EJ, Cervero F (2004) Presynaptic inhibition and spinal pain processing in mice: a possible role of the NKCC1 cation-chloride co-transporter in hyperalgesia. Neurosci Lett 361: 200-203.

Laird JMA, Bennett GJ (1992) Dorsal root potentials and afferent input to the spinal cord in rats with an experimental peripheral neuropathy. Brain Res 584: 181-190.

LaMotte CC, Kapadia SE, Shapiro CM (1991) Central projections of the sciatic, saphenous, median, and ulnar nerves of the rat demonstrated by transganglionic transport of choleragenoid-HRP (B-HRP) and wheat germ agglutinin-HRP (WGA-HRP). J Comp Neurol 311: 546-562.

LaMotte RH, Thalhammer JG, Robinson CJ (1983) Peripheral neural correlates of magnitude of cutaneous pain and hyperalgesia: a comparison of neural events in monkey with sensory judgments in human. J Neurophysiol 50: 1-26.

LaMotte RH, Thalhammer JG, Torebjork HE, Robinson CJ (1982) Peripheral neural mechanisms of cutaneous hyperalgesia following mild injury by heat. J Neurosci 2: 765-781.

Lawson SN (2002) Phenotype and function of somatic primary afferent nociceptive neurones with C-, Adelta- or Aalpha/beta-fibres. Exp Physiol 87: 239-244.

Lee BH, Yoon YW, Chung K, Chung JM (1998) Comparison of sympathetic sprouting in sensory ganglia in three animal models of neuropathic pain. Exp Brain Res 120: 432-438.

Lee KJ, Jessell TM (1999) The specification of dorsal cell fates in the vertebrate central nervous system. Annu Rev Neurosci 22: 261-294.

Leffler A, Cummins TR, Dib-Hajj SD, Hormuzdiar WN, Black JA, Waxman SG (2002) GDNF and NGF reverse changes in repriming of TTX-sensitive Na(+) currents following axotomy of dorsal root ganglion neurons. J Neurophysiol 88: 650-658.

Li Y, Dorsi MJ, Meyer RA, Belzberg AJ (2000) Mechanical hyperalgesia after an L5 spinal nerve lesion in the rat is not dependent on input from injured nerve fibers. Pain 85: 493-502.

Liao GY, Wagner DA, Hsu MH, Leonard JP (2001) Evidence for direct protein kinase-C mediated modulation of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor current. Mol Pharmacol 59: 960-964.

Light AR, Kavookjian AM (1988) Morphology and ultrastructure of physiologically identified substantia gelatinosa (lamina II) neurons with axons that terminate in deeper dorsal horn laminae (III-V). J Comp Neurol 267: 172-189.

Light AR, Perl ER (1979) Spinal termination of functionally identified primary afferent neurons with slowly conducting myelinated fibers. J Comp Neurol 186: 133-150.

Light AR, Perl ER (2003) Unmyelinated afferent fibers are not only for pain anymore. J Comp Neurol 461: 137-139.

Light AR, Trevino DLPER (1979) Morphological features of functionally defined neurons in the marginal zone and substantia gelatinosa of the spinal dorsal horn. J Comp Neurol 186: 151-172.

Lima D, Avelino A, Coimbra A (1993) Morphological characterization of marginal (lamina I) neurons immunoreactive for substance P, enkephalin, dynorphin and gammaaminobutyric acid in the rat spinal cord. J Chem Neuroanat 6: 43-52.

Lima D, Coimbra A (1986) A Golgi study of the neuronal population of the marginal zone (lamina I) of the rat spinal cord. J Comp Neurol 244: 53-71.

Lindblom U, Meyerson BA (1975) Influence on touch, vibration and cutaneous pain of dorsal column stimulation in man. Pain 1: 257-270.

Liu CN, Raber P, Ziv-Sefer S, Devor M (2001) Hyperexcitability in sensory neurons of rats selected for high versus low neuropathic pain phenotype. Neuroscience 105: 265-275.

Loeser JD, Butler SH, Chapman CR, Turk KC (2001) Bonica's management of Pain. Philadelphia: Lippincot.

Loeser JD, Melzack R (1999) Pain: an overview. Lancet 353: 1607-1609.

Long DM (1976) Use of peripheral and spinal cord stimulation in releif of chronic pain. In: Proceedings of the first World congress on Pain, Advances in pain research and therapy Vol1 pp 395-403. New York: Raven press.

Lopez-Garcia JA, King AE (1994) Membrane properties of physiologically classified rat dorsal horn neurons in vitro: correlation with cutaneous sensory afferent input. Eur J Neurosci 6: 998-1007.

Lu Y, Perl ER (2003) A specific inhibitory pathway between substantia gelatinosa neurons receiving direct C-fiber input. J Neurosci 23: 8752-8758.

Lu Y, Perl ER (2005) Modular Organization of Excitatory Circuits between Neurons of the Spinal Superficial Dorsal Horn (Laminae I and II). Journal of Neuroscience 25: 3900-3907.

Luo ZD, Calcutt NA, Higuera ES, Valder CR, Song YH, Svensson CI, Myers RR (2002) Injury type-specific calcium channel alpha 2 delta-1 subunit up-regulation in rat neuropathic pain models correlates with antiallodynic effects of gabapentin. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 303: 1199-1205.

Ma C, Shu Y, Zheng Z, Chen Y, Yao H, Greenquist KW, White FA, LaMotte RH (2003) Similar electrophysiological changes in axotomized and neighboring intact dorsal root ganglion neurons. J Neurophysiol 89: 1588-1602.

Macrae WA (2001) Chronic pain after surgery. Br J Anaesth 87: 88-98.

Mailis A (1996) Compulsive targeted self-injurious behaviour in humans with neuropathic pain: a counterpart of animal autotomy? Four case reports and literature review. Pain 64: 569-578.

Maione S, Siniscalco D, Galderisi U, de N, V, Uliano R, Di Bernardo G, Berrino L, Cascino A, Rossi F (2002) Apoptotic genes expression in the lumbar dorsal horn in a model neuropathic pain in rat. Neuroreport 13: 101-106.

Malcangio M, Bowery NG (1996) GABA and its receptors in the spinal cord. Trends Pharmacol Sci 17: 457-462.

Malmberg AB, Chen C, Tonegawa S, Basbaum AI (1997) Preserved acute pain and reduced neuropathic pain in mice lacking PKCgamma. Science 278: 279-283.

Malmberg AB, Yaksh TL (1993) Spinal nitric oxide synthesis inhibition blocks NMDAinduced thermal hyperalgesia and produces antinociception in the formalin test in rats. Pain 54: 291-300.

Matthews EA, Dickenson AH (2001) Effects of spinally delivered N- and P-type voltagedependent calcium channel antagonists on dorsal horn neuronal responses in a rat model of neuropathy. Pain 92: 235-246.

McCleskey EW, Gold MS (1999) Ion channels of nociception. Annu Rev Physiol 61: 835-856.

McLachlan EM, Hu P (1998) Axonal sprouts containing calcitonin gene-related peptide and substance P form pericellular baskets around large diameter neurons after sciatic nerve transection in the rat. Neuroscience 84: 961-965.

McLaughlin BJ, Barber R, Saito K, Roberts E, Wu JY (1975) Immunocytochemical localization of glutamate decarboxylase in rat spinal cord. J Comp Neurol 164: 305-321.

McMahon S, Koltzenburg M (1990a) The changing role of primary afferent neurones in pain. Pain 43: 269-272.

McMahon SB, Koltzenburg M (1990b) Novel classes of nociceptors: beyond Sherrington. Trends Neurosci 13: 199-201.

McMahon SB, Lewin GR, Wall PD (1993) Central hyperexcitability triggered by noxious inputs. Curr Opin Neurobiol 3: 602-610.

Melnick IV, Santos SF, Safronov BV (2004a) Mechanism of spike frequency adaptation in substantia gelatinosa neurones of rat. J Physiol 559: 383-395.

Melnick IV, Santos SFA, Szokol K, Szucs P, Safronov BV (2004b) Ionic Basis of Tonic Firing in Spinal Substantia Gelatinosa Neurons of Rat. J Neurophysiol 91: 646-655.

Melzack R, Wall PD (1965) Pain mechanisms: a new theory. Science 150: 971-979.

Merskey H, Bogduk N (1994) Classification of chronic pain. Seattle: IASP Press.

Merskey H, Loeser JD, Dubner R (2005) The Paths of Pain 1975 -2005. Seattle: IASP Press.

Meyer RA, Campbell JN (1981) Myelinated nociceptive afferents account for the hyperalgesia that follows a burn to the hand. Science 213: 1527-1529.

Millan MJ (1999) The Induction of Pain: An Integrative review. Prog Neurobiol 57: 1-164.

Miller RJ (1987) Multiple calcium channels and neuronal function. Science 235: 46-52.

Milligan ED, Twining C, Chacur M, Biedenkapp J, O'Connor K, Poole S, Tracey K, Martin D, Maier SF, Watkins LR (2003) Spinal Glia and Proinflammatory Cytokines Mediate Mirror-Image Neuropathic Pain in Rats. Journal of Neuroscience 23: 1026-1040.

Molander C, Hongpaisan J, Svensson M, Aldskogius H (1997) Glial cell reactions in the spinal cord after sensory nerve stimulation are associated with axonal injury. Brain Res 747: 122-129.

Molander C, Xu Q, Grant G (1984) The cytoarchitectonic organization of the spinal cord in the rat. I. The lower thoracic and lumbosacral cord. J Comp Neurol 230: 133-141.

Moldofsky H, Merskey H (2005) From Fibrositis and psychogenic rheumatism to fubromyalgia. In: The paths of pain (1975-2005) (Merskey H, Loeser JD, Dubner R, eds), pp 391-401. Seattle: IASP Press.

Molliver DC, Wright DE, Leitner ML, Parsadanian AS, Doster K, Wen D, Yan Q, Snider WD (1997) IB4-binding DRG neurons switch from NGF to GDNF dependence in early postnatal life. Neuron 19: 849-861.

Moore KA, Kohno T, Karchewski LA, Scholz J, Baba H, Woolf CJ (2002) Partial peripheral nerve injury promotes a selective loss of GABAergic inhibition in the superficial dorsal horn of the spinal cord. J Neurosci 22: 6724-6731.

Moran TD, Colmers WF, Smith PA (2004) Opioid-Like Actions of Neuropeptide Y in Rat Substantia Gelatinosa: Y1 Suppression of Inhibition and Y2 Suppression of Excitation. J Neurophysiol 92: 3266-3275.

Mori M, Kose A, Tsujino T, Tanaka C (1990) Immunocytochemical localization of protein kinase C subspecies in the rat spinal cord: light and electron microscopic study. J Comp Neurol 299: 167-177.

Mosconi T, Kruger L (1996) Fixed-diameter polyethylene cuffs applied to the rat sciatic nerve induce a painful neuropathy: ultrastructural morphometric analysis of axonal alterations. Pain 64: 37-57.

Mosseri R, Waner T, Shefi M, Shafrir E, Meyerovitch J (2000) Gluconeogenesis in nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice: in vivo effects of vandadate treatment on hepatic glucose-6phoshatase and phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase. Metabolism 49: 321-325.

Muller T, Brohmann H, Pierani A, Heppenstall PA, Lewin GR, Jessell TM, Birchmeier C (2002) The homeodomain factor lbx1 distinguishes two major programs of neuronal differentiation in the dorsal spinal cord. Neuron 34: 551-562.

Nagy JI, Hunt SP (1982) Fluoride-resistant acid phosphatase-containing neurones in dorsal root ganglia are separate from those containing substance P or somatostatin. Neuroscience 7: 89-97.

Naim M, Spike RC, Watt C, Shehab SA, Todd AJ (1997) Cells in laminae III and IV of the rat spinal cord that possess the neurokinin-1 receptor and have dorsally directed dendrites receive a major synaptic input from tachykinin-containing primary afferents. J Neurosci 17: 5536-5548.

Narita M, Mizoguchi H, Narita M, Nagase H, Suzuki T, Tseng LF (2001) Involvement of spinal protein kinase Cgamma in the attenuation of opioid mu-receptor-mediated G-protein activation after chronic intrathecal administration of [D-Ala2,N-MePhe4,Gly-Ol(5)]enkephalin. J Neurosci 21: 3715-3720.

Nastrom J, Schneider SP, Perl ER (1994) Differential L-glutamate responsiveness among superficial dorsal horn neurons. J Neurophysiol 72: 2956-2965.

Nichols ML, Allen BJ, Rogers SD, Ghilardi JR, Honore P, Luger NM, Finke MP, Li J, Lappi DA, Simone DA, Mantyh PW (1999) Transmission of chronic nociception by spinal neurons expressing the substance P receptor. Science 286: 1558-1561.

Nicholson B (2000) Gabapentin use in neuropathic pain syndromes. Acta Neurol Scand 101: 359-371.

Nordin M, Nystrom B, Wallin U, Hagbarth KE (1984) Ectopic sensory discharges and paresthesiae in patients with disorders of peripheral nerves, dorsal roots and dorsal columns. Pain 20: 231-245.

Nuytten D, Kupers R, Lammens M, Dom R, Van Hees J, Gybels J (1992) Further evidence for myelinated as well as unmyelinated fibre damage in a rat model of neuropathic pain. Exp Brain Res 91: 73-78.

Okamoto K, Imbe H, Morikawa Y, Itoh M, Sekimoto M, Nemoto K, Senba E (2002) 5-HT2A receptor subtype in the peripheral branch of sensory fibers is involved in the potentiation of inflammatory pain in rats. Pain 99: 133-143.

Okamoto M, Baba H, Goldstein PA, Higashi H, Shimoji K, Yoshimura M (2001) Functional reorganization of sensory pathways in the rat spinal dorsal horn following peripheral nerve injury. J Physiol 532: 241-250.

Ossipo MH, Porreca F (2005) Descending modulation of pain. In: The Paths of Pain 1975-2005 (Merskey H, Loeser JD, Dubner R, eds), pp 117-130. Seattle: IASP Press.

Pearson AA (1952) Role of gelatinous substance of spinal cord in conduction of pain. AMA Arch Neurol Psychiatry 68: 515-529.

Perl ER (1984) Pain and nociception. In: Handbook of physiology: the nervous system, Vol 3 (Darian-Smith, ed), pp 915-975. Bethesda, MD: American Physiological Society.

Perl ER (1996) Cutaneous polymodal receptors: characteristics and plasticity. Prog Brain Res 113: 21-37.

Perl ER, Kumazawa T, Lynn B, Kenins P (1976) Sensitization of high threshold receptors with unmyelinated (C) afferent fibers. Prog Brain Res 43: 263-277.

Perrier JF, Alaburda A, Hounsgaard J (2002) Spinal plasticity mediated by postsynaptic L-type Ca2+ channels. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 40: 223-229.

Pieper GM, Mizoguchi H, Ohsawa M, Kamei J, Nagase H, Tseng LF (2000) Decreased opioid-induced antinociception but unaltered G-protein activation in the genetic-diabetic NOD mouse. Eur J Pharmacol 401: 375-379.

Pitcher GM, Ritchie J, Henry JL (1999) Paw withdrawal threshold in the von Frey hair test is influenced by the surface on which the rat stands. J Neurosci Methods 87: 185-193.

Polgar E, Fowler JH, McGill MM, Todd AJ (1999) The types of neuron which contain protein kinase C gamma in rat spinal cord. Brain Res 833: 71-80.

Polgar E, Gray S, Riddell JS, Todd AJ (2004) Lack of evidence for significant neuronal loss in laminae I-III of the spinal dorsal horn of the rat in the chronic constriction injury model. Pain 111: 144-150.

Polgar E, Hughes DI, Riddell JS, Maxwell DJ, Puskar Z, Todd AJ (2003) Selective loss of spinal GABAergic or glycinergic neurons is not necessary for development of thermal hyperalgesia in the chronic constriction injury model of neuropathic pain. Pain 104: 229-239.

Polgar E, Hughes DI, Arham AZ, Todd AJ (2005) Loss of Neurons from Laminas I-III of the Spinal Dorsal Horn Is Not Required for Development of Tactile Allodynia in the Spared Nerve Injury Model of Neuropathic Pain. Journal of Neuroscience 25: 6658-6666.

Portenoy RK (1999) Current pharmacotherapy of chronic pain. J Pain Symp Manag 19: S16-S20.

Portenoy RK, Lesage P (1999) Management of cancer pain. Lancet 353: 1695-1700.

Prescott SA, de Koninck Y (2002) Four cell types with distinctive membrane properties and morphologies in lamina I of the spinal dorsal horn of the adult rat. J Physiol 539: 817-836.

Prescott SA, De Koninck Y (2005) Integration Time in a Subset of Spinal Lamina I Neurons Is Lengthened by Sodium and Calcium Currents Acting Synergistically to Prolong Subthreshold Depolarization. Journal of Neuroscience 25: 4743-4754.

Price DD, Hayashi H, Dubner R, Ruda MA (1979) Functional relationships between neurons of marginal and substantia gelatinosa layers of primate dorsal horn. J Neurophysiol 42: 1590-1608.

Pullar S, Palmer AM (2003) Pharmacotherapy for neuropathic pain: progress and prospects. Drug News Perspect 16: 622-630.

Puskar Z, Polgar E, Todd AJ (2001) A population of large lamina I projection neurons with selective inhibitory input in rat spinal cord. Neuroscience 102: 167-176.

Raghavendra V, Tanga F, DeLeo JA (2003) Inhibition of microglial activation attenuates the development but not existing hypersensitivity in a rat model of neuropathy. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 306: 624-630.

Raja SN, Meyer RA, Ringkamp JN (1999) Peripheral neuronal mechanisms of nociception, in: P.D.M.R. Wall (Ed.). In: Textbook of Pain (Wall P.D, Melzack R, eds), pp 11-57. Edinburgh, London: Churchill Livingstone.

Ramer MS, Bisby MA (1997) Rapid sprouting of sympathetic axons in dorsal root ganglia of rats with a chronic constriction injury. Pain 70: 237-244.

Ramer MS, Thompson SW, McMahon SB (1999) Causes and consequences of sympathetic basket formation in dorsal root ganglia. Pain Suppl 6: S111-S120.

Ramon y Cajal S (1909) Histologie du Syste'me Nerveux de L'Homme et desVerte'bre's. Paris: A. Maloine.

Rees H, Sluka KA, Westlund KN, Willis WD (1995) The role of glutamate and GABA receptors in the generation of dorsal root reflexes by acute arthritis in the anaesthetized rat. J Physiol 484 (Pt 2): 437-445.

Ren K, Dubner R (1993) NMDA receptor antagonists attenuate mechanical hyperalgesia in rats with unilateral inflammation of the hindpaw. Neurosci Lett 163: 22-26.

Renganathan M, Cummins TR, Waxman SG (2001) Contribution of Na(v)1.8 sodium channels to action potential electrogenesis in DRG neurons. J Neurophysiol 86: 629-640.

Rethelyi M, Light AR, Perl ER (1989) Synaptic ultrastructure of functionally and morphologically characterized neurons of the superficial spinal dorsal horn of cat. J Neurosci 9: 1846-1863.

Rexed B (1952) The cytoarchitectonic organization of the spinal cord in the cat. J Comp Neurol 96: 414-495.

Rice AS, Andreev NY, McMahon SB (1994) The consequences of microneurography electrode-induced injury of peripheral nerves observed in the rat and man. Pain 59: 385-393.

Ritter AM, Mendell LM (1992) Somal membrane properties of physiologically identified sensory neurons in the rat: effects of nerve growth factor. J Neurophysiol 68: 2033-2041.

Rivero-Melian C, Grant G (1990) Distribution of lumbar dorsal root fibers in the lower thoracic and lumbosacral spinal cord of the rat studied with choleragenoid horseradish peroxidase conjugate. J Comp Neurol 299: 470-481.

Ro LS, Jacobs JM (1993) The role of the saphenous nerve in experimental sciatic nerve mononeuropathy produced by loose ligatures: a behavioural study. Pain 52: 359-369.

Ro LS, Li HY, Huang KF, Chen ST (2004) Territorial and extra-territorial distribution of Fos protein in the lumbar spinal dorsal horn neurons in rats with chronic constriction nerve injuries. Brain Res 1004: 177-187.

Robertson B, Grant G (1985) A comparison between wheat germ agglutinin-and choleragenoid-horseradish peroxidase as anterogradely transported markers in central branches of primary sensory neurones in the rat with some observations in the cat. Neuroscience 14: 895-905.

Rodin BE, Kruger L (1984) Deafferentation in animals as a model for the study of pain: an alternative hypothesis. Brain Res Rev 7: 213-228.

Rowbotham MC, Fields HL (1996) The relationship of pain, allodynia and thermal sensation in post-herpetic neuralgia. Brain 119 (Pt 2): 347-354.

Rudolph M, Destexhe A (2003) Tuning neocortical pyramidal neurons between integrators and coincidence detectors. J Comput Neurosci 14: 239-251.

Rudomin P, Schmidt RF (1999) Presynaptic inhibition in the vertebrate spinal cord revisited. Exp Brain Res 129: 1-37.

Ruscheweyh R, Sandkuhler J (2002) Lamina-specific membrane and discharge properties of rat spinal dorsal horn neurons in vitro. J Physiol (Lond) 541: 231-244.

Ruscheweyh R, Ikeda H, Heinke B, Sandkuhler J (2004) Distinctive membrane and discharge properties of rat spinal lamina I projection neurones in vitro. J Physiol (Lond) 555: 527-543.

Russo RE, Hounsgaard J (1994) Short-term plasticity in turtle dorsal horn neurons mediated by L-type Ca2+ channels. Neuroscience 61: 191-197.

Russo RE, Nagy F, Hounsgaard J (1997) Modulation of plateau properties in dorsal horn neurones in a slice preparation of the turtle spinal cord. J Physiol 499 (Pt 2): 459-474.

Sandkuhler J, Liu X (1998) Induction of long-term potentiation at spinal synapses by noxious stimulation or nerve injury. Eur J Neurosci 10: 2476-2480.

Satoh O, Omote K (1996) Roles of monoaminergic, glycinergic and GABAergic inhibitory systems in the spinal cord in rats with peripheral mononeuropathy. Brain Res 728: 27-36.

Schaible HG, Schmidt RF (1983) Activation of groups III and IV sensory units in medial articular nerve by local mechanical stimulation of knee joint. J Neurophysiol 49: 35-44.

Schifitto G, McDermott MP, McArthur JC, Marder K, Sacktor N, Epstein L, Kieburtz K (2002) Incidence of and risk factors for HIV-associated distal sensory polyneuropathy. Neurology 58: 1764-1768.

Schmader KE (2002) Epidemiology and impact on quality of life of postherpetic neuralgia and painful diabetic neuropathy. Clin J Pain 18: 350-354.

Schmidt BJ, Hochman S, MacLean JN (1998) NMDA receptor-mediated oscillatory properties: potential role in rhythm generation in the mammalian spinal cord. Ann N Y Acad Sci 860: 189-202.

Schmidt RF (1971) Presynaptic inhibition in the vertebrate central nervous system. Ergeb Physiol 63: 20-101.

Schnell L, Fearn S, Klassen H, Schwab ME, Perry VH (1999) Acute inflammatory responses to mechanical lesions in the CNS: differences between brain and spinal cord. Eur J Neurosci 11: 3648-3658.

Scholz J, Broom DC, Youn DH, Mills CD, Kohno T, Suter MR, Moore KA, Decosterd I, Coggeshall RE, Woolf CJ (2005) Blocking caspase activity prevents transsynaptic neuronal apoptosis and the loss of inhibition in lamina II of the dorsal horn after peripheral nerve injury. J Neurosci 25: 7317-7323.

Scholz J, Tegeder I, Griffin RS, Woolf CJ (2004) Models of peripheral neuropathic pain produce distinct patterns of immune cell activation and transcriptional regulation in the

spinal cord . 2004 Abstract Viewer/Itinerary Planner Washington, DC: Society for Neuroscience, Online Program No. 518.9.

Scholz J, Woolf CJ (2002) Can we conquer pain? Nat Neurosci 5 Suppl: 1062-1067.

Seltzer Z, Dubner R, Shir Y (1990) A novel behavioral model of neuropathic pain disorders produced in rats by partial sciatic nerve injury. Pain 43: 205-218.

Sessle BJ (1987) The neurobiology of facial and dental pain: present knowledge, future directions. J Dent Res 66: 962-981.

Shea VK, Perl ER (1985) Sensory receptors with unmyelinated (C) fibers innervating the skin of the rabbit's ear. J Neurophysiol 54: 491-501.

Shehab SA, Spike RC, Todd AJ (2003) Evidence against cholera toxin B subunit as a reliable tracer for sprouting of primary afferents following peripheral nerve injury. Brain Res 964: 218-227.

Sherrington C (1906) The Integrative Action of the Nervous System. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Shortland P, Woolf CJ (1993a) Chronic peripheral nerve section results in a rearrangement of the central axonal arborizations of axotomized A beta primary afferent neurons in the rat spinal cord. J Comp Neurol 330: 65-82.

Shortland P, Woolf CJ (1993b) Morphology and somatotopy of the central arborizations of rapidly adapting glabrous skin afferents in the rat lumbar spinal cord. J Comp Neurol 329: 491-511.

Silverman JD, Kruger L (1990) Selective neuronal glycoconjugate expression in sensory and autonomic ganglia: relation of lectin reactivity to peptide and enzyme markers. J Neurocytol 19: 789-801.

Sindrup SH, Jensen TS (1999) Efficacy of pharmacological treatments of neuropathic pain: an update and effect related to mechanism of drug action. Pain 83: 389-400.

Sindrup SH, Jensen TS (2000) Pharmacologic treatment of pain in polyneuropathy. Neurology 55: 915-920.

Sivilotti L, Woolf CJ (1994) The contribution of GABAA and glycine receptors to central sensitization: disinhibition and touch-evoked allodynia in the spinal cord. J Neurophysiol 72: 169-179.

Sleeper AA, Cummins TR, Dib-Hajj SD, Hormuzdiar W, Tyrrell L, Waxman SG, Black JA (2000) Changes in expression of two tetrodotoxin-resistant sodium channels and their currents in dorsal root ganglion neurons after sciatic nerve injury but not rhizotomy [In Process Citation]. J Neurosci 20: 7279-7289.

Smith PA (2004) Neuropathic pain: drug targets for current and future interventions. Drug News Perspect 17: 5-17.

Smith PA, Stebbing MJ, Moran TD, Tarkkila P, Abdulla FA (2002) Neuropathic Pain and the Electrophysiology and Pharmacology of Nerve Injury. Drug Dev Res 54: 140-153.

Snutch TP, Sutton KG, Zamponi GW (2001) Voltage-dependent calcium channels-beyond dihydropyridine antagonists. Curr Opin Pharmacol 1: 11-16.

Somers DL, Clemente FR (2002) Dorsal horn synaptosomal content of aspartate, glutamate, glycine and GABA are differentially altered following chronic constriction injury to the rat sciatic nerve. Neurosci Lett 323: 171-174.

Sorkin LS, Yaksh TL, Doom CM (2001) Pain models display differential sensitivity to Ca2+-permeable non-NMDA glutamate receptor antagonists. Anesthesiology 95: 965-973.

Spike RC, Maxwell DJ, Todd AJ (1998) GluR1 and GluR2/3 subunits of the AMPA-type glutamate receptor are associated with particular types of neurone in laminae I-III of the spinal dorsal horn of the rat. Eur J Neurosci 10: 324-333.

Spike RC, Puskar Z, Andrew D, Todd AJ (2003) A quantitative and morphological study of projection neurons in lamina I of the rat lumbar spinal cord. Eur J Neurosci 18: 2433-2448.

Spike RC, Todd AJ (1992) Ultrastructural and immunocytochemical study of lamina II islet cells in rat spinal dorsal horn. J Comp Neurol 323: 359-369.

Stebbing MJ, Eschenfelder S., Häbler H-J., Acosta M-C., Jänig W, McLachlan E.M. (1999) Changes in the action potential in sensory neurons after peripheral axotomy *in vivo*. Neuroreport 10: 201-206.

Stucky CL, Gold MS, Zhang X (2001) Mechanisms of pain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98: 11845-11846.

Stucky CL, Lewin GR (1999) Isolectin B(4)-positive and -negative nociceptors are functionally distinct. J Neurosci 19: 6497-6505.

Sugimoto T, Bennett GJ, Kajander KC (1990) Transsynaptic degeneration in the superficial dorsal horn after sciatic nerve injury: effects of a chronic constriction injury, transection, and strychnine. Pain 42: 205-213.

Sugiura Y, Lee CL, Perl ER (1986) Central projections of identified, unmyelinated (C) afferent fibers innervating mammalian skin. Science 234: 358-361.

Sukhotinsky I, Ben Dor E, Raber P, Devor M (2004) Key role of the dorsal root ganglion in neuropathic tactile hypersensibility. Eur J Pain 8: 135-143.

Suzuki R, Matthews EA, Dickenson AH (2001) Comparison of the effects of MK-801, ketamine and memantine on responses of spinal dorsal horn neurones in a rat model of mononeuropathy. Pain 91: 101-109.

Sweet WH (1976) Control of pain by direct electrical stimulation of peripheral nerves. Clin Neurosurg 23: 103-111.

Szentagothai J (1964) PROPRIOSPINAL PATHWAYS AND THEIR SYNAPSES. Prog Brain Res 11: 155-177.

Thomson AM, West DC, Headley PM (1989) Membrane Characteristics and Synaptic Responsiveness of Superficial Dorsal Horn Neurons in a Slice Preparation of Adult Rat Spinal Cord. Eur J Neurosci 1: 479-488.

Todd AJ (1988) Electron microscope study of Golgi-stained cells in lamina II of the rat spinal dorsal horn. J Comp Neurol 275: 145-157.

Todd AJ (1996) GABA and glycine in synaptic glomeruli of the rat spinal dorsal horn. Eur J Neurosci 8: 2492-2498.

Todd AJ, Lewis SG (1986) The morphology of Golgi-stained neurons in lamina II of the rat spinal cord. J Anat 149: 113-119.

Todd AJ, McGill MM, Shehab SA (2000) Neurokinin 1 receptor expression by neurons in laminae I, III and IV of the rat spinal dorsal horn that project to the brainstem. Eur J Neurosci 12: 689-700.

Todd AJ, McKenzie J (1989) GABA-immunoreactive neurons in the dorsal horn of the rat spinal cord. Neuroscience 31: 799-806.

Todd AJ, Puskar Z, Spike RC, Hughes C, Watt C, Forrest L (2002) Projection neurons in lamina I of rat spinal cord with the neurokinin 1 receptor are selectively innervated by substance p-containing afferents and respond to noxious stimulation. J Neurosci 22: 4103-4113.

Todd AJ, Spike RC (1993) The localization of classical transmitters and neuropeptides within neurons in laminae I-III of the mammalian spinal dorsal horn. Prog Neurobiol 41: 609-645.

Todd AJ, Spike RC, Young S, Puskar Z (2005) Fos induction in lamina I projection neurons in response to noxious thermal stimuli. Neuroscience 131: 209-217.

Todd AJ, Sullivan AC (1990) Light microscope study of the coexistence of GABA-like and glycine-like immunoreactivities in the spinal cord of the rat. J Comp Neurol 296: 496-505.

Todd AJ, Watt C, Spike RC, Sieghart W (1996) Colocalization of GABA, glycine, and their receptors at synapses in the rat spinal cord. J Neurosci 16: 974-982.

Tong Y-G, Wang HF, Ju G, Grant G, Hokfelt T, Zhang X (1999) Increased uptake and transport of cholera toxin B-subunit in dorsal root ganglion neurons after peripheral axotomy: possible implications for sensory sprouting. J Comp Neurol , 404: 143-158.

Treede RD, Meyer RA, Campbell JN (1998) Myelinated mechanically insensitive afferents from monkey hairy skin: heat-response properties. J Neurophysiol 80: 1082-1093.

Treede RD, Meyer RA, Raja SN, Campbell JN (1992) Peripheral and central mechanisms of cutaneous hyperalgesia. Prog Neurobiol 38: 397-421.

Tsuda M, Mizokoshi A, Shigemoto-Mogami Y, Koizumi S, Inoue K (2004) Activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in spinal hyperactive microglia contributes to pain hypersensitivity following peripheral nerve injury. Glia 45: 89-95.

Tsuda M, Inoue K, Salter MW (2005) Neuropathic pain and spinal microglia: a big problem from molecules in 'small' glia. Trends Neurosci 28: 101-107.

Tsuda M, Shigemoto-Mogami Y, Koizumi S, Mizokoshi A, Kohsaka S, Salter MW, Inoue K (2003) P2X4 receptors induced in spinal microglia gate tactile allodynia after nerve injury. Nature 424: 778-783.

Urban L, Willetts J, Randic M, Papka RE (1985) The acute and chronic effects of capsaicin on slow excitatory transmission in rat dorsal horn. Brain Res 330: 390-396.

Vallbo AB, Olausson H, Wessberg J (1999) Unmyelinated afferents constitute a second system coding tactile stimuli of the human hairy skin. J Neurophysiol 81: 2753-2763.

van den Pol AN, Ghosh PK, Liu RJ, Li Y, Aghajanian GK, Gao XB (2002) Hypocretin (orexin) enhances neuron activity and cell synchrony in developing mouse GFP-expressing locus coeruleus. J Physiol 541: 169-185.

Van Hees J, Gybels J (1981) C nociceptor activity in human nerve during painful and non painful skin stimulation. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 44: 600-607.

Vulchanova L, Riedl MS, Shuster SJ, Stone LS, Hargreaves KM, Buell G, Surprenant A, North RA, Elde R (1998) P2X3 is expressed by DRG neurons that terminate in inner lamina II. Eur J Neurosci 10: 3470-3478.

Wakisaka S, Kajander KC, Bennett GJ (1992) Effects of peripheral nerve injuries and tissue inflammation on the levels of neuropeptide-Y like immunoreactivity in rat primary afferent neurons. Brain Res 598: 349-352.

Wall PD (1978) The gate control theory of pain mechanisms. A re-examination and restatement. Brain 101: 1-18.

Wall PD, Devor M (1983) Sensory afferent impulses result from dorsal root ganglia as well as from the periphery in normal and nerve-injured rats. Pain 17: 321-339.

Wall PD, Devor M (1981) The effect of peripheral nerve injury on dorsal root potentials and on transmission of afferent signals into the spinal cord. Brain Res 209: 95-111.

Wall PD, Devor M, Inbal R, Scadding JW, Schonfeld D, Seltzer Z, Tomkiewicz MM (1979) Autotomy following peripheral nerve lesions: experimental anaesthesia dolorosa. . Pain 7: 103-113.

Wall PD, Gutnick M (1974) Ongoing activity in peripheral nerves: the physiology and pharmacology of impulses originating from a neuroma. Exp Neurol 45: 580-593.

Watkins LR, Maier SF (2003) Glia: a novel drug discovery target for clinical pain. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2: 973-985.

Watkins LR, Maier SF, Goehler LE (1995) Immune activation: the role of proinflammatory cytokines in inflammation, illness responses and pathological pain states. Pain 63: 289-302.

Watkins LR, Milligan ED, Maier SF (2001) Glial activation: a driving force for pathological pain. Trends Neurosci 24: 450-455.

Watkins LR, Maier SF (2002) Beyond Neurons: Evidence That Immune and Glial Cells Contribute to Pathological Pain States. Physiol Rev 82: 981-1011.

Waxman SG (1980) Determinants of conduction velocity in myelinated nerve fibers. Muscle Nerve 3: 141-150.

Waxman SG, Cummins TR, Dib-Hajj SD, Black JA (2000a) Voltage-gated sodium channels and the molecular pathogenesis of pain: a review. J Rehabil Res Dev 37: 517-528.

Waxman SG, Dib-Hajj S, Cummins TR, Black JA (1999) Sodium channels and pain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96: 7635-7639.

Waxman SG, Dib-Hajj S, Cummins TR, Black JA (2000b) Sodium channels and their genes: dynamic expression in the normal nervous system, dysregulation in disease states(1). Brain Res 886: 5-14.

Westenbroek RE, Hoskins L, Catterall WA (1998) Localization of Ca2+ channel subtypes on rat spinal motor neurons, interneurons, and nerve terminals. J Neurosci 18: 6319-6330.

Whiteside GT, Munglani R (2001) Cell death in the superficial dorsal horn in a model of neuropathic pain. J Neurosci Res 64: 168-173.

Willis WD, Jr. (1999) Dorsal root potentials and dorsal root reflexes: a double-edged sword. Exp Brain Res 124: 395-421.
Willis WD (2001) Role of neurotransmitters in sensitization of pain responses. Ann N Y Acad Sci 933: 142-156.

Willis WD (2005) Phisiology and Anatomy of the spinal cord pain system. In: The Paths of Pain 1975 -2005 (Merskey H, Loeser JD, Dubner R, eds), pp 85-100. Seattle: IASP press.

Willis WD, Coggeshall RE (2004) Sensory Mechanisms of the Spinal Cord. (, ed), New York: Kluwer.

Willis WD, Kenshalo DR, Jr., Leonard RB (1979) The cells of origin of the primate spinothalamic tract. J Comp Neurol 188: 543-573.

Willis WD, Westlund KN (1997) Neuroanatomy of the pain system and of the pathways that modulate pain. J Clin Neurophysiol 14: 2-31.

Woodbury CJ, Ritter AM, Koerber HR (2000) On the problem of lamination in the superficial dorsal horn of mammals: a reappraisal of the substantia gelatinosa in postnatal life. J Comp Neurol 417: 88-102.

Woolf CJ (1983) Evidence for a central component of post-injury pain hypersensitivity. Nature 306: 686-688.

Woolf CJ (1987) Central terminations of cutaneous mechanoreceptive afferents in the rat lumbar spinal cord. J Comp Neurol 261: 105-119.

Woolf CJ (2004a) Dissecting out mechanisms responsible for peripheral neuropathic pain: implications for diagnosis and therapy. Life Sci 74: 2605-2610.

Woolf CJ (2004b) Pain: moving from symptom control toward mechanism-specific pharmacologic management. Ann Intern Med 140: 441-451.

Woolf CJ, Fitzgerald M (1983) The properties of Neurons recorded in the superficial dorsal horn of the rat spinal cord. J Comp Neurol 221: 313-328.

Woolf CJ, Mannion RJ (1999) Neuropathic pain: aetiology, symptoms, mechanisms, and management. Lancet 353: 1959-1964.

Woolf CJ, Salter MW (2000) Neuronal Plasticity: Increasing the Gain in Pain. Science 288: 1765-1768.

Woolf CJ, Shortland P, Coggeshall RE (1992) Peripheral nerve injury triggers central sprouting of myelinated afferents. Nature 355: 75-78.

Woolf CJ, Shortland P, Reynolds M, Ridings J, Doubell T, Coggeshall RE (1995) Reorganization of central terminals of myelinated primary afferents in the rat dorsal horn following peripheral axotomy. J Comp Neurol 360: 121-134. Woolf CJ, Thompson SW (1991) The induction and maintenance of central sensitization is dependenent on N-methyl-D-aspartic acid activation: implications for the treatment of post-injury pain hypersensitivity states. Pain 44: 293-299.

Woolf CJ, Wall PD (1982) Chronic peripheral nerve section diminishes the primary afferent A-fiber-mediated inhibition of rat dorsal horn neurones. Brain Res 242: 77-85.

Xiao HS, Huang QH, Zhang FX, Bao L, Lu YJ, Guo C, Yang L, Huang WJ, Fu G, Xu SH, Cheng XP, Yan Q, Zhu ZD, Zhang X, Chen Z, Han ZG, Zhang X (2002) Identification of gene expression profile of dorsal root ganglion in the rat peripheral axotomy model of neuropathic pain. PNAS 99: 8360-8365.

Yajima Y, Narita M, Shimamura M, Narita M, Kubota C, Suzuki T (2003) Differential involvement of spinal protein kinase C and protein kinase A in neuropathic and inflammatory pain in mice. Brain Res 992: 288-293.

Yaksh TL (1989) Behavioral and autonomic correlates of the tactile evoked allodynia produced by spinal glycine inhibition: effects of modulatory receptor systems and excitatory amino acid antagonists. Pain 37: 111-123.

Yamamoto T, Yaksh TL (1993) Effects of intrathecal strychnine and bicuculline on nerve compression-induced thermal hyperalgesia and selective antagonism by MK-801. Pain 54: 79-84.

Yang EK, Takimoto K, Hayashi Y, de Groat WC, Yoshimura N (2004a) Altered expression of potassium channel subunit mRNA and alpha-dendrotoxin sensitivity of potassium currents in rat dorsal root ganglion neurons after axotomy. Neuroscience 123: 867-874.

Yang L, Zhang FX, Huang F, Lu YJ, Li GD, Bao L, Xiao HS, Zhang X (2004b) Peripheral nerve injury induces trans-synaptic modification of channels, receptors and signal pathways in rat dorsal spinal cord. Eur J Neurosci 19: 871-883.

Yezierski RP (1996) Pain following spinal cord injury: the clinical problem and experimental studies. Pain 68: 185-194.

Yoshimura M (1996) Slow synaptic transmission in the spinal dorsal horn. In: Vol 113 (Kumazawa TKLMK, ed), pp 443-462. Amsterdam: Elsevier.

Yoshimura M, Jessell T (1990) Amino acid-mediated EPSPs at primary afferent synapses with substantia gelatinosa neurones in the rat spinal cord. J Physiol (Lond) 430: 315-335.

Yoshimura M, Jessell TM (1989a) Membrane properties of rat substantia gelatinosa neurons in vitro. J Neurophysiol 62: 109-118.

Yoshimura M, Jessell TM (1989b) Primary afferent-evoked synaptic responses and slow potential generation in rat substantia gelatinosa neurons in vitro. J Neurophysiol 62: 96-108.

Yoshimura M, Nishi S (1992) Excitatory amino acid receptors involved in primary afferent-evoked polysynaptic EPSPs of substantia gelatinosa neurons in the adult rat spinal cord slice. Neurosci Lett 143: 131-134.

Yoshimura M, Nishi S (1993) Blind patch-clamp recordings from substantia gelatinosa neurons in adult rat spinal cord slices: pharmacological properties of synaptic currents. Neuroscience 53: 519-526.

Yoshimura M, Nishi S (1995) Primary afferent-evoked glycine-and GABA-mediated IPSPs in substantia gelatinosa neurones of the rat spinal cord in vitro. J Physiol 482: 29-38.

Yoshimura M, Shimizu T, Yajiri Y, Inokuchi H, Nishi S (1993) Primary afferent-evoked slow EPSPs and responses to substance P of dorsal horn neurons in the adult rat spinal cord slices. Regul Pept 46: 407-409.

Yu XH, Zhang ET, Craig AD, Shigemoto R, Ribeiro-da-Silva A, de Koninck Y (1999) NK-1 receptor immunoreactivity in distinct morphological types of lamina I neurons of the primate spinal cord. J Neurosci 19: 3545-3555.

Yuan J, Yankner BA (2000) Apoptosis in the nervous system. Nature 407: 802-809.

Zhuang ZY, Gerner P, Woolf CJ, Ji RR (2005) ERK is sequentially activated in neurons, microglia, and astrocytes by spinal nerve ligation and contributes to mechanical allodynia in this neuropathic pain model. Pain 114: 149-159.

Zimmermann M (1968) Dorsal root potentials after C-fiber stimulation. Science 160: 896-898.

Zimmermann M (2001) Pathobiology of neuropathic pain. Eur J Pharmacol 429: 23-37.

Zotterman Y (1936) Specific action potentials in the lingual nerve of the cat. Scand Arch Physiol 75: 105-119.

Chapter 2

General Methods

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

General methods

All experimental procedures complied with the guidelines of the Canadian Council for Animal Care and the University of Alberta Health Sciences Laboratory Animal Services Welfare Committee.

2.1 Surgical Procedure for the Chronic Constriction Nerve Injury (Mosconi and Kruger 1999):

All the surgical procedures were conducted under aseptic conditions using the techniques outlined in the health sciences lab animal services "Aseptic techniques in surgery" manual, provided by the University of Alberta Health Sciences Laboratory Animal Services. For each rat, an animal surgery data sheet was completed which included information on the surgical procedure such as date, rat #, comments (any complication during surgery, time took for completion of the surgery and recovery) on the anesthesia. Male Sprague Dawley rats were employed as they are the commonly used strain for neuropathic pain studies. The polyethylene cuffs were made from PE90 tubing (ID 0.86mm, OD 1.27mm; Intramedic Clay Adams, Becton Dickinson and Co, Sparks MD), on the morning of the day of surgery. They were slit open longitudinally and were soaked in ethanol (95%) and then transferred to sterile water for injection before the start of surgical procedure. The Sprague Dawley rat (20days old, ~40gms) was placed in the induction chamber at 5% isoflurane (O₂ @ 4-5L/min). Once asleep, rat was removed and the mid-thigh region was shaved with a razor blade (Wilkinson Sword Classic, Shick Warner-Lambert Canada, Ontario), and then cleaned with soap and water and then with ethanol. The rat was then transferred to the surgical table and maintained, on mask, at 2% isoflurane (O₂ @ 1-2 L/min). The body temperature was maintained using a hot water pad.

Surgery was commenced once the surgical plane of anesthesia was achieved (determined via loss of pedal reflex). A small incision was made at the mid-thigh level and the underlying muscle layer was slit open using curved forceps. Care was taken not to damage any blood vessels or nerves. The left common sciatic nerve was exposed through biceps femoris muscle before its bifurcation into tibial and peroneal divisions. The sciatic nerve was gently lifted using blunt forceps and, 2mm long polyethylene cuffs were applied to enclose the nerve using fine forceps (Figure 2.1). Each animal received two cuffs. The wound was then closed with 4-O silk sutures (Ethicon INC, Somerville, New Jersey), and an antiseptic lotion (Betadine) was applied to minimize any risk of infection. For sham surgery, animals were anesthetized with isoflurane and the sciatic nerve exposed but not deliberately manipulated. Rats were then allowed to recover and placed in their respective cages. Rats were monitored frequently for any signs of autotomy or other abnormal behavior.

2.2 Behavioral Testing

Measurement of mechanical hypersensitivity was determined using von Frey hairs. Behavioral studies were performed on the respective days during afternoon in specially allocated suites with optimal lighting conditions in the animal house facility. The animals were shifted from holding facility to the allocated suites and allowed to acclimatize to the surroundings before commencing the testing procedures. The testing was carried out using a partitioned (15cm x 15cm x 10cm) plexiglass chamber which can hold 12 animals at a time. Animals were placed in their respective box with a wire grid bottom, through which a series of von Frey hairs were applied to the mid-plantar area of the left paw (injured side), avoiding the foot pads. Hairs were applied only when the animal was standing on its

four paws. Each hair was applied until it buckled, keeping the level of stimulation constant (Figure 2.2). A scoring system was used to evaluate the response of the rats to the stimulation. The responses observed belonged to one of the following categories: Score 0 = no response; Score 1 = withdrawal response (where the animal withdrew its paw away) from the stimulus and flinches); Score 2 = the animal avoided further contact with the stimulus by actively moving away and/or licking the stimulated paw. Rats were habituated to the test procedure on pre-operative days. A basal response was taken on the day before surgery. The rats were then tested for mechanical hypersensitivity for a two week period after nerve injury. The von Frey hair kit contains series of hairs in the weight range of 0.008-300g in a logarithmic scale. Some of the earlier studies have used upto 80g for measuring withdrawal threshold (Pitcher et al., 1999). We noticed however, after a certain weight range the hairs passively lifted the paw without bucking. As a result the stimulation intensity could not be kept constant. Hence the range of von Frey hairs used was adjusted so that they remained within 1-15% (0.4-15g) (Gold et al., 2003;Li et al., 2004) of the mean body weight of the rats. Three sets of measurements were obtained with each hair. In each set, three consecutive measurements were made at 5 minute intervals and scores added for each set. Thus, an animal can have a maximum score of 6 for each set of measurements and 18 for each hair. Scores obtained were then converted to percentage of the maximum possible score.

2.3 Preparation of Spinal Cord Slices

Methods for *in-vitro* recording from *substantia gelatinosa* neurons in 30-45 day old Sprague-Dawley rats were similar to those described previously (Moran and Smith, 2002;Moran et al., 2004). The animals were anesthetized with an overdose of intra-

peritoneal urethane (1.5g/kg). After removing the skin and muscle layers, the vertebral column at the mid-thoracic region was grasped using Adson's forceps (11027-12, Fine Science Tools) and a vertically-oriented cut was made through the vertebral column using surgical scissors (14002-13, Fine Science Tools Vancouver BC, Canada). A lumbosacral laminectomy was performed with spring scissors (15012-12, Fine Science Tools) and the spinal cord with attached dorsal and ventral roots was excised. During laminectomy, the cord was constantly irrigated with ice cold dissection solution containing (in mM): 118 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 26 NaHCO₃, 1.3 MgSO₄, 1.2 NaH₂PO₄, 1.5 CaCl₂, 5 MgCl₂, 25 Dglucose, 1 kynurenic acid. The spinal cord was then placed in preoxygenated (95%O₂-5% CO₂) dissection solution in a Sylgard (Dow-Corning, USA) coated Petri dish (Corning, USA). After the removal of the dura matter, the dorsal and ventral roots were trimmed. The spinal cord was then removed and glued with cyanoacrylate glue ('Vetbond', WPI, Sarasota, FL, USA), on to the rhomboid-shaped block cut from 4% agar gel. This block, with attached spinal cord, was glued to the bottom of a 60 mm glass petri dish, submerged in ice-cold dissection solution continuously bubbled with 95%O₂-5% CO₂. This set up was then mounted on a Vibratome (TPI, USA) with the dorsal side of the cord facing the blade. Transverse slices (300µm) were cut using a razor blade (Wilkinson). The blade was advanced slowly (1-4 mm/min) to prevent the tissue from being pushed or deformed (Edwards, 1995) (Figure 2.3). The slices were then incubated at 36°C for 1 h in a nylon mesh holding chamber (Sakmann and Stuart, 1995) in oxygenated dissection solution (without kynurenic acid), and then stored at room temperature. All recordings in CCI and sham animals were made from spinal neurons ipsilateral to the sciatic injury. To identify the ipsilateral side of each slice, it was removed from the vibratome with a small piece of agar attached. This piece of agar was cut in a triangular shape using the long side of the

isosceles triangle to mark the side of the cord ipsilateral to the CCI or sham lesion (Figure 2.4).

2.4 Arrangement and Visualization of the Slices:

The following procedure for visualization of the spinal cord slices were adopted from previous studies (Sakmann and Stuart, 1995; Stuart et al., 1993; Moran, 2003). The spinal cord slice was transferred to the recording chamber. This had a diameter of 25 mm and volume of ~ 1 ml. Only slices with the triangular piece of agar still glued to it were used, for unequivocal identification of the ipsilateral side. The slices were positioned in such a way that the long side of the triangular piece of agar (ipsilateral side) faces the right side and the rostral side is on the top, in the chamber. The slice was held in place with a Ushaped platinum wire (harp) (Goodfellow, Berwyn, PA, USA) frame with attached parallel nylon threads (Refer to Figure 2.4). The distance between the top two threads were wide enough to fit the SG in between them (Figure 2.4). Spinal cord slices were viewed with a Zeiss Axioskop FS equipped with a 4X 0.10-numerical aperture (NA) objective (Achroplan, Zeiss Canada, Toronto, ON, Canada), a 40X 0.75-NA water immersion objective, a 0.9-NA condenser and DIC optics. The substantia gelatinosa was identifiable as a translucent band across the dorsal horn with the 4X objective. Under the 4x objective stimulating electrodes were positioned on the dorsal root or the entry zone. Then, using the 40X water immersion objective and with the help of IR sensitive camera (NC-70, Dage-MTI, Michigan City, IN, USA) the healthy cells were identified. The healthy cells were less conspicuous and had smooth appearance in contrast to the more conspicuous unhealthy cells which had high contrast membrane and appeared swollen or wrinkled. Cells were sampled randomly across the medial to the lateral side. Cells could

be visualized to a depth of 100 μ m in young rats (35 days old). The success of identifying and patching healthy cells was inversely proportional to the age of the rats.

2.5 Electrophysiological Recordings

For recording, slices were superfused (1-2ml/min) at room temperature (~22°C) with 95% O₂-5% CO₂ saturated aCSF which contained (in mM): 127 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 1.2 NaH₂PO₄, 26 NaHCO₃, 1.3 MgSO₄, 2.5 CaCl₂, 25 D-glucose, pH 7.4. Whole-cell recordings were made with an npi SEC 05L amplifier (npi Electronic, Tamm, Germany) in discontinuous single-electrode voltage-clamp or bridge-balance current-clamp mode. Switching frequencies were typically between 30-40 kHz. Signals were filtered at 1-2 kHz and digitized between 5 and 10 kHz. The filter and sampling frequencies were based on Nyquist theorem, which states that the sampling frequency should be at least twice the filter frequency. Patch pipettes were pulled from thin-walled borosilicate glass (1.5 mm o.d., 1.12 mm i.d.; TW-150F-4, WPI, Sarasota, FL, USA). Pipettes for recording APs, postsynaptic K⁺ currents and spontaneous post synaptic currents had resistances of 5-10 $M\Omega$ when filled with an internal solution containing (in mM): 130 potassium gluconate, 1 MgCl₂, 2 CaCl₂, 10 HEPES, 10 EGTA, 4 Mg-ATP, 0.3 Na-GTP, pH 7.2, 290-300 mOsm. Biocytin was included in the patch pipette solution for subsequent post-hoc cell identification studies in conjunction with their electrophysiological characteristics (Horikawa and Armstrong, 1988). A low concentration of biocytin (0.1-0.2%) was used as higher concentrations (1%) have been reported to affect the membrane properties and post synaptic currents (Eckert, III et al., 2001).

Data were only collected from neurons that exhibited clear overshooting action potentials of >60mV in amplitude. Current-voltage relationships were determined under voltageclamp using a series of 800ms voltage commands. Current was measured just prior to the termination of each voltage pulse. The peak amplitudes of voltage-gated K⁺ currents were measured in response to a series of incremental depolarizing voltage commands. This was done in the presence of 1 μ M TTX to prevent action potential discharge. DR-type currents were evoked from a holding potential of -80mV and I_A/I_D currents evoked from -110mV and separated by subtraction.

It has been noted that the type of discharge pattern of a given dorsal horn neuron can be affected by the holding potential (Prescott and de Koninck, 2002). To avoid potential misclassification, all neurons were categorized on the basis of their discharge pattern in response to 800ms depolarizing current pulses from -60mV (see Figure 3.2). Despite this, we did encounter a few cells (4.3% of those studied) that did not readily fit into any of the five defined categories. Such unclassified neurons were excluded from the analysis. Membrane excitability was quantified by examining the cumulative latency of action potentials evoked in response to ramp current commands. These were delivered from a set holding voltage of -60mV at 33, 67, 100 or 133 pA/S. Cumulative latencies for the first, second, third and subsequent action potentials were noted.

Spontaneous EPSCs (sEPSC's) and evoked EPSCs (eEPSC's) were recorded in the voltage clamp mode at -70 mV holding potential in the presence bicuculline (10 μ M) and strychnine (1 μ M) to block inhibitory synaptic inputs. Tetrodotoxin (TTX; 1 μ M) was

included while recording miniature EPSCs (mEPSC). The effectiveness of the TTX was determined by its ability to block action potentials in current clamp mode.

EPSCs were evoked at 0.05 Hz by placing a custom-made bipolar, teflon-coated nichrome (7620, A-M Systems, Carlsborg, WA, USA) stimulating electrode on the dorsal root or near the dorsal root entry zone to activate primary afferent fibers. The stimulating electrodes were manufactured as follows. Two 20 cm strands of nichrome wire (7620, A-M Systems, Carlsborg, WA, USA) were inserted into a 10 cm thin-walled borosilicate glass tube (WPI, Sarasota, FL, USA) with about 1-2 cm of wire protruding from the ends of the glass tubing. A small amount of epoxy was applied to each end of the glass tubing to seal the wires. They were left for about 5 min to air dry. The strands at one end of the glass tubing were then twisted together and the ends were cut with a scalpel blade to expose the nichrome within the strand. At the other end, after exposing the nichrome wire within the strands they were connected to the stimulus isolation unit (SIU) using alligator clips. While recording eEPSC's, the voltage-gated ion channel blocker QX-314 (5 mM) was included in the internal solution to prevent action potential discharge. Monosynaptic EPSCs were identified by their ability to follow high frequency stimulation (10-20 Hz) with constant latency and the absence of failures (Li et al., 2004). Stimulus intensity for eEPSC's was between 2-40 V and the stimulus duration was 100 or 400 μ s.

2.6 Data analysis:

Data were acquired and analyzed using pCLAMP 8.0 (Axon Instruments, Burlingame, CA, USA). Figures were produced with Origin 7.0 (OriginLab, Northampton, MA, USA). Statistical comparisons were made with unpaired t-tests or χ^2 tests as specified and

appropriate, using GraphPad InStat 3.05 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA). Statistical significance was taken as P<0.05.

Mini Analysis Program (Synaptosoft, Decatur, GA, USA) was used to distinguish spontaneous and miniature excitatory postsynaptic currents (sEPSC and mEPSC) from baseline noise. Details of this program and its implementation may be found at www.synaptosoft.com. Spontaneous or miniature postsynaptic currents were detected automatically by setting appropriate amplitude and area threshold for each neuron. All detected events were then re-examined and visually accepted or rejected based on subjective visual examination. The Mini Analysis Program was used to further analyze the data and to provide spreadsheets for the generation of figures. Cumulative probability plots were generated to compare the amplitude and interevent intervals of sEPSC's and mEPSC's in neurons from sham operated animals and those subject to CCI. Cumulative probability plots ranked individual amplitudes or intervent intervals in order of increasing size and then plotted this rank value against the amplitude or interevent interval. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov two-sample test (KS test) was used to compare distributions of amplitudes and interevent intervals (Van der, 1991; Prescott and de Koninck, 2002; Van der Kloot, 1991). Distributions were considered significantly different if P<0.05. For each neuron, sEPSC's were recorded for a total of 3 min. Neurons which failed to generate a detectable event during a 3 min period were classified as 'silent' and excluded from the analysis (see Table 3.3 and associated description). Plots in Figures 3.9 were obtained by analyzing the first 50 events seen after one minute of recording. Data were pooled from 15-34 neurons of each type from sham-operated animals and compared with data from 17-26 neurons of each type in CCI animals (see

legend to Figure 3.9 for additional detail). This approach was not feasible with phasic cells as the frequency of sEPSC's was very low (~ 1 event every 15s). Data were therefore analyzed from the full 3 minutes of recording time.

For plots of mEPSC frequency and amplitude, data were pooled from 6-11 neurons of each type in sham operated animals and 6-11 neurons of each type in CCI animals. Because the mEPSC frequency was considerably less than sEPSC frequency, data were analyzed from the first 30 events in each neuron using the whole 3min standard acquisition period. Because the mEPSC frequency in phasic neurons was so slow, insufficient data were available for the construction of cumulative probability plots for this neuron type (Figure 3.9 K-N, O-R).

2.7 Immuno-histochemical Procedures:

After completion of electrophysiological recording, the slices were transferred to Zamboni's fixative which contains formaldehyde (2%) and picric acid (0.2%) solution in 0.1M sodium phosphate buffer, pH 7.0, (Stefanini et al., 1967) and stored overnight at 4°C. The slices were then placed in DMSO (5x tissue volume), agitated gently and the DMSO was replaced 3 times every 10 minutes. The slices were then rinsed 3 times with PBS and if not processed immediately were transferred to 30% sucrose, 1% sodium azide in PBS and stored in sealed plastic containers at 4°C until further processing.

Slices were then washed in PBS 6 times for 10 minutes each before further processing. To help reduce background staining caused by the secondary antibody, slices were preincubated with 20-50µl of 10% Normal Horse Serum (NHS) diluted in PBS with 1% triton for one hour at room temperature. The slices were then transferred to 24-well tissue culture dish (Corning, Corning, NY, USA). The excess blocking serum was blotted off using clean filter paper with care not to suck up the slices onto the filter paper. Slices were then incubated with 20-50µl of primary antisera, Mouse anti PKC gamma 1:250, [BD Transduction Labs, San Diego, CA]) overnight at 4°C. Care was taken to ensure that tissue floated freely and that it was completely covered by antibody solution. The tissue was then left to incubate in a humidity box for overnight at 4°C. Following 3 x 10 minute washes in PBS, to remove excess primary antibody, the tissues were then incubated with secondary antibodies, Goat anti Mouse Alexa488 1:500, [Molecular Probes – Invitrogen, Mount Waverley, Australia] and Streptavidin Texas Red 1:400 [Amersham Biosciences, Piscataway, NJ]) for 1 hr at room temperature in a humidity box. At the end of the secondary incubation, the slices were once again subjected to 3 further PBS washes to remove excess secondary antibody. They were then mounted onto a glass slide and coverslipped using buffered glycerol mounting media. They were then labeled and stored in cool place until subjected to confocal imaging.

2.8 Confocal Microscopy:

For confocal imaging, the preparations were viewed on a Biorad MRC1024 confocal scanning laser system installed on a Zeiss Axioplan 2 microscope. The system had a krypton-argon laser for differential visualization of the fluorophores, using 488-nm excitation and 522/535-nm emission for Alexa488 and 568-nm excitation and 605/632-nm emission for Texas Red. The microscope was also fitted with a transmitted light detector which was used to simultaneously obtain dark field images.

Low Power (10 or 20 x objective) images of the biocytin filled cell, PKC immunoreactivity and dark field illumination were captured in order to determine the lamina localization of the cell body. Confocal z stacks of the biocytin and PKC immunoreactivity in and around the cell body were taken at 2 μ m intervals using a 40x oil immersion objective to determine the cells content of each antigen and to confirm lamina localization. Z stacks of the entire detectable extent of the biocytin filled cell body and dendritic arbor of each cell were taken at intervals of 1 μ m. Using these stacks of images a three dimensional reconstructions were also made using the confocal assistant (4.01) software for spatial rotation of each neuron to identify the dendritic orientation in different planes.

For cells with a large dorsoventral or mediolateral extent this sometimes required z stacks to be obtained using several adjacent microscope fields. In most cases the cell's full rostrocaudal extent within the slice was not evidence because the signal was either not detectable deep in the slice or the working distance of the lens was not great enough. Skewing of the rostrocaudal axis either because it had been obliquely cut or because the slice had been squashed by the coverslip was detected by viewing the PKC staining around the cell body and checking that its border was parallel to the z-axis of the microscope.

Analysis of the dendritic orientations was performed by two independent observers. The observations were then combined to derive at a final conclusion on the predominant dendritic orientation of different cell types. Whenever any discrepancies aroused between the observations those cell were considered as unclassified or unclear category.

Figure 2.1: A cartoon illustrating chronic constriction nerve injury by applying polyethylene cuffs. Under anesthesia the sciatic nerve was exposed and the polyethylene cuff was applied to enclose the nerve using fine forceps.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.





Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Figure 2.2: Photograph illustrating the measurement of mechanical hypersensitivity by von Frey hair technique. Rats were placed on a chamber with wire mesh bottom. The von Frey hairs were applied to the injured paw until it buckles under pressure.

Figure 2.2



112

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Figure 2.3: A schematic illustration of the preparation of transverse slices of the dorsal horn. The lumbar spinal cord is glued to a 4% agar block. The vibratome blade is advanced slowly at 1-4 mm/min. Approximately 300-350µm slices are cut from the lumbar spinal cord.





Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Figure 2.4. A schematic illustration of identifying the ipsilateral side. The transverse slices are cut with a triangular agar piece still attached to it. The long side of the triangle was used to mark the side of the cord ipsilateral to the CCI or sham lesion.



Figure 2.4

2.9 References

Eckert WA, III, Willcockson HH, Light AR (2001) Interference of biocytin with opioidevoked hyperpolarization and membrane properties of rat spinal substantia gelatinosa neurons. Neurosci Lett 297: 117-120.

Edwards FA (1995) Patch-clamp recording in brain slices. In: In *Brain Slices in Basic and Clinical Research* (Schurr A, Rigor BM, eds), pp 99-116. Boca Raton: CRC Press.

Gold MS, Weinreich D, Kim CS, Wang R, Treanor J, Porreca F, Lai J (2003) Redistribution of NaV1.8 in Uninjured Axons Enables Neuropathic Pain. Journal of Neuroscience 23: 158-166.

Horikawa K, Armstrong WE (1988) A versatile means of intracellular labelling: injection of biocytin and its detection with avidin conjugates. J Neurosci Methods 25: 1-11.

Li CY, Song YH, Higuera ES, Luo ZD (2004) Spinal Dorsal Horn Calcium Channel {alpha}2{delta}-1 Subunit Upregulation Contributes to Peripheral Nerve Injury-Induced Tactile Allodynia. Journal of Neuroscience 24: 8494-8499.

Moran TD (2003) Neuropeptide Modulation of Spinal Pain Pathways. University of Alberta.

Moran TD, Colmers WF, Smith PA (2004) Opioid-Like Actions of Neuropeptide Y in Rat Substantia Gelatinosa: Y1 Suppression of Inhibition and Y2 Suppression of Excitation. J Neurophysiol 92: 3266-3275.

Moran TD, Smith PA (2002) Morphine-3-D-Glucuronide suppresses inhibitory synaptic transmission in the *substantia gelatinosa* of adult rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 302: 568-576.

Pitcher GM, Ritchie J, Henry JL (1999) Paw withdrawal threshold in the von Frey hair test is influenced by the surface on which the rat stands. J Neurosci Methods 87: 185-193.

Prescott SA, de Koninck Y (2002) Four cell types with distinctive membrane properties and morphologies in lamina I of the spinal dorsal horn of the adult rat. J Physiol 539: 817-836.

Sakmann B, Stuart GJ (1995) Patch Clamp Recordings from the Soma, Dendrites and Axons of Neurons in Brain Slices. In: Single-Channel Recordings (Sakmann B, Neher E, eds), pp 199-211. New York: Plenum.

Stefanini M, De Martino C, Zamboni L (1967) Fixation of ejaculated spermatozoa for electron microscopy. Nature 216: 173-174.

Stuart GJ, Dodt H-U, Sakmann B (1993) Patch-clamp recordings from the soma and dendrites of neurons in brain slices using infrared video microscopy. Pflugers Arch 423: 511-518.

Van der Kloot W (1991) The regulation of quantal size. Prog Neurobiol 36: 93-130.

Chapter 3

Sciatic Chronic Constriction Injury Generates a Specific Pattern of Changes in the synaptic excitation and the electrophysiological properties of Rat Substantia Gelatinosa Neurons

3.1 Introduction:

In experimental animals, peripheral nerve damage induces pain-related behaviors that are widely accepted as a model for human neuropathic pain (Kim et al., 1997;Mosconi and Kruger, 1996). These behaviors, which include mechanical and thermal hyperalgesia and allodynia, have been attributed to pathophysiological changes at multiple levels of the pain pathway which includes i) Persistent ectopic activity in both damaged and undamaged peripheral nerves and their dorsal root ganglia (Wall et al., 1979;Yoon et al., 1996;Govrin-Lippmann and Devor, 1978;Wall and Devor, 1983;Amir et al., 2005) ii) Enduring changes in the intrinsic properties of neurons and synaptic networks within the dorsal horn (centralization) (Woolf, 1983;Woolf and Mannion, 1999;Moore et al., 2002;Dalal et al., 1999;Coull et al., 2003) and iii) alterations in descending brainstem control of spinal nociceptive pathways (Suzuki et al., 2002). Taken together, these three processes contribute to the phenomenon of 'central sensitization', wherein spontaneous action potential discharge in the dorsal horn is increased and the response of dorsal horn neurons to peripheral stimulation is augmented and prolonged (Laird and Bennett, 1993;Dalal et al., 1999).

As already mentioned in general introduction, even though the role of *substantia gelatinosa* neurons in pain modulation is widely appreciated the organization of this region is still unclear. Hence, this remains a topic of intense investigation (Hantman et al., 2004;Light and Trevino, 1979;Lu and Perl, 2003;Lu and Perl, 2005;Grudt and Perl, 2002;Lu et al., 2006). Several cellular and molecular changes in this region have been attributed to the phenomenon of central sensitization seen after nerve injury (Kohno et al., 2003;Moore et al., 2002;Scholz et al., 2005;Woolf et al., 1992;Zhuang et al., 2005).

Despite this, it still not clear whether nerve injury affects all the cell types in *substantia gelatinosa* region in a similar way. Several different neuronal types have been distinguished in the superficial laminae of rat, mouse, cat and/or hamster spinal cord on the basis of their morphological (Gobel, 1978a;Gobel, 1978b), immunohistochemical (Todd and Spike, 1993) and electrophysiological characteristics (Grudt and Perl, 2002;Thomson et al., 1989;Prescott and de Koninck, 2002;Ruscheweyh and Sandkuhler, 2002;Heinke et al., 2004;Graham et al., 2004;Lu and Perl, 2005;Ruscheweyh and Sandkuhler, 2002). However, there is no general consensus to the precise relationship between neuronal morphology, electrophysiological characteristics, neurotransmitter phenotype and the immunocytochemical properties of *substantia gelatinosa* neurons. Hence, in this chapter I have defined cell types solely on the basis of electrophysiological consequences of peripheral nerve damage? and 2) are all cell types affected in the same way?

To address these issues, I have used whole-cell recording to carry out a systematic study of the effect of sciatic nerve injury (polyethylene cuff model) on the electrophysiological properties of various types of neurons in the *substantia gelatinosa* of young adult rats. Because acute rhizotomy occurred during the preparation of the slices, the impact of ectopic activity in the dorsal root ganglia (Wall and Devor, 1983) or from the site of nerve injury (Wall and Gutnick, 1974;Amir et al., 2005) on CCI-induced alterations in *substantia gelatinosa* activity would have been minimized. Neurons were classified electrophysiologically, according to their discharge pattern in response to sustained depolarizing current (Grudt and Perl, 2002) as 'tonic', 'delay', 'irregular' 'phasic' or 'transient'. Our main finding is that 'tonic' cells respond differently to CCI than all other cell types. The excitatory synaptic drive to 'delay', 'transient' and 'irregular' cells is increased, while that to the 'tonic' cells is diminished. 'Tonic' cells also fired fewer action potentials in response to depolarizing current ramps. These observations relate to the hypothesis that some 'tonic' cells are themselves inhibitory (Hantman et al., 2004; Lu and Perl 2005) whereas many 'delay' cells may be excitatory (Lu and Perl, 2005). These CCI-induced changes are therefore in directions conducive to increased intrinsic activity within the *substantia gelatinosa* and underline the importance of enduring changes in synaptic transmission to the onset of pain centralization.

3.2 Methods

Most of the methods for recording from *substantia gelatinosa* neurons were identical to those described in Chapter 2. In a few experiments however (n=20), neurons were studied using nystatin-perforated patches. During perforated patch experiments, two kinds of internal recording solutions were used. The recording pipettes were first tip-filled with normal internal solution (refer to chapter 2 for description) to facilitate seal formation. They were then back filled with the nystatin containing solution which was prepared as follows. First, nystatin (0.05%), pluronic acid F127 (0.3%), was dissolved (Vortex/sonicate) in DMSO (0.03%), until clear yellow solution was obtained. This was then made up to a volume of 10ml with normal internal solution. The nystatin containing solution was prepared fresh daily. After attaining tight (Giga Ohm) seal, the cell was

monitored until optimal access was achieved. The duration of obtaining perforated access varied from 20-40 minutes.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Behavioral testing

Since there is some question as to whether 20d old rats, as used in our study, exhibit pain behavior following peripheral nerve injury (Howard et al., 2005), we used standard von Frey hairs to assess mechanical hypersensitivity following CCI. Scores represented in Figure 3.1 were obtained from responses of the left paw that was ipsilateral to the nerve injury. The basal scores prior to surgery indicate that the filament diameters used did not generate withdrawal responses in un-operated animals. The difference in sensitivity between CCI and sham operated animals progressively increased over the 14d testing period. By this time, almost all animals subject to CCI had developed significant mechanical hypersensitivity.

Rats were also assumed to have attained a threshold for displaying mechanical hypersensitivity when they exhibited a withdrawal score of 4 for a total of 9 tests. Since the maximum attainable score was 18, this corresponds to a 22.2% response. This is close to the 20% response used by others (Decosterd and Woolf, 2000). Using this criterion, the baseline threshold prior to surgery threshold was >15g. Two weeks after the injury, the operated rats showed a reduction in mechanical threshold to $5.0\pm0.5g$ (n = 46), whereas threshold in sham-operated animals still exceeded 15g (n = 46).

Since both methods of assessing mechanical hypersensitivity revealed clear, statistically significant increases at two weeks, we chose a time frame between 13-25 days post-surgery to examine CCI-induced changes in the electrophysiological properties of *substantia gelatinosa* neurons.

3.3.2 Electrophysiological Characterization of Neuron Types.

The most widely used classification is based on the differences in spiking pattern in response to depolarizing current injection, however there are some discrepancies regarding the classification of firing pattern. Phasic neurons, which fire a short burst of spikes at the beginning of depolarizing pulse were termed adapting firing neurons (Melnick et al., 2004a), initial burst (Heinke et al., 2004) or transient type (Grudt and Perl, 2002). Moreover, Ruscheweyh et al (Ruscheweyh and Sandkuhler, 2002) report absence of tonic firing pattern, while several other studies suggest it is one of the most common type of neuron encountered in the *substantia gelatinosa* (Ruscheweyh and Sandkuhler, 2002;Grudt and Perl, 2002;Lu and Perl, 2003;Lu and Perl, 2005;Melnick et al., 2004b). Some studies suggest variations in holding potential (-60mv to -80mV) could lead to potential misclassification of neurons (Ruscheweyh and Sandkuhler, 2002), while Melnick et al 2004a suggest it is not the case. To clarify these issues I have characterized five different classes of the *substantia gelatinosa* neurons based on their firing characteristics at -60mV. These are as follows.

'Tonic' neurons are defined as those that exhibit continued discharge of action potentials in response to depolarizing current commands and an increased frequency of discharge in response to depolarizing currents of increasing intensity (see Figure 3.2A). Tonic cells also exhibited lowest rheobase (~24pA) when compared to other cell types (Table 3.1) and hence are easily excitable.

'Delay' neurons exhibited a sustained delay prior to the onset of action potential discharge in response to a depolarizing current. The delay becomes shorter with higher current injections (see Figure 3.2B). Delay cells exhibited high frequency excitatory synaptic activity (Figure 3.10 B).

'Phasic' neurons were those which discharge 3 or more action potentials in response to an appropriate depolarizing stimulus followed by accommodation and cessation of firing (see Figure 3.2C). The rate of adaptation and the level of adapted firing within the range of current steps tested suggest the phasic cells are clearly a distinct and separate class of neurons. Spontaneous excitatory synaptic activity was relatively rare in phasic neurons (Figure 3.10B).

'Transient' neurons were those which fire a single action potential and never more than two spikes no matter how much depolarizing current is injected (see Figure 3.2D). Transient neurons exhibited the highest rheobase (~75pA) of any group of neurons studied (see Table 3.1).

'Irregular' neurons are those in which there is little correspondence between discharge patterns or frequency and intensity of depolarizing current (see Figure 3.2E). We also encountered a few cells (4.3%) that did not readily fit into any of the five categories. Such unclassified neurons were excluded for the analysis.

To confirm that the different firing patterns seen in *substantia gelatinosa* neurons were not an artifact induced by the cellular perfusion during whole-cell recording, we also examined the firing properties of *substantia gelatinosa* neurons (n=20) by means of nystatin-permeabilized patches. The percentage of 'tonic' 'delay' 'phasic', 'irregular' pattern obtained (Figure 3.3, A to E), were comparable with whole-cell recording (Figure 3.2F), with an exception of 'transient' pattern which was not observed in perforated-patch recording conditions. Thus, with the possible exception of 'transient' discharge, the discharge patterns observed can be ascribed to true variations in cellular physiology rather than to differences in recording conditions of *substantia gelatinosa* neurons.

Since the *substantia gelatinosa* is the site of termination of many primary afferent C and A δ fibers, it is assumed to play an indispensable role in the processing of nociceptive information (Millan, 1999). Recent *in vivo* studies have shown, however, that tonic, phasic, transient, and delay neurons in mouse superficial dorsal horn can participate in the processing of both innocuous and noxious stimulation (Graham et al., 2004). Capsaicin is a useful tool in nociceptive studies as it excites a subpopulation of neurons receiving input from umyelinated C-fibers and also minority of A δ -fibers (Bevan and Szolcsanyi, 1990;Caterina et al., 1997;Holzer, 1991). Because capsaicin (1 μ M) increased the frequency or induced sEPSC's in 12/14 tonic cells, 5/6 delay cells, 4/6 phasic cells, 3/7 transient cells and 8/9 irregular cells in rat *substantia gelatinosa*, it is probable that all cell types we studied participate in nociceptive processing. Similar numbers of cells displayed capsaicin sensitivity after CCI; 12/12 tonic cells, 7/9 delay cells, 6/7 phasic cells, 4/5 transient cells and 9/10 irregular cells. The cumulative probability plots demonstrating the

effect of capsaicin on both frequency and amplitude of the sEPSC's in sham and CCI rats are represented in Figures 3.4 and 3.5.

3.3.3 Effects of CCI on Passive Membrane Properties.

Sciatic nerve injury could hypothetically promote a 'phenotypic shift' such that one or more of the aforementioned cell types disappear completely or become more dominant in the neuronal population of the *substantia gelatinosa* as a whole. This did not appear to be the case because tonic, irregular, phasic, transient and delay neurons were found in similar proportions in a sample of 149 neurons from sham operated rats and 179 neurons from CCI rats (Figure 3.2 F and G). Numbers of neurons of different type in the two populations were compared with χ^2 tests and P values ranged from 0.08 to 0.95, indicating no significant change in the contribution of each neuron type to the total population. Analysis of the electrophysiological properties of tonic, delay, phasic, transient and irregular neurons from sham operated and CCI animals was therefore undertaken.

CCI did not affect resting membrane potential (r.m.p), rheobase or input resistance in any neuron type (Table 3.1 and Figure 3.6). It also did not produce a global change in membrane excitability or spontaneous excitatory synaptic activity but rather produced a clear pattern of neuron type-specific changes.

3.3.4 Effects of CCI on Membrane Excitability.

Figure 3.7 illustrates the effect of depolarizing current ramps on action potential discharge in each of the five defined cell types. Although ramp rates of 33, 67, 100 or 133pA/S were used in all cell types, data are only presented from ramp rates that evoked optimal firing in

each cell type. Since 'tonic' cells have a low rheobase they required slower ramp rates than 'transient' cells that have the highest rheobase (Table 3.1). The ramp rates chosen were steep enough to evoke robust firing in most cells tested without producing depolarization block at their most positive excursions. Panels on the left illustrate typical responses of tonic, delay, phasic, transient and irregular cells to current ramps (shown as superimposed dashed lines). Panels on the right of Figure 3.7 illustrate mean cumulative latencies for tonic (Figure 3.7A), delay (Figure 3.7B), phasic (Figure 3.7C), transient (Figure 3.7D) and irregular neurons (Figure 3.7E) from sham operated and CCI animals. Note significantly greater cumulative latencies for 'tonic' cells after CCI indicating decreased excitability (Figure 3.7A) and significantly reduced cumulative latencies for phasic cells (Figure 3.7C) indicating increased excitability. The membrane excitability of delay, transient and irregular cells was unchanged (Figure 3.7B, D and E).

3.3.5 Effect of CCI on Voltage-Sensitive Conductances.

Voltage-gated K⁺ currents were recorded from the various cell types in sham operated and CCI animals to examine their possible contribution to changes in excitability. Experiments were done in the presence of 1μ M TTX to prevent action potential generation. Neurons were subject to a series of incremental voltage commands from holding potentials of -80 or -110mV (see methods, chapter 2). Surprisingly, some neurons failed to generate voltage-sensitive outward currents under these conditions. Others generated a slowly activating current which resembled a delayed rectifier (DR; Figure Fig 3.8A). Such currents took more than 20ms to activate at -20mV and either did not inactivate or inactivated only slightly during a 100ms command. Other cells exhibited a more transient current that resembled an A or D-current (A/D current). Such currents activated in less

than 20ms at -20mV and displayed > 50% inactivation within 100ms of activation (Figure 3.8B). As shown in Table 3.2, there was no obvious correlation between neuronal type and current exhibited. CCI injury did not significantly alter the expression of current types in the various groups of neurons (χ^2 tests on data in Table 3.2). Figures 3.8C and 3.8D illustrate current-voltage plots for DR-type current in phasic and tonic cells. CCI does not produce a significant change in current amplitude. Thus, increased excitability of phasic cells (Figure 3.7C) and decreased excitability of tonic cells (Figure 3.7A) would not appear to reflect changes in voltage-sensitive K⁺ currents that can be recorded in the soma.

Injury-induced upregulation of hyperpolarization-activated cation current (I_h) in dorsal root ganglion neurons has been suggested to contribute to generation of neuropathic pain (Chaplan et al., 2003;Yao et al., 2003). We therefore tested whether CCI altered this current in *substantia gelatinosa* neurons. A series of hyperpolarizing voltage commands from a holding potential of -60mV (Figure 3.8E) were used to activate Ih. It was most commonly encountered in tonic neurons (Grudt and Perl, 2002) and was absent from irregular and delay neurons. CCI did not appear to affect the overall chance of observing I_h (P>0.5, χ^2 test on all neurons studied). The current was seen in 6/25 tonic neurons from sham operated animals and in 4/24 neurons from CCI animals. It was seen in 1/25 transient neurons from shams and 2/19 after CCI. I_h was seen in 3/13 phasic neurons in the sham group and in 1/13 in the CCI group. Thus, alterations in I_h are unlikely to play a major role in CCI-induced increased activity in the *substantia gelatinosa*.
3.3.6 Effects of CCI on Spontaneous Excitatory Synaptic Currents.

CCI changed excitatory synaptic transmission in different ways in different cell types. Spontaneous excitatory synaptic activity was reduced in tonic cells but increased in delay, transient and irregular cells.

The effects of CCI on sEPSC amplitude are illustrated in Figure 3.9 A-E and its effects on interevent interval (reciprocal frequency) are illustrated in Figure 3.9 F-J. Figures 3.9A and F show that CCI reduced the amplitude and frequency of sEPSC's in 'tonic' cells. By contrast, CCI increased the frequency and amplitude of sEPSC's in delay, transient and irregular cells (Figures 3.9B,D, E, G, I and J). While CCI increased sEPSC frequency in phasic cells (Figure 3.9H), amplitude was reduced (Figure 3.9C). All changes were significant according to the Kolmogorov-Smirnoff test (P values presented in Figure 3.9). Despite this, it is possible that the presence of silent cells in the various populations may have biased the data. Neurons were classified as 'silent' if they failed to display one or more events during the 3 min sampling period and were omitted from the analysis. However, if such cells fired one event, say, every 4 min, they should have been included as very slow firing cells. The inadvertent omission of such cells may have altered the nature of cumulative probability plots. It is unlikely that this type of bias was introduced because comparable numbers of 'silent' cells were found in each cell category in both sham and after CCI animals (χ^2 tests on data in Table 3.3).

We also used a simpler but more rigorous parametric t-test to analyze the same data set as used in Figure 3.9 A-J. This generally identified the same trends as the Komogorov-Smirnoff test. Figure 3.10 E shows that sEPSC amplitude was reduced in tonic neurons and increased in delay, transient and irregular neurons. These findings correspond to those shown in Figure 3.9A, B, D & E. Phasic cell sEPSC amplitude was unchanged according to the t-test (Figure 3.10E) but decreased according to the KS test (Figure 3.9C). This inconsistency may reflect the limited amount of data available from phasic cells as they displayed the lowest level of spontaneous activity of all the cell types.

Figure 3.10F shows that sEPSC interevent intervals for tonic cells were increased (frequency decreased) whereas those for delay, transient and irregular were reduced (frequency increased). Again, the more rigorous t-test generally supports the conclusions from the KS test (Figure 3.9F, G, I & J). The one exception is phasic cells where no significant change in interevent interval was detected by the t-test. This questions the validity of data presented in Figure 3.9H, where CCI appeared to increase interevent interval of phasic cells.

Spontaneous inhibitory activity (sIPSC) was rarely encountered under our recording conditions that used K^+ as the predominant intracellular cation. It was therefore not feasible to compare sIPSC's between sham and CCI animals. Although sIPSC's can be recorded in rat *substantia gelatinosa* neurons when Cs⁺ is used as an intracellular cation (Moran et al., 2004), the use of Cs⁺ complicates identification of neuron types on the basis of their action potential discharge pattern.

3.3.7 Effects of CCI on Miniature Excitatory Synaptic Currents

Spontaneous postsynaptic events reflect action potential-dependent as well as action potential-independent release of neurotransmitter. The latter process, which represents ongoing activity of the release process, can be investigated by examining mEPSC's in the presence of TTX (Edwards et al., 1990). Fig 3.10A compares the mean amplitudes of sEPSC's in 'tonic', 'delay', 'transient' and 'irregular' cells with the mean amplitudes of mEPSC's recorded in 1µM TTX. Insufficient data were available from mEPSC's in 'phasic' cells. TTX had little effect on event amplitude in 'tonic', 'delay' and 'transient' cells but reduced it in 'irregular' cells. It has been argued that each mEPSC represents the release of a single quantum of neurotransmitter (Edwards et al., 1990). If this is so, the lack of effect of TTX on event amplitude may imply that each sEPSC also represents the release of a single quantum so each action-potential dependent sEPSC in 'tonic', 'delay' and 'transient' cells has a low quantal content. Alternatively, if the amount of neurotransmitter released in one mEPSC saturates the postsynaptic (AMPA) binding sites, any increased transmitter release during a sEPSC would not be detected. Figure 3.10B shows that TTX increased interevent interval (decreased frequency) by 100% in 'tonic', 72% in 'delay', 149% in 'transient' and 80% in 'irregular' cells. This implies about half of the sEPSC's recorded in the absence of TTX are actually mEPSC's that reflect the action potential-independent turn-over of the release process (Edwards et al., 1990). (50% of spontaneous events in tonic cells are mEPSC's, 41% in delay cells, 60% in transient cells and 44% in irregular cells). Sample recordings illustrate that mEPSC's (Fig 3.10D) are of comparable amplitude to sEPSC's (Fig 3.10C) but occur less frequently.

There was a marked similarity between CCI-induced changes in mEPSC (Figure 3.9K-Q) and those seen in sEPSC's (Figure 3.9A, B, D-G, and I). Thus, mEPSC amplitude and frequency are decreased in tonic cells (Figure 3.9K and O) and increased in delay and transient cells (Figure 3.9L, M, P and Q). Because the frequency of mEPSCs in phasic

cells was so low, it was not possible to prepare cumulative probability plots from the available data. Also, changes in mEPSC interevent interval were not significant for irregular cells (Figure 3.9R) whereas statistical significance was attained for changes in interevent interval of sEPSC (Figure 3.9J). As with sEPSC's, we had to consider the possibility that the presence of 'silent cells', (*i.e.* those which failed to generate a mEPSC during 3 min recording) could bias the data to yield inaccurate cumulative probability plots. This again did not seem to be the case because similar proportions of all neuron types exhibited mEPSC activity in both sham-operated and CCI animals (Table 3.3).

As was done for sEPSC's, the pool of mEPSC data analyzed with KS statistics (Figure 3.9K-R) was reanalyzed using a parametric t-test (Figure 3.10G and H) and similar changes were found. Thus, CCI significantly reduced mEPSC amplitude of tonic cells, but increased that of delay, transient and irregular cells. It also increased interevent interval (reduced the frequency) of mEPSC's in tonic cells but decreased the interevent interval (increased the frequency) of delay and transient cells. CCI failed to affect the mEPSC frequency of irregular cells (Figure 3.10H), thus confirming the conclusion reached using the KS test (Figure 3.9R).

3.4 Discussion

Because there is, as yet, no standardized classification scheme for *substantia gelatinosa* neurons (Todd and Spike, 1993;Ruscheweyh et al., 2004;Heinke et al., 2004;Hantman et al., 2004;Grudt and Perl, 2002), we used simple electrophysiological criteria to classify the neurons as 'tonic', 'delay', 'phasic', 'transient' and 'irregular'. These five categories are similar to those used by other researchers in the field (Melnick et al., 2004;Melnick et al., 2004b;Prescott and de Koninck, 2002;Graham et al., 2004;Grudt and Perl,

2002;Hantman et al., 2004;Lu and Perl, 2003;Lu and Perl, 2005). In confirmation of the findings of Grudt and Perl (2002), we found that 'delay' cells had a high level of spontaneous excitatory activity (Fig 3.10B).

CCI altered the synaptic transmission in all cell types studied. Although alterations in sEPSC and mEPSC amplitude likely represent postsynaptic effects, possible presynaptic effects on quantal size or content cannot be discounted. Alterations in mEPSC frequency likely represent alterations in the transmitter release machinery *per se*. This inevitably contributes to the overall CCI-induced alterations in sEPSC frequency as 41 – 60% of sEPSC's represent action-potential independent release (i.e. they are actually mEPSC's; Fig 3.10B). Any additional contribution of CCI-induced alterations in presynaptic action potential frequency to altered sEPSC frequency is difficult to assess. This is because CCI-induced changes in sEPSC frequency paralleled those seen in mEPSC frequency.

Capsaicin excites a subtype of sensory neurons that are involved in nociception. Capsaicin receptors are expressed on sensory neurons that are associated with ummyelinated C fibers and with a minority of A δ fibers (Bevan and Szolcsanyi, 1990;Caterina et al., 1997;Holzer, 1991). The action of capsaicin in *substantia gelatinosa* neurons has also been reported previously (Yang et al., 1998;Yang et al., 1999). The increase in the frequency of sEPSC's after application of capsaicin suggests that tonic, delay, phasic, irregular and transient cells receive inputs from nociceptive fibers and hence participates in processing of nociceptive information. Moreover, capsaicin experiments also gave us some idea as to the nature of the synaptic inputs in these slices. Since we used thin transverse slices (300µm), the synaptic inputs, in some cases may have been removed

during the preparation of slices. This raises concerns over the impact of CCI on the spontaneous synaptic activity in these cells, where the effects could be due to slicing procedure than nerve injury. However, capsaicin is able to increase the spontaneous excitatory synaptic activity, in both sham and CCI rats, (Figure 3.4 and 3.5). Even in the tonic cells where CCI diminishes the excitatory spontaneous activity, application of capsaicin was still able to increase the sEPSC's. This suggests that in CCI rats the synaptic inputs were comparable to that in control situation and hence the slicing procedure *per se* could not be attributed for changes in synaptic activity.

3.4.1 Effects of CCI on 'Tonic' Cells.

Tonic cells are assumed to function as "integrators". In lamina 1, Tonic neurons exhibit prolonged EPSP's and hence tend to summate synaptic events over prolonged intervals (Prescott and de Koninck, 2002;Prescott and De Koninck, 2005). Moreover, based on studies in deep dorsal horn neurons tonic cells are assumed to signal both static and dynamic components of sensory stimuli and hence function in a "broad band" capacity (Schneider, 2003). Although CCI increased the amplitude and/or frequency of sEPSC's and/or mEPSC's in most cell types, 'tonic' cells are a clear exception. CCI reduced both the amplitude and frequency of both mEPSC's and sEPSC's (Figure 3.9 &3.10). Many GABAergic interneurons in lamina II correspond to 'islet' cells defined morphologically by the rostrocaudal orientation of their dendritic tree (Todd and Spike, 1993). Because islet cells often display a 'tonic' discharge pattern (Lu and Perl, 2003;Lu and Perl, 2005) many 'tonic' cells are likely to be GABAergic. This possibility is supported by the observation that intracellular stimulation of 'islet' cells *in vitro* evoked monosynaptic, bicuculline-sensitive IPSC's in 'central' neurons (Lu and Perl, 2003).

In addition to suppressing the spontaneous excitatory synaptic transmission onto 'tonic' cells (Figure 3.9A, F, K and O, Figure 3.10E-H), CCI also reduced the membrane excitability (Figure 3.7A). If they are predominantly GABAergic, a CCI-induced decrease in excitation and membrane excitability of 'tonic' cells fits with the finding that GABAergic tone is reduced in neuropathic pain states (Laird and Bennett, 1992;Woolf and Mannion, 1999;Moore et al., 2002;Baba et al., 2003). Moreover, depressed synaptic drive to inhibitory neurons may contribute to an overall increase in dorsal horn excitability.

3.4.2 Effects of CCI on 'Delay',' Transient' and 'Irregular' cells.

Delay cells may function as excitatory interneurons corresponding to 'vertical' cells with dorsoventral orientation (Grudt and Perl, 2002). These may serve as output neurons conveying information to lamina I projection neurons (Lu and Perl, 2005). In direct contrast to 'tonic' cells, CCI increased all indices of spontaneous excitatory synaptic activity in 'delay' neurons (Figure 3.9B, G, L and P, Figure 3.10E-H). This coincides with the possibility that an increase in the synaptic drive to 'delay' cells would increase output to projection neurons of lamina I and thereby promote the transfer of nociceptive information.

Increased sEPSC and mEPSC frequency in 'delay' cells presumably reflects presynaptic changes. These may include up-regulation of the transmitter release mechanisms as well as the possible formation of new synapses (Okamoto et al., 2001). These possibilities are supported by microarray analysis following peripheral nerve injury that revealed large increases in message for proteins involved in neurotransmitter release (Xiao et al.,

2002;Yang et al., 2004). There is also evidence for increased expression of the presynaptic vesicle protein, synaptophysin after chronic constriction injury (Chou et al., 2002). Uncertainties regarding the contribution of increased frequency of presynaptic action potentials to the overall CCI-induced increase in sEPSC frequency have already been alluded to. If such an effect does occur, might it reflect increased action potential activity in primary afferent terminals? Although dorsal roots are acutely cut during the preparation of slices, all cell types exhibited increased sEPSC frequency in response to capsaicin. This indicates that primary afferent fibers remain viable and capable of transmitter release within the slices and that increased transmitter release from primary afferents affects all cell types. We cannot therefore exclude the possibility that axonally-generated action potentials in primary afferent fibres subject to CCI (Amir et al., 2005) contribute to the increased sEPSC frequency in 'delay' cells.

Whilst increases in sEPSC and mEPSC amplitude in 'delay' cells may also reflect presynaptic mechanisms, it is likely that postsynaptic mechanisms play a major role. This is because GluR2 adapter proteins, that control the function of specific AMPA receptor subtypes, as well as GluR3 itself, are upregulated in neuropathic pain (Garry et al., 2003) or peripheral nerve injury (Yang et al., 2004). Interestingly, these subunits may be confined to excitatory neurons (Albuquerque et al., 1999;Kerr et al., 1998). Putative inhibitory neurons such as 'tonic'/islet neurons are thought to express the GluR1 subunit (Kerr et al., 1998) and this may not be affected by CCI in the same way as GluR2. It is therefore possible that GluR1 AMPA receptors on putative inhibitory 'tonic' neurons are unchanged or even down-regulated by CCI whereas GluR2 AMPA receptors on putative excitatory, 'delay' cells are up-regulated. This possibility remains to be tested.

Because so little is known about the functional role of 'transient' or 'irregular' cells, it is difficult to attach any significance to the increased synaptic drive that they receive (Figure 3.9D,E, I, J, M, N and Q, Fig 3.10).

3.4.3 Effects of CCI on 'Phasic' Neurons.

Phasic cells might respond well to brief and rapidly adapting stimuli compared to static or slowly changing inputs (Schneider, 2003). These cells are termed as "coincidence detectors" as they tend not to rely on the summation of inputs for generating action potentials (Prescott and de Koninck, 2002). Some 'phasic' cells may be excitatory interneurons, some of which may correspond to morphologically-defined 'central' cells (Lu and Perl, 2005). It should be noted that these authors used the term 'transient cells' to define the population we refer to as 'phasic' cells. In mouse lamina I neurons however, identified GABAergic neurons display both 'tonic' and 'phasic' discharge patterns that can interconvert depending on the current stimulus parameters (Dougherty et al., 2005). Moreover, also in mouse, but in lamina II, it has been suggested that the majority of GABAergic neurons display a 'phasic' rather than a 'tonic' discharge pattern (Heinke et al., 2004). These apparently conflicting findings preclude the characterization of 'phasic' cells as a purely excitatory or inhibitory population. They may instead represent a mixed population of functional phenotypes. Since spontaneous synaptic activity was so rare in 'phasic' cells, and the statistical analyses of sEPSC amplitude and frequency produced different results depending on the method used, (Figure 3.9C and H and 3.10E and F) little can be concluded as to the effect of CCI on synaptic activity in this population. 'Phasic' cells did however exhibit a marked increase in membrane excitability following CCI (Figure 3.7C). Voltage-clamp experiments were therefore done to elucidate the underlying

mechanism. The absence of voltage-gated K^+ currents from the cell bodies of about 30% of substantia gelatinosa neurons was unexpected (Table 3.2) as was the lack of correlation between the type of K^+ current observed in a given neuron and its firing pattern. It has been suggested, however, that the soma of *substantia gelatinosa* neurons is not capable of initiating action potentials (Safronov et al., 1997) and that responses recorded in the soma spread passively from the axon hillock where most of the Na⁺ channels are localized. Thus, the repetitive firing characteristics of substantia gelatinosa may be determined by the Na⁺ and K⁺ channels located there. Although CCI did not alter the amount of DR-type K^+ current recorded in the cell body (Figure 3.8C and D), it has been estimated that 47% of DR-type K^+ channels reside in the dendrites and 38% reside in the initial segment of substantia gelatinosa neurons (Wolff et al., 1998). Thus, variations in the individual geometry of each cell may be a major determinant of how much DR-type K⁺ current in seen in the soma and this may override any CCI-induced changes in dendritic and initial segment DR K^+ channels. Thus, we cannot rule out the possibility that changes in K^+ channels in the initial segment exert profound effects on excitability. Changes in excitability may also reflect upregulation of Nav1.3 (Hains et al., 2004) or other Na⁺ channel subtypes (Yang et al., 2004) in the initial segments or dendrites.

Several factors likely conspire to instigate increased dorsal horn excitability following CCI. These include release of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Tsuda et al., 2005) and/or growth factors such as BDNF in response to nerve injury (Mannion et al., 1999;Coull et al., 2005). The differential response of 'delay' neurons and 'tonic' neurons to CCI may therefore reflect differential expression of TrkB, perhaps p75 and cytokine receptors on their cell bodies and presynaptic terminals. Moreover, the fact that that CCI produces cell-

type specific changes rather than a ubiquitous increase in excitability of all neuron types provides an 'injury footprint' (a specific pattern of changes) that serves as a 'template' for the identification of putative harbingers of pain centralization. Continuation of these studies may provide further new insights into the process of pain centralization.

Even though our studies suggest the *substantia gelatinosa* neurons could be differentiated based on firing properties alone, correlation of morphological characteristics with firing properties would be very useful. Since no consensus has been reached from other studies (Heinke et al., 2004;Grudt and Perl, 2002) it would be useful for us to establish if a correlation exist between neuronal morphology and firing characteristics. Grudt and Perl have shown that even though a majority of tonic neurons correspond islet cells, a minority of vertical cells also exhibit tonic firing pattern (Grudt and Perl, 2002). Similarly delay neurons could correspond to both radial and vertical neurons (Grudt and Perl, 2002). Hence, more profound effects of CCI could be observed if we categorize neurons based on both morphological and electrophysiological profiles. This topic is dealt in the following chapter.

Table 3.1. Effects of chronic constriction injury (CCI) on rheobase and resting membrane potential (r.m.p.) of various types of *substantia gelatinosa* neurons. No significant differences were seen for any cell type. Values represented as Mean \pm SD

	Tonic		Delay		Phasic	
	Rheobase (pA)	R.M.P. (mV)	Rheobase (pA)	R.M.P. (mV)	Rheobase (pA)	R.M.P. (mV)
CCI	24.3 ± 8.81 (n=46)	60.1 ± 11.1 (n=46)	53.9 ± 27.37 (n=37)	59.7 ± 8.40 (n=36)	29.4 ± 13.21 (n=33)	60.3 ± 10.91 (n=33)
Sham	20.3 ± 12.60 (n=49)	62.6±13.30 (n=49)	50.1±35.98 (n=28)	55.7±9.52 (n=30)	31.5 ± 14.27 (n=26)	56.6 ± 10.70 (n=26)
	<u>Transient</u>		Irregular			
	Rheobase (pA)	R.M.P. (mV)	Rheobase (pA)	R.M.P. (mV)		
CCI	108.8 ± 100.45 (n=26)	55.1 ± 12.9 (n=27)	43.8 ± 35.05 (n=30)	56.2 ± 9.31 (n=30)		
Sham	74.8 ± 63.90 (n=17)	56.2 ± 10.3 (n=17)	32.5 ± 13.41 (n=22)	57.5 ± 10.31 (n=22)		

Table 3.2. K^+ currents in various types of neuron from sham operated and CCI animals. DR = delayed rectifier type current (see Fig 3.8A), $A/D = I_A/I_D$ type inactivating current (see Fig 3.8B) *none* = absence of obvious voltage gated current.

	Sham				ССІ			
	DR	A/D	none	Total	DR	A/D	none	Total
<u>Tonic</u>	4	1	7	12	8	1	4	13
<u>Delay</u>	3	5	0	8	4	6	4	14
Phasic	8	0	6	14	12	2	6	20
<u>Transient</u>	1	2	2	5	1	7	5	13
<u>Irregular</u>	3	7	3	13	4	6	6	16
Total	19	15	18	52	29	22	25	76

Table 3.3 Numbers of cells in each category displaying sEPSC and mEPSC in sham operated and CCI animals. P values from χ^2 test.

	<u>Tonic</u>	Delay	Phasic	<u>Transient</u>	Irregular	Total
Sham with	35/44	23/26	17/21	18/21	17/20	110/132
sEPSC	2					
CCI with	27/39	25/29	19/25	21/26	20/22	112/141
sEPSC						
P value	0.41	0.8	0.97	0.95	0.91	0.50
χ^2 test						
Sham with	11/15	7/10	6/7	6/6	7/7	36/44
mEPSC						
CCI with	7/7	11/14	7/10	10/11	6/6	40/47
mEPSC						
P value	0.36	0.63	0.86	0.45	1.0	0.88
χ^2 test						

Figure. 3.1. Development of mechanical hypersensitivity following chronic constriction injury (CCI). For each panel, abscissa is gauge of von Frey hair used and ordinate is score derived from paw withdrawal measurements (percentage score of maximum, see methods). Baseline data were acquired from 20d animals. Lighter von Frey filaments were used to test these smaller animals to limit the available force to <15% of body weight. Each data point was acquired from 28 to 75 measurements (* P>0.05, ** P>0.01, *** P>0.0001).

Figure. 3.1



Figure. 3.2. A-E Whole- cell current-clamp recordings to show discharge patterns evoked in *substantia gelatinosa* neurons in response to three different intensities of depolarizing current as indicated at the bottom of each panel of records. Typical firing characteristics of **A**. a tonic neuron; discharge persists throughout application of depolarizing current and discharge rate increases with increasing depolarization, **B**. a delay neuron; note long delay prior to onset of spike discharge, **C**. a phasic neuron; spike discharge accommodates after 1-4 spikes, **D**. a transient neuron; only one spike is discharged regardless of the applied current intensity, **E**. an irregular neuron; number of spikes discharged is not directly related to intensity of depolarizing current. **F** and **G** Bar graphs to show percentage of each neuron type identified in recordings from sham operated and CCI animals. n=149 neurons from sham operated animals, n= 179 neurons from CCI animals. There is no significant difference in percentage of cells in the two groups, P values range from 0.08 to 0.95, χ^2 test.





Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Figure. 3.3. A-E Perforated-patch current-clamp recordings to show discharge patterns evoked in *substantia gelatinosa* neurons in response to three different intensities of depolarizing current as indicated at the bottom of each panel of records. Typical firing characteristics of **A**. a tonic neuron; **B**. a delay neuron; **C**. a phasic neuron **D**. an irregular neuron. **E** Bar graphs to show percentage of each neuron type identified in recordings from control animals. Total no of neurons=20.





Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Figure. 3.4. Cumulative probability plots for effects of capsaicin $(1\mu M)$ on amplitude and interevent interval of s.e.p.s.'c in sham animals. **A-E**, cumulative probability plots for the effect of capsaicin on sEPSC amplitude and **F-J**, interevent interval from tonic, delay, phasic, transient and irregular cells. P values derived from KS test are indicated on the graphs. The following numbers of events were analyzed from the whole 3 min of recording. Tonic neurons; n=12 cells, 1052 events from control, 4502 events after capsaicin treatment. Delay neurons; n=7 cells, 820 (control), 5519 (Capsaicin). Phasic neurons; n= 5 cells, 176 (Control), 1575 (Capsaicin); Transient neurons; n= 5 cells, 220 (Control), 846 (Capsaicin). Irregular neurons; n= 6 cells, 338 (Control), 2174 (Capsaicin).





Control Capsaicin



150

Figure. 3.5. Cumulative probability plots for effects of capsaicin $(1\mu M)$ on amplitude and interevent interval of s.e.p.s.'c in CCI animals. **A-E**, cumulative probability plots for the effect of capsaicin on sEPSC amplitude and **F-J**, **interevent** interval from tonic, delay, phasic, transient and irregular cells. P values derived from KS test are indicated on the graphs. The following numbers of events were analyzed from the whole 3 min of recording. Tonic neurons; n=10 cells, 1057 events from control, 3977 events after capsaicin treatment. Delay neurons; n= 9 cells, 826 (control), 5525 (Capsaicin). Phasic neurons; n=7 cells, 420 (Control), 725 (Capsaicin); Transient neurons; n= 5 cells, 603 (Control), 627 (Capsaicin). Irregular neurons; n=8 cells, 714 (Control), 2517 (Capsaicin).



Figure. 3.5

152

Figure. 3.6. Lack of effect of CCI on current-voltage relationships. A. Tonic cells (n = 15 neurons from sham operated animals; n = 17 neurons from CCI animals). B. Delay cells (n=11 neurons from sham operated animals; n=19 neurons from CCI animals). C. Phasic cells (n=9 neurons from sham operated animals; n=10 neurons from CCI animals). D. Transient cells (n=9 neurons from sham operated animals; n=10 neurons from CCI animals). D. Transient cells (n=9 neurons from sham operated animals; n=10 neurons from CCI animals). E. Irregular cells (n=14 neurons from sham operated animals; n=17 neurons from CCI animals; n=10 neurons from CCI animals; n=17 neurons from CCI animals; n=17 neurons from CCI animals; n=10 neurons from CCI animals; n=17 neurons from CCI animals; n=10 neurons from CCI animals; n=17 neurons from CCI animals; n=10 neurons from CCI animals; n=17 neurons from CCI animals; n=10 neurons from CCI animals; n=17 neurons from CCI animals; n=17 neurons from CCI animals; n=10 neurons from CCI animals; n=17 neurons from CCI animals; n=10 neurons from







Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Figure. 3.7. Effect of CCI on membrane excitability measured as cumulative latency of action potential discharge in response to depolarizing current ramps from -60mV. A-E left hand panels, sample records of responses of tonic, delay, phasic, transient and irregular cells to depolarizing current ramps. Right hand panels: A. Decreased excitability seen in tonic cells after CCI (* P < 0.05; ramp rate = 67pA/s; n=33 for sham; n=28-35 for CCI). **B.** Unchanged excitability of Delay cells (ramp rate = 67pA/s; n=13-19 for sham; n=17-25 for CCI) C. Increased excitability in phasic cells after CCI (* P < 0.05; ramp rate = 67pA/s; n=9-14 for sham; n=14-24 for CCI). D. unchanged excitability for transient cells (ramp rate = 100pA/s; n=3 for sham; n=7 for CCI). E. Unchanged excitability of irregular cells (ramp rate = 100pA/s; n=8-17 for sham; n=10-22 for CCI). Highest n values are seen for lowest spike numbers, with the exception of transient cells, all other cell types discharged at least 3 spikes in response to the current ramp, but not every cell discharged 8 or 9 spikes. Current, voltage and time calibration in A refers to all traces. Solid lines are voltage superimposed dashed lines corresponding traces. are current trace.

Figure. 3.7



156

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Figure. 3.8. Voltage-dependent conductances activated in *substantia gelatinosa* neurons A. Delayed rectifier type K^+ current, B Inactivating A- or D-type current E. H-current. Relevant voltage recordings are shown in the lower panels of A, B and E. C. Current voltage plots for peak delayed rectifier K^+ current in 8 phasic neurons from sham operated animals and 11 phasic neurons in CCI animals. D. Current voltage plots for peak delayed rectifier K^+ current in 4 tonic neurons from sham operated animals and 8 tonic neurons in CCI animals. No significant differences are seen.





Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Figure. 3.9. Cumulative probability plots for effects of CCI on amplitude and interevent interval of s.e.p.s.'c and m.e.p.s.c's in substantia gelatinosa neurons. The following number of events were analyzed from the first 50 events following 1 min of recording. Tonic neurons; 1700 events from sham operated animals (n=35), 1300 events from CCI animals (n=26). Delay neurons; 1150 (sham) (n=22), 1200 (CCI) (n=23). Phasic neurons; 520 (sham) (n=17), 847 (CCI) (n=15); Transient neurons; 750 (sham) (n=15), 1000 (CCI) (n=20). Irregular neurons; 750 (sham) (n=14), 1000 (CCI) (19). A-E and F-J cumulative probability plots for sEPSC amplitude and interevent interval from tonic, delay, phasic, transient and irregular cells. P values derived from KS test indicated on graphs. K-N and **O-R** cumulative probability plots for mEPSC amplitude and interevent interval from tonic, delay, transient and irregular cells. P values derived from KS test indicated on graphs. Insufficient data were available from phasic cells. The following numbers of mEPSC's were analyzed from the first 30 events at the start of recording. Tonic neurons; 325 events from sham operated animals, 175 events from CCI animals. Delay neurons; 238 (sham), 293 (CCI). Transient neurons; 112 (sham), 256 (neurons CCI). Irregular; 143 (sham), 166 (CCI).





160

Figure 3.10. A and B Comparison of sEPSC and mEPSC amplitude and interevent interval in 'tonic', 'delay', 'transient' and 'irregular' *substantia gelatinosa* neurons from 'sham' operated rats. mEPSC's were recorded in the presence of 1 μ M TTX and sEPSC's were recorded in its absence. Insufficient data were available for mEPSC's in 'phasic' cells. (C-D) Sample traces illustrating the (C) sEPSC's and (D) mEPSC's. E-H. Effects of CCI on average amplitude and interevent interval of (E and F) sEPSC and (G and H) mEPSC in rat SG. Insufficient data are available for properties of mEPSC in phasic neurons. For Student's unpaired t-test, **= P<0.0001; *= P<0.001; +++= P<0.002; ++= P<0.02; += P<0.05. Data is a reanalysis of that presented in Figure 3.9 so same n values apply. *i.e.* sEPSC data from 520-1700 events, mEPSC data from 112-325 events.





3.5 References

Albuquerque C, Lee CJ, Jackson AC, MacDermott AB (1999) Subpopulations of GABAergic and non-GABAergic rat dorsal horn neurons express Ca2+-permeable AMPA receptors. Eur J Neurosci 11: 2758-2766.

Amir R, Kocsis JD, Devor M (2005) Multiple Interacting Sites of Ectopic Spike Electrogenesis in Primary Sensory Neurons. Journal of Neuroscience 25: 2576-2585.

Baba H, Ji RR, Kohno T, Moore KA, Ataka T, Wakai A, Okamoto M, Woolf CJ (2003) Removal of GABAergic inhibition facilitates polysynaptic A fiber-mediated excitatory transmission to the superficial spinal dorsal horn. Mol Cell Neurosci 24: 818-830.

Bevan S, Szolcsanyi J (1990) Sensory neuron-specific actions of capsaicin: mechanisms and applications. Trends Pharmacol Sci 11: 330-333.

Caterina MJ, Schumacher MA, Tominaga M, Rosen TA, Levine JD, Julius D (1997) The capsaicin receptor: a heat-activated ion channel in the pain pathway. Nature 389: 816-824.

Chaplan SR, Guo HQ, Lee DH, Luo L, Liu C, Kuei C, Velumian AA, Butler MP, Brown SM, Dubin AE (2003) Neuronal Hyperpolarization-Activated Pacemaker Channels Drive Neuropathic Pain. Journal of Neuroscience 23: 1169-1178.

Chou AK, Muhammad R, Huang SM, Chen JT, Wu CL, Lin CR, Lee TH, Lin SH, Lu CY, Yang LC (2002) Altered synaptophysin expression in the rat spinal cord after chronic constriction injury of sciatic nerve. Neurosci Lett 333: 155-158.

Coull JA, Beggs S, Boudreau D, Boivin D, Tsuda M, Inoue K, Gravel C, Salter MW, de Koninck Y (2005) BDNF from microglia causes the shift in neuronal anion gradient underlying neuropathic pain. Nature 438: 1017-1021.

Coull JA, Boudreau D, Bachand K, Prescott SA, Nault F, Sik A, De Koninck P, de Koninck Y (2003) Trans-synaptic shift in anion gradient in spinal lamina I neurons as a mechanism of neuropathic pain. Nature 424: 938-942.

Dalal A, Tata M, Allègre G, Gekiere F, Bons N, Albe-Fessard D (1999) Spontaneous activity of rat dorsal horn cells in spinal segments of sciatic projection following transection of sciatic nerve or of corresponding dorsal roots. Neuroscience 94: 217-228.

Decosterd I, Woolf CJ (2000) Spared nerve injury: an animal model of persistent peripheral neuropathic pain. Pain 87: 149-158.

Dougherty KJ, Sawchuk MA, Hochman S (2005) Properties of mouse spinal lamina I GABAergic interneurons. J Neurophysiol 00184.

Edwards FA, Konnerth A, Sakmann B (1990) Quantal analysis of inhibitory synaptic transmission in the dentate gyrus of rat hippocampal slices: a patch-clamp study. J Physiol 430: 213-249.

Garry EM, Moss A, Rosie R, Delaney A, Mitchell R, Fleetwood-Walker SM (2003) Specific involvement in neuropathic pain of AMPA receptors and adapter proteins for the GluR2 subunit. Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience 24: 10-22.

Gobel S (1978a) Golgi studies of the neurons in layer II of the dorsal horn of the medulla (trigeminal nucleus caudalis. J Comp Neurol 180: 395-414.

Gobel S (1978b) Golgi studies of the trigeminal neurons in layer I of the dorsal horn of the medulla (trigeminal nucleus caudalis). J Comp Neurol 180: 375-394.

Govrin-Lippmann R, Devor M (1978) Ongoing activity in severed nerves: source and variation with time. Brain Res 159: 406-410.

Graham BA, Brichta AM, Callister RJ (2004) In vivo responses of mouse superficial dorsal horn neurones to both current injection and peripheral cutaneous stimulation. J Physiol (Lond) 561: 749-763.

Grudt TJ, Perl ER (2002) Correlations between neuronal morphology and electrophysiological features in the rodent superficial dorsal horn. J Physiol 540: 189-207.

Hains BC, Saab CY, Klein JP, Craner MJ, Waxman SG (2004) Altered Sodium Channel Expression in Second-Order Spinal Sensory Neurons Contributes to Pain after Peripheral Nerve Injury. Journal of Neuroscience 24: 4832-4839.

Hantman AW, van den Pol AN, Perl ER (2004) Morphological and Physiological Features of a Set of Spinal Substantia Gelatinosa Neurons Defined by Green Fluorescent Protein Expression. Journal of Neuroscience 24: 836-842.

Heinke B, Ruscheweyh R, Forsthuber L, Wunderbaldinger G, Sandkuhler J (2004) Physiological, neurochemical and morphological properties of a subgroup of GABAergic spinal lamina II neurones identified by expression of green fluorescent protein in mice. J Physiol 560: 249-266.

Holzer P (1991) Capsaicin: cellular targets, mechanisms of action, and selectivity for thin sensory neurons. Pharmacol Rev 43: 143-201.

Howard RF, Walker SM, Michael Mota P, Fitzgerald M (2005) The ontogeny of neuropathic pain: Postnatal onset of mechanical allodynia in rat spared nerve injury (SNI) and chronic constriction injury (CCI) models. Pain 115: 382-389.

Kerr RC, Maxwell DJ, Todd AJ (1998) GluR1 and GluR2/3 subunits of the AMPA-type glutamate receptor are associated with particular types of neurone in laminae I-III of the spinal dorsal horn of the rat. Eur J Neurosci 10: 324-333.

Kim KJ, Yoon YW, Chung JM (1997) Comparison of three rodent models of neropahic pain. Exp Brain Res 113: 200-206.

Kohno T, Moore KA, Baba H, Woolf CJ (2003) Peripheral nerve injury in the rat alters excitatory synaptic transmission in lamina II of the dorsal horn. J Physiol 548: 131-138.
Laird JM, Bennett GJ (1993) An electrophysiological study of dorsal horn neurons in the spinal cord of rats with an experimental peripheral neuropathy. J Neurophysiol 69: 2072-2085.

Laird JMA, Bennett GJ (1992) Dorsal root potentials and afferent input to the spinal cord in rats with an experimental peripheral neuropathy. Brain Res 584: 181-190.

Light AR, Trevino DLPER (1979) Morphological features of functionally defined neurons in the marginal zone and substantia gelatinosa of the spinal dorsal horn. J Comp Neurol 186: 151-172.

Lu VB, Moran T.D., Balasubramanyan S, Alier KA, Colmers WF, Dryden WF, Smith PA (2006) *Sustantia Gelatinosa* Neurons in defined-medium organotypic slice culture are similar to those in acute slices from young adult rats. Pain (in Press).

Lu Y, Perl ER (2003) A specific inhibitory pathway between substantia gelatinosa neurons receiving direct C-fiber input. J Neurosci 23: 8752-8758.

Lu Y, Perl ER (2005) Modular Organization of Excitatory Circuits between Neurons of the Spinal Superficial Dorsal Horn (Laminae I and II). Journal of Neuroscience 25: 3900-3907.

Mannion RJ, Costigan M, Decosterd I, Amaya F, Ma QP, Holstege JC, Ji RR, Acheson A, Lindsay RM, Wilkinson GA, Woolf CJ (1999) Neurotrophins: peripherally and centrally acting modulators of tactile stimulus-induced inflammatory pain hypersensitivity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96: 9385-9390.

Melnick IV, Santos SF, Safronov BV (2004a) Mechanism of spike frequency adaptation in substantia gelatinosa neurones of rat. J Physiol 559: 383-395.

Melnick IV, Santos SFA, Szokol K, Szucs P, Safronov BV (2004b) Ionic Basis of Tonic Firing in Spinal Substantia Gelatinosa Neurons of Rat. J Neurophysiol 91: 646-655.

Millan MJ (1999) The Induction of Pain: An Integrative review. Prog Neurobiol 57: 1-164.

Moore KA, Kohno T, Karchewski LA, Scholz J, Baba H, Woolf CJ (2002) Partial peripheral nerve injury promotes a selective loss of GABAergic inhibition in the superficial dorsal horn of the spinal cord. J Neurosci 22: 6724-6731.

Moran TD, Colmers WF, Smith PA (2004) Opioid-Like Actions of Neuropeptide Y in Rat Substantia Gelatinosa: Y1 Suppression of Inhibition and Y2 Suppression of Excitation. J Neurophysiol 92: 3266-3275.

Mosconi T, Kruger L (1996) Fixed-diameter polyethylene cuffs applied to the rat sciatic nerve induce a painful neuropathy: ultrastructural morphometric analysis of axonal alterations. Pain 64: 37-57.

Okamoto M, Baba H, Goldstein PA, Higashi H, Shimoji K, Yoshimura M (2001) Functional reorganization of sensory pathways in the rat spinal dorsal horn following peripheral nerve injury. J Physiol 532: 241-250.

Prescott SA, de Koninck Y (2002) Four cell types with distinctive membrane properties and morphologies in lamina I of the spinal dorsal horn of the adult rat. J Physiol 539: 817-836.

Prescott SA, De Koninck Y (2005) Integration Time in a Subset of Spinal Lamina I Neurons Is Lengthened by Sodium and Calcium Currents Acting Synergistically to Prolong Subthreshold Depolarization. Journal of Neuroscience 25: 4743-4754.

Ruscheweyh R, Sandkuhler J (2002) Lamina-specific membrane and discharge properties of rat spinal dorsal horn neurons in vitro. J Physiol (Lond) 541: 231-244.

Ruscheweyh R, Ikeda H, Heinke B, Sandkuhler J (2004) Distinctive membrane and discharge properties of rat spinal lamina I projection neurones in vitro. J Physiol (Lond) 555: 527-543.

Safronov BV, Wolff M, Vogel W (1997) Functional distribution of three types of Na+ channel on soma and processes of dorsal horn neurones of rat spinal cord. J Physiol (Lond) 503 (Pt 2): 371-385.

Schneider SP (2003) Spike frequency adaptation and signaling properties of identified neurons in rodent deep spinal dorsal horn. J Neurophysiol 90: 245-258.

Scholz J, Broom DC, Youn DH, Mills CD, Kohno T, Suter MR, Moore KA, Decosterd I, Coggeshall RE, Woolf CJ (2005) Blocking caspase activity prevents transsynaptic neuronal apoptosis and the loss of inhibition in lamina II of the dorsal horn after peripheral nerve injury. J Neurosci 25: 7317-7323.

Suzuki R, Morcuende S, Webber M, Hunt SP, Dickenson AH (2002) Superficial NK1expressing neurons control spinal excitability through activation of descending pathways. Nat Neurosci 5: 1319-1326.

Thomson AM, West DC, Headley PM (1989) Membrane Characteristics and Synaptic Responsiveness of Superficial Dorsal Horn Neurons in a Slice Preparation of Adult Rat Spinal Cord. Eur J Neurosci 1: 479-488.

Todd AJ, Spike RC (1993) The localization of classical transmitters and neuropeptides within neurons in laminae I-III of the mammalian spinal dorsal horn. Prog Neurobiol 41: 609-645.

Tsuda M, Inoue K, Salter MW (2005) Neuropathic pain and spinal microglia: a big problem from molecules in 'small' glia. Trends Neurosci 28: 101-107.

Wall PD, Devor M (1983) Sensory afferent impulses result from dorsal root ganglia as well as from the periphery in normal and nerve-injured rats. Pain 17: 321-339.

Wall PD, Devor M, Inbal R, Scadding JW, Schonfeld D, Seltzer Z, Tomkiewicz MM (1979) Autotomy following peripheral nerve lesions: experimental anaesthesia dolorosa. . Pain 7: 103-113.

Wall PD, Gutnick M (1974) Ongoing activity in peripheral nerves: the physiology and pharmacology of impulses originating from a neuroma. Exp Neurol 45: 580-593.

Wolff M, Vogel W, Safronov BV (1998) Uneven distribution of K+ channels in soma, axon and dendrites of rat spinal neurones: functional role of the soma in generation of action potentials. J Physiol (Lond) 509: 767-776.

Woolf CJ (1983) Evidence for a central component of post-injury pain hypersensitivity. Nature 306: 686-688.

Woolf CJ, Mannion RJ (1999) Neuropathic pain: aetiology, symptoms, mechanisms, and management. Lancet 353: 1959-1964.

Woolf CJ, Shortland P, Coggeshall RE (1992) Peripheral nerve injury triggers central sprouting of myelinated afferents. Nature 355: 75-78.

Xiao HS, Huang QH, Zhang FX, Bao L, Lu YJ, Guo C, Yang L, Huang WJ, Fu G, Xu SH, Cheng XP, Yan Q, Zhu ZD, Zhang X, Chen Z, Han ZG, Zhang X (2002) Identification of gene expression profile of dorsal root ganglion in the rat peripheral axotomy model of neuropathic pain. PNAS 99: 8360-8365.

Yang K, Kumamoto E, Furue H, Li YQ, Yoshimura M (1999) Action of capsaicin on dorsal root-evoked synaptic transmission to substantia gelatinosa neurons in adult rat spinal cord slices. Brain Res 830: 268-273.

Yang K, Kumamoto E, Furue H, Yoshimura M (1998) Capsaicin facilitates excitatory but not inhibitory synaptic transmission in substantia gelatinosa of the rat spinal cord. Neurosci Lett 255: 135-138.

Yang L, Zhang FX, Huang F, Lu YJ, Li GD, Bao L, Xiao HS, Zhang X (2004) Peripheral nerve injury induces trans-synaptic modification of channels, receptors and signal pathways in rat dorsal spinal cord. Eur J Neurosci 19: 871-883.

Yao H, Donnelly DF, Ma C, LaMotte RH (2003) Upregulation of the Hyperpolarization-Activated Cation Current after Chronic Compression of the Dorsal Root Ganglion. Journal of Neuroscience 23: 2069-2074.

Yoon YW, Na HS, Chung JM (1996) Contributions of injured and intact afferents to neuropathic pain in an experimental rat model. Pain 64: 27-36.

Zhuang ZY, Gerner P, Woolf CJ, Ji RR (2005) ERK is sequentially activated in neurons, microglia, and astrocytes by spinal nerve ligation and contributes to mechanical allodynia in this neuropathic pain model. Pain 114: 149-159.

Chapter 4

Effects of Sciatic Chronic constriction Injury on Morphologically and Electrophysiologically Identified Neurons of Rat *Substantia gelatinosa*

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

,

4.1 Introduction

Neurons in the *substantia gelatinosa* comprise a local neuronal network that is involved in processing nociceptive information (Gobel, 1975;Bennett et al., 1980). Several studies have attempted to identify and classify multiple cell types in lamina II based on their morphological and functional characteristics (Gobel, 1975;Grudt and Perl, 2002;Hantman et al., 2004;Kumazawa and Perl, 1978;Light and Trevino, 1979;Light and Trevino, 1979;Lu and Perl, 2005;Prescott and de Koninck, 2002;Graham et al., 2004;Heinke et al., 2004;Ruscheweyh and Sandkuhler, 2002;Ruscheweyh et al., 2004;Todd and Lewis, 1986;Lu and Perl, 2003). Despite this, there is still lack of unequivocal classification scheme for the cells and there are discrepancies in classifying the cells based on their action potential firing properties (Ruscheweyh and Sandkuhler, 2002;Grudt and Perl, 2002;Melnick et al., 2004). Moreover, studies suggest that significant percentage of neurons do not fit readily recognizable class (Todd and Lewis, 1986;Todd, 1988;Grudt and Perl, 2002). Refer to Table 1.1 and Figure 1.1 for different neuronal types in the *substantia gelatinosa*.

Peripheral nerve injury in animal models invokes symptoms that resemble human neuropathic pain. This is often associated with increase in dorsal horn excitability commonly termed 'central sensitization'. Even though several studies have identified multiple mechanisms responsible for such change, it is still uncertain how the peripheral nerve injury alters the properties of morphologically and electrophysiologically identified cells types. In addition to modulating the transfer of noxious information from the periphery, *substantia gelatinosa* neurons also participate in processing of innocuous

tactile, itch and temperature information (Tuckett and Wei, 1987b;Tuckett and Wei, 1987a; Vallbo et al., 1999; Perl, 1984; Sugiura et al., 1986; Light and Perl, 2003). The intracellular studies and *in vivo* recordings in the superficial dorsal horn have suggested that there is no obvious relationship between response of these cells to various sensory modalities and their morphological or firing properties (Woolf and Fitzgerald, 1983:Rethelvi et al., 1989;Bennett et al., 1980;Graham et al., 2004). Several recent studies have pointed out that there are lamina specific differences in the properties of neurons of the superficial dorsal horn (Ruscheweyh and Sandkuhler, 2002;Grudt and Perl, 2002;Light and Perl, 1979a;Woodbury et al., 2000;Todd and Spike, 1993). Moreover, the substantia gelatinosa is further subdivided the lamina II into outer and inner divisions. The outer lamina contains mainly the nociceptive neurons and umyelinated C fiber terminals (Light and Perl, 1979a) (Woodbury et al., 2000) while nonnoxious mechanoreceptive cells are located in inner lamina II (Light and Willcockson, 1999). Thus, nerve injury may produce different changes in outer lamina II neurons versus the neurons in inner lamina II region. Because substantia gelatinosa is a complex network system, any changes in properties of both nociceptive and/or non-nociceptive cells would have an impact on the modulation and hence the output information to higher centers. In the previous chapter I have shown that nerve injury produces a cell type specific pattern of changes in electrophysiologically identified cells types of substantia gelatinosa. Earlier observations on the correlation between the neuronal morphology and firing properties of substantia gelatinosa neurons have been inconclusive (Grudt and Perl, 2002; Heinke et al., 2004; Melnick et al., 2004). Hence, in this chapter I have further correlate the firing properties of cells with the morphological characteristics. This would

help further to demonstrate that nerve injury decreases the excitability of possible tonic inhibitory neurons whereas increase the excitability of putative excitatory vertical and or radial cells which display a delayed firing pattern.

4.2 Methods

The methods used in this chapter are identical to those described in chapter 2.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Morphological Characterization of the Substantia Gelatinosa Neurons

Earlier studies by Grudt and Perl have shown that there are no significant variations in the soma size between the neurons in lamina II,(Grudt and Perl, 2002) hence the *substantia gelatinosa* neurons were classified according the predominant orientation of the dendrites and their location within the lamina II region. Based on the dendritic features, the neurons were categorized into three morphological types: Islet, vertical and radial neurons. PKC γ -immunoreactivity has been found in a restricted population of small neurons which are concentrated in the inner ventral part of lamina II (IIi) (Malmberg et al., 1997;Martin et al., 1999;Mori et al., 1990). Hence, based on the position of the biocytin stained soma in relation to PKC γ containing cells, I classified the neurons as present in IIo or IIi or on the border (Figure 4.1). It must be noted that I used transverse slices as compared to both transverse and parasagittal slices in earlier studies (Grudt and Perl, 2002;Lu and Perl, 2003). The dendritic orientation of islet cell can be best viewed by parasagital slices. To circumvent this problem, the serial confocal images of each neuron were projected in different planes, to obtain a 3D reconstruction of different morphological types of biocytin stained neurons. Thus each cell was viewed in frontal (transverse) plane, Left (parasagittal) plane and bottom (horizontal) plane to identify the predominant dendritic orientation. The passive membrane properties such as the resting membrane potential and input resistance were not statistically significant between the three morphologically identified groups of neurons. As reported in Chapter 3, the response features of the cells in response to series of depolarizing steps cells from a holding potential of -60 mV could be of tonic, delay, irregular, transient or phasic type.

4.3.1.1 Islet Neurons

Our islet cells had similar features to the islet cells described by other studies (Grudt and Perl, 2002;Light and Trevino, 1979;Lu and Perl, 2003;Gobel, 1975). The dendrites were dense near the cell body and spread predominantly in the rostrocaudal direction with limited spread in other planes (Figure 4.2). The dendritic arbors were restricted within and rarely reached beyond lamina II. Note that the rostrocaudal projection was clearer in the parasagittal plane than in the transverse plane. In some cases the dendrites after traveling a certain distance in rostrol or caudal direction curved back towards the soma and extend beyond in other direction. I noticed some cells had shorter dendritic extension than others and hence could be a subcategory of islet cells as reported by Grudt and Perl as central neurons. Based on the relative location of the soma in relation to the PKC γ containing cells, islet neurons were found throughout the entire lamina II (Table 4.2).

Most of the islet cells (60.8%) showed sustained or tonic action potential firing pattern in response to series of depolarizing current steps from holding potential of -60mV. The

second most prominent firing pattern exhibited by the islet cells (17.3%) is phasic or intial bursting type. Only a smaller percentage of cells showed delay, transient or irregular pattern of firing (Table 4.1). Islet cells also exhibited spontaneous EPSC's from -70mV with a lower frequency when compared to vertical or radial neurons (Figure 4.7A).

4.3.1.2 Vertical neurons

Vertical neurons had distinctive dorsoventral dendritic orientation with relatively limited spread in mediolateral plane. In most cases, the ventral projections were much longer and dense than the dorsal counterpart. Even though dendrites extended in rostocaudal plane it was less dense and much shorter than islet neurons (Figure 4.3). Some of the neurons also had stalked feature described by Gobel, however it cannot be attributed to all the vertical neurons.

The soma of the vertical neurons was present either on the lamina IIo (8/13) or on the inner-outer border (5/13). In my sample of neurons I never found a vertical neuron with cell body within inner lamina II (Table 4.2). In the neurons whose soma was located on IIo, dendrites could be traced as deep as lamina III or IV, when compared to other neurons which had relatively shorter ventral spread (Figure 4.3).

The majority of vertical cells (77%) fired in a sustained and regular manner after a significant delay at the start of the depolarizing pulse. The delay became shorter with more positive depolarizing steps. About 15.3 % of cells showed tonic firing. I never

observed transient or phasic firing pattern in vertical cells, while very small percentage (7.6%) exhibited irregular pattern of firing (Table 4.1). The vertical neurons exhibit a high frequency sEPSC's at -70mV (Figure 4.7A).

4.3.1.3 Radial Neurons

Radial cells had a round soma and dendrites that radiated in all directions giving a wheel like appearance (Figure 4.4). The radial configuration was clear from the bottom (horizontal) view. These cells were similar to the 'stellate' or star shaped neurons described by other studies (Bicknell, Jr. and Beal, 1984;Grudt and Perl, 2002;Schoenen, 1982). The soma of most of the radial neurons was located in the IIo or on the border (Table 4.2).

A great majority of radial neurons (89.4%) exhibited action potentials after a prominent delay at the onset of the depolarizing current commands (Table 4.1). However unlike vertical neurons, the firing was generally irregular after the delay with variations in spike amplitude. Radial cells also showed high frequency sEPSC's (Figure 4.7A).

4.3.1.4 Other cells:

A total of 32 cells could not be classified into any of the above three categories as they showed atypical morphological features. In some cells, even though the morphology was clear could not be included in the analysis because on unclear firing pattern.

4.3.2 Changes in the Properties of the Cells after Nerve Injury

Correlation of morphological features with the firing properties suggests each morphological class contains a heterogeneous mixture of firing patterns. Hence, to examine any changes in the properties of morphologically defined cell types after nerve injury only the predominant firing pattern within each morphological class was undertaken. Thus the cells were classified as 'islet tonic,' 'vertical delay' and 'radial delay' neurons.

4.3.2.1. Changes in the Membrane Excitability

The resting membrane potential (r.m.p) and the input resistance were not altered in any of the cell types after CCI. While the rheobase of the 'islet tonic cells' was significantly increased after CCI, the 'vertical delay' or the 'radial delay' cells did not show any significant change (Table 4.3). These results suggest a decrease in membrane excitability of 'islet tonic cells' after CCI. Figure 4.5 illustrates the effect of depolarizing current ramps on action potential discharge in each of the three defined cell types. As described in chapter 3 the ramp rates chosen were steep enough to evoke robust firing in most cells tested without producing depolarization block at their most positive excursions. The membrane excitability of islet tonic, vertical delay and radial delay cells were unchanged.

4.3.2 .2. Changes in Spontaneous Excitatory Synaptic Activity

The effects of CCI on the sEPSC amplitude and interevent interval are shown in Figure 4.6. As described in the methods chapter, the figures were obtained for first 50 events after one minute of baseline stabilization. In islet tonic cells, CCI caused a reduction in

both the frequency and the amplitude on the spontaneous EPSC's. On the other hand, in vertical delay and radial delay neurons the frequency and the amplitude of the sEPSC's were increased after CCI. All the results were statistically significant according to Kolmogorov-Smirnoff test. Some neurons failed to display a detectable event during the 3 min sampling period and were hence classified as silent neurons. As shown in our earlier chapter, proportion of silent neurons were not statistically significant between the sham and cuff, hence it is highly unlikely that they would have introduced any bias in our results. I also compared the mean amplitude and frequency of the sEPSC's with more rigorous t test which complemented the conclusions from the KS test (Figure 4.7).

4.4 Discussion

Our morphological studies show that there are at least three distinct categories of neurons in the *substantia gelatinosa*. These are defined as islet, vertical and radial neurons, based on the predominant dendritic orientation. On correlation with previously defined firing pattern suggest, a majority of islet neurons display a tonic firing pattern while vertical and radial neurons show delay firing pattern. Our results are in consensus with previous reports on morphological and firing characteristics of the *substantia gelatinosa* neurons (Grudt and Perl, 2002;Lu and Perl, 2003;Lu and Perl, 2005).

As mentioned in the general introduction (1.5.1), information related to nociception and pain is conveyed into the *substantia gelatinosa* by two different categories of unmyelinated primary afferent fibers (C-fibers) (Hunt and Rossi, 1985). Peptide containing fibers project mainly to the outer lamina II (Averill et al., 1995;Stucky and

Lewin, 1999). The non-peptidergic isolectin B4 binding fibers terminate predominantly in inner lamina II (Alvarez and Fyffe, 2000; Vulchanova et al., 1998). Since islet cells are located throughout the lamina II region they are ideally suited to receive input from both class of C-fibers. The restricted dendritic branching within lamina II would enable these neurons to function as confined local interneurons. Some of these specialized features and their similarities with Golgi type II neurons have implied their role as inhibitory interneurons (Gobel, 1978;Lu and Perl, 2003;Todd and Lewis, 1986;Todd and Spike, 1993). However, limited dorsoventral branching imply their limited ability to communicate with more superficial or deeper layers. The vertical neurons with their extensive dorsoventral projections are ideally suited to convey or receive information across various laminae. These vertical neurons correspond to the 'stalked' cells that are believed to be excitatory interneurons (Todd and Lewis, 1986;Gobel, 1975;Grudt and Perl, 2002; Lu and Perl, 2005). The simultaneous pair recording suggests that these are the output neurons to lamina I being modulated by the islet and central neurons of lamina II (Lu and Perl, 2005). Because the radial cell project in all directions they could receive and convey information through different planes. Their location in predominantly outer lamina II suggests their capability to communicate with lamina I neurons, but limited ventral projection would restrict their access to deeper layers. As pointed out in the earlier section the outer part of lamina II comprise mainly nocicieptive cells while majority of afferent input to inner lamina II is non-nociceptive (Light and Willcockson, 1999; Light and Perl, 1979b). Hence those islet cell on the outer layer could be nociceptive or wide dynamic range neurons (Bennett et al., 1980) while those on the inner lamina II could belong to low threshold mechanoreceptive type (Bennett et al.,

1998;Pan and Pan, 2004;Light and Perl, 1979b). Since vertical and radial neurons are predominantly located on the outer part they could be mainly nociceptive neurons.

The previous findings of Grudt and Perl suggest that the rostrocaudal neurons could be further classified into long islet cells and short central cells in sagittal sections based on the extent and dimensions of the dendrites (Grudt and Perl, 2002). Even though I noticed some cells had short rostrocaudal extension, it was not always possible to trace the whole length of dendritic tree in transverse slices, so I decided to combine both categories of cells. Hence some of my islet cells could infact be the central cells defined by Grudt and Perl. However, Grudt and Perl suggest that the majority of central cells discharge in phasic or transient pattern (Grudt and Perl, 2002;Lu and Perl, 2003;Lu and Perl, 2005). Hence to minimize the contribution from the central cells (may be excitatory) I decided to examine the effect of nerve injury on only the islet tonic neurons. Since the delay neurons could be further classified into vertical and radial neurons based on their morphological features, the effects of CCI were studied separately on these two different populations.

The CCI induced changes in the membrane excitability of morphologically and electrophysiologically defined neurons are at odds with the neurons described solely on firing properties in chapter 3. CCI increased the rheobase of islet tonic neurons indicating a decreased excitability (Table 4.3) without affecting the rheobase of tonic cells (Table 3.1). Also CCI increased the cumulative latency of first few spikes in response to current ramps in tonic neurons (Figure 3.7), but did not show a significant change in islet tonic neurons (Figure 4.5). Because the sample size used for estimation of excitability in

Figure 4.5 is small, at the moment it is difficult to attribute any significance to these findings.

CCI resulted in a reduced excitatory synaptic drive to islet/tonic while an increased drive to vertical/delay and radial/delay neurons. This supports the conclusions of the earlier chapter where neurons where exclusively characterized based on firing properties The decrease in sEPSC frequency seen in 'islet tonic' cells after CCI (Figure 4.6) may reflect alterations in the transmitter release process because, as already mentioned in the previous chapter (Figure 3.10B), mEPSC account for at least 50% of the spontaneous events recorded in these cells. Also, it has recently been shown that sciatic CCI promotes a transient and selective loss of IB4 positive, non-peptidergic primary afferent terminals in inner lamina II (Bailey and Ribeiro-da-Silva, 2006). If these fibers selectively innervate islet tonic cells, their loss may explain the decrease in their excitatory synaptic drive.

Recently Lu and Perl, have demonstrated functional correlation of neurons through recording from synaptically connected neuronal pairs in *substantia gelatinosa* (Lu and Perl, 2003;Lu and Perl, 2005). Thus, their studies suggest that islet tonic neurons could be inhibitory releasing GABA upon stimulation, and vertical delay neurons being excitatory releasing glutamate upon stimulation (Figure 4.8). By viewing our results, from the perspective of findings from Lu and Perl suggests, after CCI, the putative excitatory interneurons (delay cells, see Lu and Perl, 2005) become more excitable. By contrast, inhibitory neurons (islet tonic cells, see Hantman et al., 2004; Lu and Perl 2005) become

less excitable. Our classification therefore allows us to relate our findings those of others who are actively investigating dorsal horn physiology. However, as suggested by Lu and Perl, this pathway could be just one of the many pathways that exist in complex circuitry of *substantia gelatinosa* (Lu and Perl, 2003;Lu and Perl, 2005). Hence, at this juncture I could only speculate on the impact of CCI on different types neurons based on its functional features.

As mentioned in the general introduction, neurons of *substantia gelatinosa* differ in their immuno-histochemical profiles and expression of different peptides (Spike and Todd, 1992;Todd and Spike, 1993). These neurochemical markers such as calbindin or GAD (65 or 67) are used to identify excitatory and inhibitory neurons respectively (Gamboa-Esteves et al., 2001b;Gamboa-Esteves et al., 2001a;Antal et al., 1991;Heinke et al., 2004). Hence, future studies targeting the co-localization of morphologically and electrophysiologically characterized neurons with immuno-histochemical markers would help to further demonstrate the impact of nerve injury on the properties of *substantia gelatinosa* neurons. These findings would enhance our current understanding on the pathophysiology of neuropathic pain.

Table 4	.1:	Relationship	between	the	morphology	and	firing	properties	of	the	cells	in
substant	ia g	gelatinosa.										

Morphological class	<u>Tonic</u>	<u>Phasic</u>	<u>Delay</u>	Irregular	<u>Transient</u>	Total
Islet	60.8%	17.3%	8.6%	6.5%	4.3%	46
<u>Vertical</u>	15.3%	-	77%	7.6%	_	13
Radial	-	-	89.4%	-	5.2%	19
<u>Unclassified_or</u> unclear						32

-

 Table 4.2: Relationship between the morphology and the location of the cells in

 Substantia Gelatinosa.

Morphological	Location based on PKC γ staining						
Class	Outer lamina II	Inner lamina II	Border				
<u>Islet</u>	14/46	11/46	21/46				
Vertical	8/13	0/13	5/13				
Radial	10/19	2/19	7/19				

.

Table 4.3. Effects of chronic constriction injury (CCI) on rheobase and resting membrane potential (r.m.p.) of various types of *substantia gelatinosa* neurons. * Significant (P<0.02, Students's unpaired t-test) increase in the rheobase of islet/tonic cells after CCI. Values represented as Mean \pm SD

Morphological	RMP		Rheobase		
class	Sham	Cuff	Sham	Cuff	
<u>Islet tonic cells</u>	-53.84 ± 10.80 (n=17)	-56.76 ± 10.49 (n=15)	18.6 ± 2.69 (n=17)	$29.61 \pm 3.23*$ (n=15)	
DV delay cells	-54.22 ± 11.09 (n=10)	-49.66 ± 6.76 (n=8)	40 ± 28.14 (n=10)	45 ± 25.17 (n=8)	
Radial delay cells	-52.41 ± 5.16 (n=12)	-57.12 ± 6.54 (n=10)	69.5±29.44 (n=12)	69.71 ± 20.99 (n=10)	

Figure 4.1: PKC γ staining to visualize the location of biocytin filled neurons in the outer or inner lamina II. Arrows indicate the biocytin stained neurons (red) located on (A) outer (B) inner lamina II relative to PKC γ containing cells (green).





B



Figure 4.2: Islet cell, (A) cartoon representing the predominant dendritic orientation of the islet cell. Maximum projection confocal image of biocytin-labeled islet neuron from (B) Parasagittal view and (C) Transverse view, showing predominant projection in rostrocaudal plane. The dendritic spread is restricted within the lamina II, a characteristic of islet cell. (D) The predominant tonic firing pattern of islet cells in response to depolarizing current steps.

Figure 4.2





D



40mV

187

Figure 4.3: Vertical cells, (A) Cartoon representing the predominant dendritic orientation of vertical neurons. (B) Maximum projection confocal image of biocytin-labeled vertical neuron present on the outer lamina II from transverse view showing predominant projection in dorsoventral plane. Note the long ventral projection reaching into deeper layers (C) Maximum projection confocal image of different biocytin-labeled vertical neuron. Note the pyramidal or cone shape of the soma with stubby dendritic branching, but much shorter ventral extension than the previous cell. (D) The predominant delay firing pattern of vertical cell in response to depolarizing current steps.







D • C R











189

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Figure 4.4: Radial cell, (A) Cartoon representing the predominant dendritic orientation of radial neuron. Maximum projection confocal image of biocytin-labeled radial neuron from (B) Transverse view (C) Parasagittal view and (D) Horizontal view showing dendritic projections in all directions. (E) The predominant delay firing pattern of radial cell in response to depolarizing current steps. Note the irregularity in the firing pattern compared to vertical delay cell.





Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Figure. 4.5. Effect of CCI on membrane excitability measured as cumulative latency of action potential discharge in response to depolarizing current ramps from -60mV. Unchanged excitability seen in (A) islet tonic cells (n=8 for sham; n=7 for CCI), (B) vertical delay cells (n=7 for sham; n=4 for CCI) and (C) radial delay cells (n=7 for sham; n=4 for CCI) and (C) radial delay cells (n=7 for sham; n=4 for CCI) after CCI. No significance (P>0.05) was found, Student's unpaired t-test.











193

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Figure 4.6: Cumulative probability plots for effects of CCI on amplitude and interevent interval of s.e.p.s.'c in morphologically and electrophysiologically identified *substantia gelatinosa* neurons. The following total numbers of events were acquired by analysis of the first 50 events following 1 min of recording. 'Islet/tonic' neurons; 520 events from sham (n=11), 323 events from CCI animals (n=11). 'Vertical/delay'; 309 (sham) (n=6), 407 (CCI) (n=8). 'Radial/delay'; 301 (sham) (n=6) 453 (CCI) (n=9). A-C and D-F cumulative probability plots for sEPSC amplitude and interevent interval from 'islet/tonic', 'vertical/delay' and 'radial/delay' cells. P values derived from KS test are indicated on graphs.

Figure 4.6



Figure 4.7: A and B Effects of CCI on average amplitude and interevent interval of sEPSC in 'islet/tonic', 'vertical/delay' and 'radial/delay' cells of *substantia gelatinosa*. For Student's unpaired t-test, **= P<0.0001; *= P<0.001; ++= P<0.002, += P<0.05. Same n values as figure 4.6.

Figure 4.7



Figure. 4.8: A pathway in the superficial dorsal horn describing the communication between different types of neurons based on the whole-cell recordings from synaptically connected pairs (Lu and Perl, 2003;Lu and Perl, 2005). The arrows indicate decreased excitatory synaptic drive for islet/tonic cell and increased drive for vertical/delay cell after CCI.





199

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

4.5 References

Alvarez FJ, Fyffe RE (2000) Nociceptors for the 21st century. Curr Rev Pain 4: 451-458.

Antal M, Polgar E, Chalmers J, Minson JB, Llewellyn-Smith I, Heizmann CW, Somogyi P (1991) Different populations of parvalbumin- and calbindin-D28k-immunoreactive neurons contain GABA and accumulate 3H-D-aspartate in the dorsal horn of the rat spinal cord. J Comp Neurol 314: 114-124.

Averill S, McMahon SB, Clary DO, Reichardt LF, Priestley JV (1995) Immunocytochemical localization of trkA receptors in chemically identified subgroups of adult rat sensory neurons. Eur J Neurosci 7: 1484-1494.

Bailey AL, Ribeiro-da-Silva A (2006) Transient loss of terminals from non-peptidergic nociceptive fibers in the substantia gelatinosa of spinal cord following chronic constriction injury of the sciatic nerve. Neuroscience 138: 675-690.

Bennett DL, Michael GJ, Ramachandran N, Munson JB, Averill S, Yan Q, McMahon SB, Priestley JV (1998) A distinct subgroup of small DRG cells express GDNF receptor components and GDNF is protective for these neurons after nerve injury. J Neurosci 18: 3059-3072.

Bennett GJ, Abdelmoumene M, Hayashi H, Dubner R (1980) Physiology and morphology of substantia gelatinosa neurons intracellularly stained with horseradish peroxidase. J Comp Neurol 194: 809-827.

Bicknell HR, Jr., Beal JA (1984) Axonal and dendritic development of substantia gelatinosa neurons in the lumbosacral spinal cord of the rat. J Comp Neurol 226: 508-522.

Gamboa-Esteves FO, Kaye JC, McWilliam PN, Lima D, Batten TF (2001a) Immunohistochemical profiles of spinal lamina I neurones retrogradely labelled from the nucleus tractus solitarii in rat suggest excitatory projections. Neuroscience 104: 523-538.

Gamboa-Esteves FO, Lima D, Batten TF (2001b) Neurochemistry of superficial spinal neurones projecting to nucleus of the solitary tract that express c-fos on chemical somatic and visceral nociceptive input in the rat. Metab Brain Dis 16: 151-164.

Gobel S (1975) Golgi studies in the substantia gelatinosa neurons in the spinal trigeminal nucleus. J Comp Neurol 162: 397-415.

Gobel S (1978) Golgi studies of the neurons in layer II of the dorsal horn of the medulla (trigeminal nucleus caudalis. J Comp Neurol 180: 395-414.

Graham BA, Brichta AM, Callister RJ (2004) In vivo responses of mouse superficial dorsal horn neurones to both current injection and peripheral cutaneous stimulation. J Physiol (Lond) 561: 749-763.
Grudt TJ, Perl ER (2002) Correlations between neuronal morphology and electrophysiological features in the rodent superficial dorsal horn. J Physiol 540: 189-207.

Hantman AW, van den Pol AN, Perl ER (2004) Morphological and Physiological Features of a Set of Spinal Substantia Gelatinosa Neurons Defined by Green Fluorescent Protein Expression. Journal of Neuroscience 24: 836-842.

Heinke B, Ruscheweyh R, Forsthuber L, Wunderbaldinger G, Sandkuhler J (2004) Physiological, neurochemical and morphological properties of a subgroup of GABAergic spinal lamina II neurones identified by expression of green fluorescent protein in mice. J Physiol 560: 249-266.

Hunt SP, Rossi J (1985) Peptide- and non-peptide-containing unmyelinated primary afferents: the parallel processing of nociceptive information. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 308: 283-289.

Kumazawa T, Perl ER (1978) Excitation of marginal and substantia gelatinosa neurons in the primate spinal cord: indications of their place in dorsal horn functional organization. J Comp Neurol 177: 417-434.

Light AR, Perl ER (1979a) Reexamination of the dorsal root projection to the spinal dorsal horn including observations on the differential termination of coarse and fine fibers. J Comp Neurol 186: 117-131.

Light AR, Perl ER (1979b) Spinal termination of functionally identified primary afferent neurons with slowly conducting myelinated fibers. J Comp Neurol 186: 133-150.

Light AR, Perl ER (2003) Unmyelinated afferent fibers are not only for pain anymore. J Comp Neurol 461: 137-139.

Light AR, Trevino DLPER (1979) Morphological features of functionally defined neurons in the marginal zone and substantia gelatinosa of the spinal dorsal horn. J Comp Neurol 186: 151-172.

Light AR, Willcockson HH (1999) Spinal Laminae I-II Neurons in Rat Recorded in Vivo in Whole Cell, Tight Seal Configuration: Properties and Opioid Responses. J Neurophysiol, 82: 3316-3326.

Lu Y, Perl ER (2003) A specific inhibitory pathway between substantia gelatinosa neurons receiving direct C-fiber input. J Neurosci 23: 8752-8758.

Lu Y, Perl ER (2005) Modular Organization of Excitatory Circuits between Neurons of the Spinal Superficial Dorsal Horn (Laminae I and II). Journal of Neuroscience 25: 3900-3907.

Malmberg AB, Chen C, Tonegawa S, Basbaum AI (1997) Preserved acute pain and reduced neuropathic pain in mice lacking PKCgamma. Science 278: 279-283.

Martin WJ, Liu H, Wang H, Malmberg AB, Basbaum AI (1999) Inflammation-induced up-regulation of protein kinase Cgamma immunoreactivity in rat spinal cord correlates with enhanced nociceptive processing. Neuroscience 88: 1267-1274.

Melnick IV, Santos SFA, Szokol K, Szucs P, Safronov BV (2004) Ionic Basis of Tonic Firing in Spinal Substantia Gelatinosa Neurons of Rat. J Neurophysiol 91: 646-655.

Mori M, Kose A, Tsujino T, Tanaka C (1990) Immunocytochemical localization of protein kinase C subspecies in the rat spinal cord: light and electron microscopic study. J Comp Neurol 299: 167-177.

Pan YZ, Pan HL (2004) Primary afferent stimulation differentially potentiates excitatory and inhibitory inputs to spinal lamina II outer and inner neurons. J Neurophysiol 91: 2413-2421.

Perl ER (1984) Pain and nociception. In: Handbook of physiology: the nervous system, Vol 3 (Darian-Smith, ed), pp 915-975. Bethesda, MD: American Physiological Society.

Prescott SA, de Koninck Y (2002) Four cell types with distinctive membrane properties and morphologies in lamina I of the spinal dorsal horn of the adult rat. J Physiol 539: 817-836.

Rethelyi M, Light AR, Perl ER (1989) Synaptic ultrastructure of functionally and morphologically characterized neurons of the superficial spinal dorsal horn of cat. J Neurosci 9: 1846-1863.

Ruscheweyh R, Sandkuhler J (2002) Lamina-specific membrane and discharge properties of rat spinal dorsal horn neurons in vitro. J Physiol (Lond) 541: 231-244.

Ruscheweyh R, Ikeda H, Heinke B, Sandkuhler J (2004) Distinctive membrane and discharge properties of rat spinal lamina I projection neurones in vitro. J Physiol (Lond) 555: 527-543.

Schoenen J (1982) The dendritic organization of the human spinal cord: the dorsal horn. Neuroscience 7: 2057-2087.

Spike RC, Todd AJ (1992) Ultrastructural and immunocytochemical study of lamina II islet cells in rat spinal dorsal horn. J Comp Neurol 323: 359-369.

Stucky CL, Lewin GR (1999) Isolectin B(4)-positive and -negative nociceptors are functionally distinct. J Neurosci 19: 6497-6505.

Sugiura Y, Lee CL, Perl ER (1986) Central projections of identified, unmyelinated (C) afferent fibers innervating mammalian skin. Science 234: 358-361.

Todd AJ (1988) Electron microscope study of Golgi-stained cells in lamina II of the rat spinal dorsal horn. J Comp Neurol 275: 145-157.

Todd AJ, Lewis SG (1986) The morphology of Golgi-stained neurons in lamina II of the rat spinal cord. J Anat 149: 113-119.

Todd AJ, Spike RC (1993) The localization of classical transmitters and neuropeptides within neurons in laminae I-III of the mammalian spinal dorsal horn. Prog Neurobiol 41: 609-645.

Tuckett RP, Wei JY (1987a) Response to an itch-producing substance in cat. I. Cutaneous receptor populations with myelinated axons. Brain Res 413: 87-94.

Tuckett RP, Wei JY (1987b) Response to an itch-producing substance in cat. II. Cutaneous receptor populations with unmyelinated axons. Brain Res 413: 95-103.

Vallbo AB, Olausson H, Wessberg J (1999) Unmyelinated afferents constitute a second system coding tactile stimuli of the human hairy skin. J Neurophysiol 81: 2753-2763.

Vulchanova L, Riedl MS, Shuster SJ, Stone LS, Hargreaves KM, Buell G, Surprenant A, North RA, Elde R (1998) P2X3 is expressed by DRG neurons that terminate in inner lamina II. Eur J Neurosci 10: 3470-3478.

Woodbury CJ, Ritter AM, Koerber HR (2000) On the problem of lamination in the superficial dorsal horn of mammals: a reappraisal of the substantia gelatinosa in postnatal life. J Comp Neurol 417: 88-102.

Woolf CJ, Fitzgerald M (1983) The properties of Neurons recorded in the superficial dorsal horn of the rat spinal cord. J Comp Neurol 221: 313-328.

Chapter 5

L-type calcium channels and Neuropathic Pain

5.1 Introduction

Calcium influx through voltage-dependant calcium channels regulates many neuronal including neurotransmitter release, neuronal excitability, protein processes phosphorylation, gene expression and neuronal plasticity such as long term potentiation and depression, (Miller, 1987; Augustine et al., 1987; Llinas, 1988). Different types of Ca⁺⁺ channels have been identified based on their electrophysiological and pharmacological properties such as T,N,L,P/Q and R (Catterall, 2000;Ertel et al., 2000). All these channels are expressed in the spinal cord including within the superficial dorsal horn (Bao et al., 1998; Ryu and Randic, 1990; Vanegas and Schaible, 2000; Voitenko et al., 2000) and numerous studies support their contribution to nociception. Several types of Ca⁺⁺ channel blockers have shown efficacy in acute and chronic pain conditions including neuropathic pain (Neugebauer et al., 1996; Vanegas and Schaible, 2000; Sluka, 1997; Ryu and Randic, 1990; Dogrul et al., 2001; Chaplan, 2000). Thus, the transmission of pain at the spinal level is undeniably dependent on voltage gated Ca⁺⁺ channels (Altier and Zamponi, 2004).

The high voltage activated (HVA) Ca⁺⁺ channels (L,N,P/Q and R) can be classified based on the pore forming α_1 subunit, that contains the voltage sensor (Catterall, 2000;Hofmann et al., 1999). The HVA Ca⁺⁺ channels are modulated by ancillary subunits such as the $\alpha_2\delta$, β and γ subunits (Catterall, 2000;Ertel et al., 2000). The $\alpha_2\delta$ family consists of three genes $\alpha_2\delta$ -(1-3). The $\alpha_2\delta$ -1 is ubiquitously expressed, $\alpha_2\delta$ -2 is found in several tissues including brain and heart, and $\alpha_2\delta$ -3 is brain-specific (Klugbauer et al., 1999). The $\alpha_2\delta$ -1 subunit increases the current density of Ca⁺⁺ channels by increasing the amount of functional channel at the cell surface (Hofmann et al., 1999;Klugbauer et al., 1999). Moreover it also allosterically alters the activation and inactivation of several α_1 subunits (Bangalore et al., 1996;Klugbauer et al., 1999;Felix et al., 1997). $\alpha_2\delta$ -1 is also known to enhance dihydropyridine binding to L-type channels and ω -conotoxin GVIA to N-type channels (Brust et al., 1993;Felix et al., 1997), while $\alpha_2\delta$ -2 and 3 significantly enhance and modulate the current through a number of HVA and LVA channels (Gao et al., 2000;Klugbauer et al., 1999).

In neuronal synapses, including those in the spinal cord several types of voltage dependent Ca⁺⁺ channels may co-exist and the same neuron may express several channel types (Takahashi and Momiyama, 1993;Dunlap et al., 1995;Dogrul et al., 2001;Nowycky et al., 1985). Inhibitors of a given channel type usually block only a fraction of the voltage dependent Ca⁺⁺ channels present in a complex synapse such as the dorsal horn (Bao et al., 1998), and hence antagonists to different channel types may have additive effects (Dogrul et al., 2001). Furthermore, the relative importance of the various channel types depends on the brain region, the transmitter involved and the functional status of the neuron (Song and Surmeier, 1996;Wheeler et al., 1996).

The L-type Ca⁺⁺ channel activation is involved in the integration of various responses in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord. Two L-type Ca⁺⁺ channel subtypes containing distinct α_1 subunits, Cav1.2 and Cav 1.3 are expressed in the central nervous system including the dorsal horn (Dobremez et al., 2005;Westenbroek et al., 1998b). Neugebauer et al. (1996), through single unit recordings from spinal dorsal horn nociceptive neurons

206

showed that spinal administration of nimodipine (a L-type Ca^{++} channel blocker) depresses the neuronal responses to innocuous or noxious stimuli (Neugebauer et al., 1996). The interneurons in deep dorsal horn expressing L-type Ca⁺⁺ channels receive input from myelinated and unmyelinated afferents (Russo and Hounsgaard, 1996;Russo and Hounsgaard, 1994). Thus in deep dorsal horn neurons, the generation of plateau potential, a key component of wind-up is dependent of L-type Ca⁺⁺ channels (Morisset and Nagy, 1999; Russo et al., 1997; Voisin and Nagy, 2001). Hence, L-type channels play an important role in mediating dorsal horn plasticity (Perrier et al., 2002). L-type channels have also been suggested to be involved in the neurotransmitter release in midbrain dopaminergic neurons, retinal cells and from the rat sensory neurons in the spinal cord (Bonci et al., 1998;Anwyl, 1991;Perney et al., 1986;Protti and Llano, 1998). However, the role of L-type channels in regulating transmitter release in the superficial dorsal horn under normal conditions remains controversial (Bao et al., 1998). N, P Q and R-type channels are enriched in synaptic sites suggesting their involvement in neurotransmitter release (Dunlap et al., 1995; Miljanich and Ramachandran, 1995; Kerr et al., 1988;Olivera et al., 1994), whereas the L-type channels are mainly observed in the cell bodies and dendrites (Ahlijanian et al., 1990;Westenbroek et al., 1998b;Westenbroek et al., 1990;Dobremez et al., 2005). These suggest under normal conditions L-type channels have very minimal role to play in transmitter release but rather involved in regulating post synaptic membrane excitability (Morisset and Nagy, 1999;Perrier et al., 2002).

Neuropathic pain associated with peripheral nerve injury results in long lasting changes in the excitability of spinal dorsal horn neurons. As mentioned in the general introduction several factors contribute to this increased excitability including increases in local Ca⁺⁺ concentration in the spinal cord (Kawamata and Omote, 1996). Recent studies have demonstrated an altered regulation of L-type channels in conditions of injury (Chung et al., 2001;Westenbroek et al., 2004;Xiao et al., 2002). Dobremez et al in 2005, report that sciatic nerve damage results in a differential regulation L-type Ca⁺⁺ channel subunits in deep dorsal horn neurons. Thus after nerve injury there is an up-regulation of Cav1.2 in soma, proximal and distal dendritic segments, while Cav1.3 undergoes down regulation (Dobremez et al., 2005). Analysis of gene expression profiles in the DRG and dorsal horn of the spinal cord suggest an up-regulation L-type Ca^{++} channel $\alpha_2 \delta 1$ subunit after peripheral axotomy (Xiao et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2004). However, it remains to be established whether any change occurs in the function of L-type calcium channels in substantia gelatinosa neurons after peripheral nerve injury. Studies on CCI rats presented in chapter 3 suggested that after nerve injury there is an increase the spontaneous excitatory synaptic activity in the majority of neurons of the substantia gelatinosa. An up-regulation of calcium channels including the L-type channels could contribute to such alterations in transmitter release. Studies so far have indicated an up-regulation of mainly the N-type channels in the superficial dorsal horn after nerve injury (Cizkova et al., 2002). Hence, the focus of the present chapter is to determine if L-type channels could be involved in modulating the increase in excitatory synaptic activity of the substantia gelatinosa neurons after nerve injury.

To address this issue I made whole-cell recordings from *substantia gelatinosa* neurons. The effect of Nitrendipine, an L-type Ca⁺⁺ channel blocker was examined on both the evoked and spontaneous post synaptic currents in sham and nerve injured animals. Nitrendipine at 2μ M significantly suppressed the spontaneous and the evoked excitatory current in the nerve injured rats, but had very minimal effect in the sham rats. Hence, these results suggest the L-type channels could in fact contribute to the increase in excitatory synaptic transmission after nerve injury possibly due to an up-regulation at the presynaptic sites.

5.2 Methods

The methods for recording from *substantia gelatinosa neurons* in this chapter were identical to those described in chapter 2. The inhibitors of the calcium channels were serial diluted in the external solution from their respective stock solution to achieve the final desired concentration.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Effects of Nitrendipine on Spontaneous Excitatory Postsynaptic Currents

The effects of Nitrendipine (2μ M) on the amplitude and interevent interval of the spontaneous excitatory post synaptic currents in both sham and CCI rats are represented in Figure 5.1. Because Qx 314 (5mM), a voltage gated ion channel blocker was included in the internal solution, it was not always possible to conclusively determine the firing pattern of the different cell types. Hence the effects of nitrendipine on all the cells were pooled together irrespective of their firing pattern.

In sham animals, cumulative probability plots reveal that nitrendipine had a minimal effect (P<0.05, KS test) on the sEPSC amplitude (Figure 5.1A), without affecting the interevent interval (Figure 5.1E). However, a simpler but more rigorous parametric t-test performed on the mean amplitude (Figure 5.1B) and interevent interval (Figure 5.1F) suggests no significant change on either the sEPSC amplitude or the interevent interval. These findings are in agreement with earlier reports, suggesting that L-type channels are less likely to be involved in mediating spontaneous excitatory post synaptic currents in the superficial dorsal horn under normal conditions (Bao et al., 1998;Westenbroek et al., 1998b;Heinke et al., 2004).

In the CCI rats, cumulative probability plots suggest that nitrendipine significantly reduced both the amplitude (P<0.02, KS test) and the frequency (increase in interevent interval) (P<0.001, KS test) of the sEPSC's (Figure 5.1 C&G). The t-test performed on the mean amplitude (Figure 5.1D) and interevent interval (Figure 5.1H), also supports the conclusions of the KS test. These finding imply L-type channels are involved at least partly in mediating the increased excitatory synaptic transmission observed in the superficial dorsal horn neurons after peripheral nerve injury.

5.3.2 Evoked Excitatory Postsynaptic Currents

In the presence of bicuculline (10 μ M) and strychnine (1 μ M), the stimulation of dorsal root or the entry zone generated EPSC's in *substantia gelatinosa* neurons at a holding potential of -70 mV. Only monosynaptic responses were considered for further analysis to facilitate interpretation of drug responses (Moran, 2003). An example of a monosynaptic eEPSC is represented in Figure 5.2. Application of AMPA receptor antagonist, CNQX (10μ M), and the NMDA receptor antagonist, AP5 (50μ M), abolished the evoked EPSC (Figure 5.2). This is in agreement with previous reports suggesting that the fast excitatory transmission in the *substantia gelatinosa* neurons is primarily mediated by AMPA and NMDA receptors (Yoshimura and Nishi, 1992;Yoshimura and Jessell, 1990;Lu and Perl, 2005). In some instances neurons had phases (biphasic or polyphasic) of dorsal root evoked responses, with the first phase having a constant latency of a monosynaptic connection.

5.3.3 Effects of Nitrendipine on evoked Excitatory Postsynaptic Currents

The major effect of nitrendipine on spontaneous excitatory currents in CCI rats was to reduce the frequency of the spontaneous EPSC's. Hence, one possibility is the contribution of the L-type Ca⁺⁺ channels on the presynaptic primary afferent terminals. Hence, to test this possibility the effect of nitrendipine on the primary afferent evoked excitatory post synaptic currents was considered. In sham animals, superfusion of nitrendipine (2 μ M) caused a small reduction in the EPSC amplitude by an average of 14.85 ± 5.53 % (n=13, p<0.05, paired t-test). This reduction is in agreement with earlier reports on effect of L-type channel blocker on evoked EPSC's in the superficial dorsal horn neurons (Bao et al., 1998;Heinke et al., 2004). In contrast, in the CCI rats nitrendipine caused a much larger reduction of about 40.23 ± 6.77 % (n=12, p<0.005, paired t-test), in the amplitude of the evoked EPSC's. Sample traces and a summary histogram of the action of nitrendipine for sham and CCI rats are illustrated in Figure 5.3 A-D. Figure 5.3 E is the time course response of the effect of nitrendipine in sham and

CCI rats. The time course of action of nitrendipine varied from cell to cell. In general, the effect took about 10-15 minutes to develop and the washout time was 30 minutes or longer.

5.3.4 Effects of ω -conotoxin GVIA on Evoked Excitatory Postsynaptic Currents

Figure 5.4 shows the effect of ω -conotoxin GVIA (1µM), an N-type channel blocker on the evoked excitatory currents in sham and CCI rats. In sham rats, ω -Conotoxin GVIA reduced the amplitude of the evoked EPSC by an average of 72.84±10.07 % (n=4) (Figure 5.4A). This in agreement with previous reports on the effect on the effects of ω conotoxin GVIA on the eEPSC's (Bao et al., 1998;Heinke et al., 2004) suggesting N-type channels are the major contributors of the glutamate release from the afferent terminals in the superficial dorsal horn. In CCI rats, the reduction of EPSC amplitude after ω conotoxin GVIA was about 68.56 ± 3.94 % (n=4) (Figure 5.4B). Even though the effects of ω -conotoxin GVIA in CCI rats were comparable to the sham controls, our recording conditions do not allow us differentiate the contribution of N-type channels in inhibitory versus excitatory synapses. This in turn could have different physiological consequences depending on the nature of the signaling pathway affected the most.

5.4 Discussion

The most straightforward explanation for our finding is that L-type channels are upregulated in the primary afferent terminals or their axons following peripheral nerve injury. Such an up-regulation contributes to the enhanced excitatory synaptic transmission observed in the *substantia gelatinosa* neurons after nerve injury. As demonstrated in Chapter 3, mEPSC contributes to about 50% of spontaneous events, hence the effects of nitrendipine could also include alteration in the miniature synaptic events. An up-regulation just in the primary afferent terminals does not completely account for the increased excitatory synaptic activity seen after injury. Because in addition to primary afferent terminals, synaptic activity may originate from terminals between the local interneurons or from descending inputs (Iyadomi et al., 2000;Yoshimura and Jessell, 1990;Kato et al., 2006;Millan, 2002). Thus, an up-regulation in other potential sites such as the excitatory synapses between the interneurons cannot be excluded.

One of the consequences of peripheral nerve injury is the increase in the excitability of *substantia gelatinosa* neurons (Ji and Woolf, 2001;Kohno et al., 2003). As established in chapter 3, nerve injury causes increase in the excitatory synaptic drive to certain classes of neurons of the *substantia gelatinosa*. Voltage-dependent calcium channels are known to be critical for neuronal excitability and neurotransmission and hence are attractive candidates for the development of analgesics (Dogrul et al., 2001;Dogrul et al., 1997;Vanegas and Schaible, 2000). There are several studies suggesting a possible upregulation of $\alpha 2\delta$ subunit of high threshold voltage-gated calcium channels in the DRG and dorsal horn after nerve injury (Li et al., 2004;Luo et al., 2002;Field et al., 2000;Xiao et al., 2002;Yang et al., 2004). As mentioned in the general introduction (1.7.2) this gabapentin sensitive subunit is identical to the $\alpha 2\delta$ subunit of L-type calcium channel (Gee et al., 1996). In view of these reports, findings from our study also imply that there could be an abnormal expression or activation of L-type calcium channels in the

substantia gelatinosa neurons contributing to enhanced excitatory transmission after nerve injury.

L-type blockers inhibit calcium currents in the cell bodies of small and medium DRG neurons (Hatakeyama et al., 2001;Kim et al., 2001). This confirms the presence of L-type calcium channels in primary afferent neurons and suggests their presence in the spinal terminals of primary afferents. L-type channels are also involved in neurotransmitter release in other areas of CNS (Bonci et al., 1998; Protti and Llano, 1998), however their contribution in mediating transmitter release in the superficial dorsal horn is debatable (Bao et al., 1998;Heinke et al., 2004). Our results from the control rats also show that the L-type channel has a very minimal role to play in mediating excitatory synaptic transmission in normal conditions. Under conditions of nerve injury, however there is an increase in the contribution of L-type channels towards the excitatory transmission, suggesting a possible up-regulation and or function. The recent gene array studies on DRG and dorsal horn of the spinal cord suggest a possible up-regulation of L-type channels after peripheral nerve damage (Xiao et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2004). Increase in the expression of L-type channel in conditions of injury or chemical treatment in other areas of brain and spinal cord has been demonstrated by other studies (Dobremez et al., 2005; Chung et al., 2001; Westenbroek et al., 2004; Westenbroek et al., 1998a).

Behavioral studies have shown varying effects of calcium channel blockers under different pain models (Malmberg and Yaksh, 1994;Neugebauer et al., 1996;Vanegas and Schaible, 2000). Blockade of N-type and P/Q type but not L-type channels alleviate pain

manifestation in animal models of nerve injury (Xiao and Bennett, 1995; Yamamoto and Sakashita, 1998; Chaplan et al., 1994; Matthews and Dickenson, 2001; Miljanich and Ramachandran, 1995). This suggests L-type channel blockers alone are not very effective in neuropathic pain conditions. However, in complex synapses of the brain and spinal cord several VGCC co-exists and hence a combination of blockers may be more effective than individual ones (Takahashi and Momiyama, 1993;Dunlap et al., 1995;Dogrul et al., 2001;Bao et al., 1998). Hence, our findings suggest that the L-type channels blockers could be used as an add-on therapy along with N-type antagonists in treating resistant neuropathic pain conditions. At the spinal level, combination of L-type blockers, which alone has no antinociceptive activity is able to enhance μ opioid antinociception (Omote et al., 1993;Dogrul et al., 2001;Dogrul et al., 1997). It is well known that there is reduced effectiveness of opioids in neuropathic pain (Arners and Megerson, 1988;Ossipov et al., 1995b;Ossipov et al., 1995a;Dickenson, 1994). In the superficial dorsal horn the efficacy of opioids to suppress the excitatory post synaptic activity is diminished after nerve injury (Kohno et al., 2005). Hence, a possibility for the reduced effectiveness of opioids after nerve injury could be an up-regulation of L-type channel and blocking these could be an effective way to reverse the ineffectiveness of opioids in certain neuropathic pain conditions.

Peripheral nerve injury might result in abnormal sprouting or formation of new synapses the superficial dorsal horn (Coggeshall et al., 1997;Woolf et al., 1992;Woolf et al., 1995;Hughes et al., 2003;Shehab et al., 2003). Consistent with this idea is the upregulation of synaptophysin, a marker for synaptogenesis in the superficial dorsal horn after nerve injury (Chou et al., 2002). Hence, there is a possibility that these new synapses could express L-type calcium channels which contribute to the increase in the excitatory transmission onto the second order sensory neurons of the *substantia gelatinosa*. The contribution of L-type channels in mediating glutamate release might happen only in certain synapses or in particular types of neurons of the *substantia gelatinosa* neurons. This is because nerve injury results in cell type specific effects in the *substantia gelatinosa* neurons as opposed to global enhancement of excitatory synaptic activity. Hence, future studies determining specific sites or neurons where such an upregulation occurs could provide valuable insights into understanding the contribution of L-type channels in mediating the excitability of dorsal horn neurons after nerve injury.

Figure. 5.1. Effects of Nitrendipine ($2\mu m$) on the amplitude and interevent interval of s.e.p.s.'c in *substantia gelatinosa* neurons. Analysis was performed from the first 100 events following 1 min of recording. The neurons were voltage clamped at -70mV. 10 μ M bicuculline and 1 μ M strychnine were included in the external solution to block inhibitory responses. Cumulative probability plots show the effect of Nitrendipine on amplitude (A &C) and Inter-event interval distributions (E & G) for sham (A, &E) and CCI (C, &G) animals. A summary histogram for the effect of Nitrendipine is represented in B, F, D, H. P values were derived from KS test for cumulative probability graphs and paired't' test for the bar graphs. n=24 cells for sham and n=27 cells for cuff.

Figure. 5.1



218

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Figure. 5.2. Dorsal root stimulation generates AMPA and NMDA receptor-mediated EPSC's in the substantia gelatinosa neurons. EPSCs were evoked at a holding potential of -70 mV, by dorsal root or dorsal root entry zone stimulation in the presence of 10 μ M bicuculline and 1 μ M strychnine. Averaged traces (n = 6) of evoked EPSCs before during and after application of the AMPA antagonist, CNQX (10 μ M), and the NMDA antagonist, AP5 (50 μ M).





220

Figure. 5.3. Effects of Nitrendipine (2 μ M) on the evoked EPSC's in *substantia gelatinosa* neurons of sham and CCI animals. EPSCs were evoked at a holding potential of -70 mV, by dorsal root or dorsal root entry zone stimulation in the presence of 10 μ M bicuculline and 1 μ M strychnine. Averaged traces (n=6) of the eEPSC's before during and after the application of Nitrendipine for sham (A) and CCI (C) animals. A summary histogram for the effects of nitrendipine on eEPSC's for sham (B) and CCI (D) animals. E, time course of the changes in amplitude of evoked EPSCs during application of Nitrendipine. P values were derived from paired't' test. N=13 for sham and N=12 for CCI rats. * = P<0.005, +=P<0.05





222

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Figure. 5.4. Effects of ω -conotoxin GVIA (1µm) on the evoked EPSC's in *substantia* gelatinosa neurons of sham and CCI animals. EPSCs were evoked at a holding potential of -70 mV, by dorsal root or dorsal root entry zone stimulation in the presence of 10 µM bicuculline and 1 µM strychnine. A summary histogram for the effects of ω -conotoxin GVIA on eEPSC's for sham (A) and CCI (B) animals. C, time course of the changes in amplitude of evoked EPSCs during application of ω -conotoxin GVIA. P values were derived from paired't' test. N=4 for sham and CCI rats. *= P<0.05

Figure. 5.4

*







Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

5.5 References

Ahlijanian MK, Westenbroek RE, Catterall WA (1990) Subunit structure and localization of dihydropyridine-sensitive calcium channels in mammalian brain, spinal cord, and retina. Neuron 4: 819-832.

Altier C, Zamponi GW (2004) Targeting Ca2+ channels to treat pain: T-type versus N-type. Trends Pharmacol Sci 25: 465-470.

Anwyl R (1991) Modulation of vertebrate neuronal calcium channels by transmitters. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 16: 265-281.

Arners S, Megerson BA (1988) Lack of analgesic effect of opioids on neuropathic and idiopathic forms of pain. Pain 33: 11-23.

Augustine GJ, Charlton MP, Smith SJ (1987) Calcium action in synaptic transmitter release. Annu Rev Neurosci 10: 633-693.

Bangalore R, Mehrke G, Gingrich K, Hofmann F, Kass RS (1996) Influence of L-type Ca channel alpha 2/delta-subunit on ionic and gating current in transiently transfected HEK 293 cells. Am J Physiol 270: H1521-H1528.

Bao J, Li JJ, Perl ER (1998) Differences in Ca²⁺ channels governing generation of miniature and evoked excitatory synaptic currents in spinal laminae I and II. J Neurosci 18: 8740-8750.

Bonci A, Grillner P, Mercuri NB, Bernardi G (1998) L-Type calcium channels mediate a slow excitatory synaptic transmission in rat midbrain dopaminergic neurons. J Neurosci 18: 6693-6703.

Brust PF, Simerson S, McCue AF, Deal CR, Schoonmaker S, Williams ME, Velicelebi G, Johnson EC, Harpold MM, Ellis SB (1993) Human neuronal voltage-dependent calcium channels: studies on subunit structure and role in channel assembly. Neuropharmacology 32: 1089-1102.

Catterall WA (2000) Structure and regulation of voltage-gated Ca2+ channels. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 16: 521-555.

Chaplan SR (2000) Neuropathic pain: role of voltage-dependent calcium channels. Reg Anesth Pain Med 25: 283-285.

Chaplan SR, Pogrel JW, Yaksh TL (1994) Role of voltage-dependent calcium channel subtypes in experimental tactile allodynia. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 269: 1117-1123.

Chou AK, Muhammad R, Huang SM, Chen JT, Wu CL, Lin CR, Lee TH, Lin SH, Lu CY, Yang LC (2002) Altered synaptophysin expression in the rat spinal cord after chronic constriction injury of sciatic nerve. Neurosci Lett 333: 155-158.

Chung YH, Shin CM, Kim MJ, Cha CI (2001) Enhanced expression of L-type Ca2+ channels in reactive astrocytes after ischemic injury in rats. Neurosci Lett 302: 93-96.

Cizkova D, Marsala D, Lukacova N, Marsala M, Jergova S, Orendacova J, Yaksh TL (2002) Localization of N-type Ca²⁺ channels in the rat spinal cord following chronic constriction injury. Exp Brain Res 147: 456-463.

Coggeshall RE, Lekan HA, Doubell TP, Allchorne A, Woolf CJ (1997) Central changes in primary afferent fibers following peripheral nerve lesions. Neuroscience 77: 1115-1122.

Dickenson AH (1994) Neurophysiology of opioid poorly responsive pain. Cancer Surv 21: 5-16.

Dobremez E, Bouali-Benazzouz R, Fossat P, Monteils L, Dulluc J, Nagy F, Landry M (2005) Distribution and regulation of L-type calcium channels in deep dorsal horn neurons after sciatic nerve injury in rats. Eur J Neurosci 21: 3321-3333.

Dogrul A, Yesilyurt O, Deniz G, Isimer A (1997) Analgesic effects of amlodipine and its interaction with morphine and ketorolac-induced analgesia. Gen Pharmacol 29: 839-845.

Dogrul A, Yesilyurt O, Isimer A, Guzeldemir ME (2001) L-type and T-type calcium channel blockade potentiate the analgesic effects of morphine and selective mu opioid agonist, but not to selective delta and kappa agonist at the level of the spinal cord in mice. Pain 93: 61-68.

Dunlap K, Luebke JI, Turner TJ (1995) Exocytotic Ca2+ channels in mammalian central neurons. Trends Neurosci 18: 89-98.

Ertel EA, Campbell KP, Harpold MM, Hofmann F, Mori Y, Perez-Reyes E, Schwartz A, Snutch TP, Tanabe T, Birnbaumer L, Tsien RW, Catterall WA (2000) Nomenclature of voltage-gated calcium channels. Neuron 25: 533-535.

Felix R, Gurnett CA, De Waard M, Campbell KP (1997) Dissection of functional domains of the voltage-dependent Ca2+ channel alpha2delta subunit. J Neurosci 17: 6884-6891.

Field MJ, Hughes J, Singh L (2000) Further evidence for the role of the alpha(2)delta subunit of voltage dependent calcium channels in models of neuropathic pain. Br J Pharmacol 131: 282-286.

Gao B, Sekido Y, Maximov A, Saad M, Forgacs E, Latif F, Wei MH, Lerman M, Lee JH, Perez-Reyes E, Bezprozvanny I, Minna JD (2000) Functional properties of a new voltage-dependent calcium channel alpha(2)delta auxiliary subunit gene (CACNA2D2). J Biol Chem 275: 12237-12242.

Gee NS, Brown JP, Dissanayake VU, Offord J, Thurlow R, Woodruff GN (1996) The novel anticonvulsant drug, gabapentin (Neurontin), binds to the alpha2delta subunit of a calcium channel. J Biol Chem 271: 5768-5776.

Hatakeyama S, Wakamori M, Ino M, Miyamoto N, Takahashi E, Yoshinaga T, Sawada K, Imoto K, Tanaka I, Yoshizawa T, Nishizawa Y, Mori Y, Niidome T, Shoji S (2001) Differential nociceptive responses in mice lacking the alpha(1B) subunit of N-type Ca(2+) channels. Neuroreport 12: 2423-2427.

Heinke B, Balzer E, Sandkuhler J (2004) Pre- and postsynaptic contributions of voltagedependent Ca2+ channels to nociceptive transmission in rat spinal lamina I neurons. Eur J Neurosci 19: 103-111.

Hofmann F, Lacinova L, Klugbauer N (1999) Voltage-dependent calcium channels: from structure to function. Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol 139: 33-87.

Hughes DI, Scott DT, Todd AJ, Riddell JS (2003) Lack of Evidence for Sprouting of A{beta} Afferents into the Superficial Laminas of the Spinal Cord Dorsal Horn after Nerve Section. Journal of Neuroscience 23: 9491-9499.

Iyadomi M, Iyadomi I, Kumamoto E, Tomokuni K, Yoshimura M (2000) Presynaptic inhibition by baclofen of miniature EPSCs and IPSCs in substantia gelatinosa neurons of the adult rat spinal dorsal horn [In Process Citation]. Pain 85: 385-393.

Ji RR, Woolf CJ (2001) Neuronal plasticity and signal transduction in nociceptive neurons: implications for the initiation and maintenance of pathological pain. Neurobiol Dis 8: 1-10.

Kato G, Yasaka T, Katafuchi T, Furue H, Mizuno M, Iwamoto Y, Yoshimura M (2006) Direct GABAergic and glycinergic inhibition of the substantia gelatinosa from the rostral ventromedial medulla revealed by in vivo patch-clamp analysis in rats. J Neurosci 26: 1787-1794.

Kawamata M, Omote K (1996) Involvement of increased excitatory amino acids and intracellular Ca2+ concentration in the spinal dorsal horn in an animal model of neuropathic pain. Pain 68: 85-96.

Kerr LM, Filloux F, Olivera BM, Jackson H, Wamsley JK (1988) Autoradiographic localization of calcium channels with [125I]omega-conotoxin in rat brain. Eur J Pharmacol 146: 181-183.

Kim C, Jun K, Lee T, Kim SS, McEnery MW, Chin H, Kim HL, Park JM, Kim DK, Jung SJ, Kim J, Shin HS (2001) Altered nociceptive response in mice deficient in the alpha(1B) subunit of the voltage-dependent calcium channel. Mol Cell Neurosci 18: 235-245.

Klugbauer N, Lacinova L, Marais E, Hobom M, Hofmann F (1999) Molecular diversity of the calcium channel alpha2delta subunit. J Neurosci 19: 684-691.

Kohno T, Ji RR, Ito N, Allchorne AJ, Befort K, Karchewski LA, Woolf CJ (2005) Peripheral axonal injury results in reduced mu opioid receptor pre- and post-synaptic action in the spinal cord. Pain 117: 77-87.

Kohno T, Moore KA, Baba H, Woolf CJ (2003) Peripheral nerve injury in the rat alters excitatory synaptic transmission in lamina II of the dorsal horn. J Physiol 548: 131-138.

Li CY, Song YH, Higuera ES, Luo ZD (2004) Spinal Dorsal Horn Calcium Channel {alpha}2{delta}-1 Subunit Upregulation Contributes to Peripheral Nerve Injury-Induced Tactile Allodynia. Journal of Neuroscience 24: 8494-8499.

Llinas RR (1988) The intrinsic electrophysiological properties of mammalian neurons: insights into central nervous system function. Science 242: 1654-1664.

Lu Y, Perl ER (2005) Modular Organization of Excitatory Circuits between Neurons of the Spinal Superficial Dorsal Horn (Laminae I and II). Journal of Neuroscience 25: 3900-3907.

Luo ZD, Calcutt NA, Higuera ES, Valder CR, Song YH, Svensson CI, Myers RR (2002) Injury type-specific calcium channel alpha 2 delta-1 subunit up-regulation in rat neuropathic pain models correlates with antiallodynic effects of gabapentin. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 303: 1199-1205.

Malmberg AB, Yaksh TL (1994) Voltage-sensitive calcium channels in spinal nociceptive processing: blockade of N- and P-type channels inhibits formalin-induced nociception. J Neurosci 14: 4882-4890.

Matthews EA, Dickenson AH (2001) Effects of spinally delivered N- and P-type voltagedependent calcium channel antagonists on dorsal horn neuronal responses in a rat model of neuropathy. Pain 92: 235-246.

Miljanich GP, Ramachandran J (1995) Antagonists of neuronal calcium channels: structure, function, and therapeutic implications. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 35: 707-734.

Millan MJ (2002) Descending control of pain. Prog Neurobiol 66: 355-474.

Miller RJ (1987) Multiple calcium channels and neuronal function. Science 235: 46-52.

Moran TD (2003) Neuropeptide Modulation of Spinal Pain Pathways. University of Alberta.

Morisset V, Nagy F (1999) Ionic basis for plateau potentials in deep dorsal horn neurons of the rat spinal cord. J Neurosci 19: 7309-7316.

Neugebauer V, Vanegas H, Nebe J, Rumenapp P, Schaible HG (1996) Effects of N- and L-type calcium channel antagonists on the responses of nociceptive spinal cord neurons

to mechanical stimulation of the normal and the inflamed knee joint. J Neurophysiol 76: 3740-3749.

Nowycky MC, Fox AP, Tsien RW (1985) Three types of neuronal calcium channel with different calcium agonist sensitivity. Nature 316: 440-443.

Olivera BM, Miljanich GP, Ramachandran J, Adams ME (1994) Calcium channel diversity and neurotransmitter release: the omega-conotoxins and omega-agatoxins. Annu Rev Biochem 63: 823-867.

Omote K, Sonoda H, Kawamata M, Iwasaki H, Namiki A (1993) Potentiation of antinociceptive effects of morphine by calcium-channel blockers at the level of the spinal cord. Anesthesiology 79: 746-752.

Ossipov MH, Lopez Y, Nichols ML, Bian D, Porreca F (1995a) Inhibition by spinal morphine of the tail-flick response is attenuated in rats with nerve ligation injury. Neurosci Lett 199: 83-86.

Ossipov MH, Lopez Y, Nichols ML, Bian D, Porreca F (1995b) The loss of antinociceptive efficacy of spinal morphine in rats with nerve ligation injury is prevented by reducing spinal afferent drive. Neurosci Lett 199: 87-90.

Perney TM, Hirning LD, Leeman SE, Miller RJ (1986) Multiple calcium channels mediate neurotransmitter release from peripheral neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 83: 6656-6659.

Perrier JF, Alaburda A, Hounsgaard J (2002) Spinal plasticity mediated by postsynaptic L-type Ca2+ channels. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 40: 223-229.

Protti DA, Llano I (1998) Calcium currents and calcium signaling in rod bipolar cells of rat retinal slices. J Neurosci 18: 3715-3724.

Russo RE, Hounsgaard J (1994) Short-term plasticity in turtle dorsal horn neurons mediated by L-type Ca2+ channels. Neuroscience 61: 191-197.

Russo RE, Hounsgaard J (1996) Plateau-generating neurones in the dorsal horn in an in vitro preparation of the turtle spinal cord. J Physiol 493 (Pt 1): 39-54.

Russo RE, Nagy F, Hounsgaard J (1997) Modulation of plateau properties in dorsal horn neurones in a slice preparation of the turtle spinal cord. J Physiol 499 (Pt 2): 459-474.

Ryu PD, Randic M (1990) Low- and high-voltage-activated calcium currents in rat spinal dorsal horn neurons. J Neurophysiol 63: 273-285.

Shehab SA, Spike RC, Todd AJ (2003) Evidence against cholera toxin B subunit as a reliable tracer for sprouting of primary afferents following peripheral nerve injury. Brain Res 964: 218-227.

Sluka KA (1997) Blockade of calcium channels can prevent the onset of secondary hyperalgesia and allodynia induced by intradermal injection of capsaicin in rats. Pain 71: 157-164.

Song WJ, Surmeier DJ (1996) Voltage-dependent facilitation of calcium channels in rat neostriatal neurons. J Neurophysiol 76: 2290-2306.

Takahashi T, Momiyama A (1993) Different types of calcium channels mediate central synaptic transmission. Nature 366: 156-158.

Vanegas H, Schaible H (2000) Effects of antagonists to high-threshold calcium channels upon spinal mechanisms of pain, hyperalgesia and allodynia. Pain 85: 9-18.

Voisin DL, Nagy F (2001) Sustained L-type calcium currents in dissociated deep dorsal horn neurons of the rat: characteristics and modulation. Neuroscience 102: 461-472.

Voitenko NV, Kruglikov IA, Kostyuk EP, Kostyuk PG (2000) Effect of streptozotocininduced diabetes on the activity of calcium channels in rat dorsal horn neurons. Neuroscience 95: 519-524.

Westenbroek RE, Ahlijanian MK, Catterall WA (1990) Clustering of L-type Ca2+ channels at the base of major dendrites in hippocampal pyramidal neurons. Nature 347: 281-284.

Westenbroek RE, Anderson NL, Byers MR (2004) Altered localization of Cav1.2 (Ltype) calcium channels in nerve fibers, Schwann cells, odontoblasts, and fibroblasts of tooth pulp after tooth injury. J Neurosci Res 75: 371-383.

Westenbroek RE, Bausch SB, Lin RC, Franck JE, Noebels JL, Catterall WA (1998a) Upregulation of L-type Ca2+ channels in reactive astrocytes after brain injury, hypomyelination, and ischemia. J Neurosci 18: 2321-2334.

Westenbroek RE, Hoskins L, Catterall WA (1998b) Localization of Ca2+ channel subtypes on rat spinal motor neurons, interneurons, and nerve terminals. J Neurosci 18: 6319-6330.

Wheeler DB, Randall A, Tsien RW (1996) Changes in action potential duration alter reliance of excitatory synaptic transmission on multiple types of Ca2+ channels in rat hippocampus. J Neurosci 16: 2226-2237.

Woolf CJ, Shortland P, Coggeshall RE (1992) Peripheral nerve injury triggers central sprouting of myelinated afferents. Nature 355: 75-78.

Woolf CJ, Shortland P, Reynolds M, Ridings J, Doubell T, Coggeshall RE (1995) Reorganization of central terminals of myelinated primary afferents in the rat dorsal horn following peripheral axotomy. J Comp Neurol 360: 121-134. Xiao HS, Huang QH, Zhang FX, Bao L, Lu YJ, Guo C, Yang L, Huang WJ, Fu G, Xu SH, Cheng XP, Yan Q, Zhu ZD, Zhang X, Chen Z, Han ZG, Zhang X (2002) Identification of gene expression profile of dorsal root ganglion in the rat peripheral axotomy model of neuropathic pain. PNAS 99: 8360-8365.

Xiao WH, Bennett GJ (1995) Synthetic omega-conopeptides applied to the site of nerve injury suppress neuropathic pains in rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 274: 666-672.

Yamamoto T, Sakashita Y (1998) Differential effects of intrathecally administered Nand P-type voltage-sensitive calcium channel blockers upon two models of experimental mononeuropathy in the rat. Brain Res 794: 329-332.

Yang L, Zhang FX, Huang F, Lu YJ, Li GD, Bao L, Xiao HS, Zhang X (2004) Peripheral nerve injury induces trans-synaptic modification of channels, receptors and signal pathways in rat dorsal spinal cord. Eur J Neurosci 19: 871-883.

Yoshimura M, Jessell T (1990) Amino acid-mediated EPSPs at primary afferent synapses with substantia gelatinosa neurones in the rat spinal cord. J Physiol (Lond) 430: 315-335.

Yoshimura M, Nishi S (1992) Excitatory amino acid receptors involved in primary afferent-evoked polysynaptic EPSPs of substantia gelatinosa neurons in the adult rat spinal cord slice. Neurosci Lett 143: 131-134.

Chapter 6

General Discussion

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

In this thesis, the effects of sciatic chronic constriction injury on the properties of various *substantia gelatinosa* neurons were characterized using an *in vitro* transverse slice preparation. This was the first comprehensive study to examine the effects of peripheral nerve injury on both electrophysiologically and morphologically defined neurons of the *substantia gelatinosa*. Moreover, these experiments provided clues regarding the correlation between neuronal morphology and the firing characteristics of *substantia gelatinosa* cells. This chapter will review the three preceding chapters. Finally it will also propose some general conclusion and suggest future perspectives on exploring possible changes on *substantia gelatinosa* neurons after peripheral nerve injury.

6.1 Chapter summaries

Chapter 3

The peripheral nerve injury induced by polyethylene cuff implantation produced a significant mechanical hypersensitivity compared to the sham controls. This implies that the polyethylene cuff model is simple and reliable model of inducing neuropathic pain like symptoms in rats. The neurons of the *substantia gelatinosa* could be divided into five different types: tonic, delay, phasic, irregular and transient, based on their discharge properties in response to depolarizing current steps. Because the classical studies of the effects of sciatic nerve injury on dorsal horn neurons were done with extracellular unit recording *in vivo* (Laird and Bennett, 1993), it has been difficult to distinguish injury-induced changes in the intrinsic properties of dorsal horn networks and the neurons therein from altered excitation resulting from spontaneous primary afferent activity (but see Sotgiu and Biella, 2000). We therefore used whole-cell recording to carry out a

systematic study of the effect of sciatic nerve injury on the intrinsic electrophysiological properties of neurons in the *substantia gelatinosa* of the juvenile rats. Experiments were done on spinal cord slices, acutely prepared from sham-operated animals or those subject to 13-25d sciatic chronic constriction injury (CCI) (Mosconi and Kruger, 1996).

The most obvious effects of CCI involved neuron type specific alterations in spontaneous synaptic activity. These were attributed, at least in part, to alterations in the action potential-independent neurotransmitter release machinery and to possible alterations in the postsynaptic effectiveness of glutamate. The principal findings were (1) In tonic neurons, CCI reduced the excitatory synaptic drive and membrane excitability, (2) CCI increased the synaptic drive of delay, transient and irregular neurons, (3) In phasic neurons, CCI increased the membrane excitability, while exerting minimal effects on the synaptic drive.

Given the clearly documented increase in the excitability of dorsal horn neurons following peripheral nerve injury *in vivo* (Laird and Bennett, 1993) and the presence of mechanical hypersensitivity in our experimental animals (Figure 3.1), the observed changes in the properties of *substantia gelatinosa* neurons at first seem relatively subtle. It should be noted however, that our experiments were done in thin (300µm) transverse slices of spinal cord. Thus, some of the intrinsic synaptic connections between individual neurons within the *substantia gelatinosa* (Lu and Perl, 2005) may have been compromised by the slice preparation process. Perhaps a more profound effect of CCI would have been seen had this circuitry remained intact. Also, the acute rhizotomy, which occurred as the slices were prepared, would have removed the contribution of injury-induced spontaneous primary afferent activity. Had this excitatory drive remained intact, it is possible that even more profound changes in sEPSC's would have been seen. It is also possible that CCI affects descending brainstem control of spinal nociceptive circuits (Suzuki et al., 2002). Such changes, which would not be detected by our methodology, could also contribute to CCI-induced hyperexcitability of the dorsal horn *in vivo*. Lastly it should be reiterated that the present studies were exclusively concerned with excitatory synaptic mechanisms. A role for impaired GABAergic function in pain centralization is now quite well established (Coull et al., 2003;Coull et al., 2005). It is therefore suggested, that a combination of changes in intrinsic synaptic (increased excitatory and decreased inhibitory) transmission further driven by alterations in primary afferent and descending inputs leads to the general increase in activity in the intact dorsal horn *in vivo*. The relative contribution of intrinsic, peripheral and descending mechanisms to central hypersensitivity remains to be determined.

Chapter 4

The aim of this chapter is two fold. First, to explore possible correlations between the firing characteristics of the *substantia gelatinosa* neurons with their morphological features. Although the relationships between various neuronal morphologies, their neurotransmitter phenotypes, cytochemical markers and electrophysiological properties are starting to be understood there is, as yet, no universally accepted classification scheme for *substantia gelatinosa* neurons (Heinke et al., 2004;Grudt and Perl, 2002;Hantman et al., 2004;Ruscheweyh and Sandkuhler, 2002;Todd and Spike, 1993).

Hence, I attempted to correlate the firing pattern of the neurons with post-hoc morphological identification. This was accomplished using confocal microscopy which allowed for 3D reconstruction of the biocytin stained neurons to estimate the predominant dendritic orientation. Thus, the main findings were: (1) the majority of islet neurons with predominant rostro-caudal orientation exibited a 'tonic' firing pattern, (2) the majority of vertical neurons with predominant dorso-ventral projection exibited 'delay' regular firing pattern, (3) almost all radial neurons with dendrites projecting equally in all directions exibited a 'delay' but with irregularities in their firing pattern. In addition, based on the relationship to the PKC γ containing cells, the soma of tonic/islet neurons could be found throughout the entire lamina II region, while the vertical and radial cells are preferentially localized on the outer or on the inner/outer border of the lamina II region.

The second aim of this chapter was to understand the changes induced by CCI on the morphologically and electrophysiologically identified neurons. Thus CCI reduced the excitatory synaptic drive to islet tonic neurons, while it increased the synaptic drive to vertical and radial delay neurons. The changes with respect to membrane excitability and rheobase are at odds with the findings of chapter 3. Hence, not much significance could be attributed to this at the moment. If one accepts the hypothesis that many 'tonic/ islet' cells are GABAergic (Grudt and Perl, 2002;Hantman et al., 2004;Lu and Perl, 2003), a CCI-induced decrease in excitatory synaptic drive fits with the finding that GABAergic tone is reduced in neuropathic pain (Laird and Bennett, 1992;Woolf and Mannion, 1999;Moore et al., 2002;Baba et al., 2003). Also, if the vertical/ delay neurons are excitatory (Lu and Perl, 2005), these cells receive an increased excitatory synaptic drive
after nerve injury (Kohno et al., 2003). Hence, the above mechanisms could contribute to an overall increase in dorsal horn excitability.

Further studies in the direction of functional characterization of the different cell types would provide much needed insights to the organization of the *substantia gelatinosa*. Especially it would be interesting to follow up the electrophysiological characterization with post-hoc cell identification with glutamatergic (excitatory aminoacid transporter EAAT3) or GABAergic (GAD 67) markers. Findings from these studies will then help in determining the electrophysiological consequences of peripheral nerve injury on glutamatergic and GABAergic neurons.

Chapter 5

The earlier chapters have demonstrated neuron specific alterations in excitatory transmitter release mechanism after nerve Injury. These findings corroborate the reports on increases in messages for transmitter release proteins after nerve injury (Xiao et al., 2002;Yang et al., 2004). These recent reports analyzing the changes in expression of various genes after nerve injury also suggests an up-regulation calcium channel $\alpha_2\delta_1$ subunits in the DRG and dorsal horn after nerve injury (Xiao et al., 2002;Yang et al., 2004). Interestingly this $\alpha_2\delta_1$ subunit is sensitive to gabapentin which is effective in various neuropathic pain conditions (Snutch et al., 2001;Nicholson, 2000). Moreover this $\alpha_2\delta_1$ subunit is thought to be associated with the L-type HVA calcium channel (Xiao et al., 2002;Gee et al., 1996;Field et al., 2000;Nicholson, 2000). However, the electrophysiological studies exploring the changes in L-type calcium currents in the DRG

cell bodies have not reported an increase after nerve injury (Baccei and Kocsis, 2000; Abdulla and Smith, 2001). In fact, after axotomy there is a decrease in HVA calcium currents in the DRG cell bodies (Abdulla and Smith, 2001). Hence this increase expression of L-type channels could have occurred only on the primary afferent terminals or after nerve injury there is a translocation of L-type channels from the cell bodies to the afferent terminals in the dorsal horn (Yang et al., 2004). Hence, this chapter was aimed at determining the possible involvement of L-type calcium channels in mediating excitatory transmitter release after nerve injury. The principal findings were (1) Nitrendipine, an Ltype calcium channel blocker significantly reduced both the amplitude and the frequency of spontaneous EPSC in the substantia gelatinosa neurons after nerve injury, while having only minimal effects in sham controls (2) Nitrendipine, was also able to reduce the dorsal root evoked EPSC in the nerve injured rats by more than 20% compared to sham controls. Our findings hence suggest at least part of the effects of L-type channels on EPSC's are through those channels present on the primary afferent terminals. However, in complex circuitry such as the substantia gelatinosa an up-regulation of Ltype calcium channels in other potential sites such as the inter-neuronal synapses cannot be excluded. Moreover, it remains to be determined whether up-regulation or function of L-type channel occurs in both inhibitory and excitatory synapses. Hence future studies should examine neuron specific up-regulation of L-type channels after nerve injury. These studies would further offer insights on the contribution of L-type channel towards mediating excitatory synaptic transmission after nerve injury.

6.2 General Conclusion and Future Perspectives

My results show for the first time that peripheral nerve injury generates a specific pattern of changes in the *substantia gelatinosa* neurons as opposed to a hypothetically global increase in the excitability. The effects are in such a direction that putative inhibitory neurons receive less excitatory synaptic drive while the putative excitatory neurons receive an increased synaptic drive. We refer to such changes as an 'injury foot print'. This pattern of changes could essentially form a template to study whether different pain mediators such as BDNF or IL1 β when applied exogenously are able to mimic the responses of peripheral nerve injury. In fact, preliminary data from our lab show that long-term exposure of the organotypic spinal cord cultures to BDNF produces a pattern of electrophysiological changes that resemble the 'injury footprint' seen in acute slices after chronic constriction injury. Specifically, BDNF reduced the excitatory synaptic drive to tonic cells, while increasing it in all other cell types including the delay neurons, in organotypic spinal cord cultures (Smith et al., 2005).

As mentioned earlier, sciatic nerve injury induced cell-type specific changes in the excitatory synaptic transmission. This may reflect cell-type specific changes in conductance and/or the number of postsynaptic AMPA and/or NMDA receptors, in addition to changes in neurotransmitter release mechanisms. Hence, one interesting future direction is to examine whether AMPA and NMDA receptors are affected differentially between tonic and delay neurons. Based on the effect of CCI on sEPSC amplitude in chapter 3 and 4 (Figures 3.9 and 4.6), I anticipate that AMPA effects will be increased in delay cells and reduced in tonic cells. This may reflect the possibility that tonic cells may

express GluR1 whereas delay cells may express GluR2/3 (Kerr et al., 1998). This could be examined by comparing the Ca^{2+} permeability, rectification properties, jorotoxin sensitivity and desensitization kinetics of AMPA responses in the two cell types (Iino et al., 1996;Albuquerque et al., 1999).

The organization of the superficial dorsal horn has received greater attention recently and several features of it have started to be unraveled. Even within the substantia gelatinosa there seems to be region-specific differences in the organization. The outer layer is associated with nociceptive neurons while the inner region is comprised mainly of nonnoxious neurons responding to gentle mechanical stimuli (Light and Willcockson, 1999;Light and Perl, 1979). It has recently been shown that sciatic CCI promotes a transient and selective loss of IB4 positive, non-peptidergic primary afferent terminals in inner lamina II (Bailey and Ribeiro-da-Silva, 2006). The islet/tonic cells receiving input from selective primary afferent C-fibers have been demonstrated (Grudt and Perl, 2002; Lu and Perl, 2003). Moreover, our finding also suggests loss of excitatory synaptic drive to the islet/tonic neurons. It would be hence interesting to determine whether there is a loss of C-fiber evoked EPSC's in the islet/tonic neurons present in inner lamina II after nerve injury. Hence future studies should aim at targeting the differences between the outer versus the inner lamina II neurons after peripheral nerve injury. The sensory afferent input through the sciatic nerve projects to the medial half of the superficial dorsal horn (Coggeshall et al., 2001;Scholz et al., 2005;Swett and Woolf, 1985). Moreover, changes such as abnormal expression of sodium channel (Nav1.3) (Hains et al., 2004), neuronal apoptosis of inhibitory neurons and its associated loss of GABAergic

IPSC's (Moore et al., 2002;Scholz et al., 2005) and alteration in excitatory synaptic transmission (Kohno et al., 2003) seem to occur mainly in the medial part of the superficial dorsal horn. Hence it would be interesting explore whether nerve injury causes differential changes in the properties of medial versus the lateral cells.

The major effect of CCI under the present experimental conditions is to produce alteration in spontaneous and miniature synaptic activity. This possibly reflects changes in the release process including formation of new synaptic connections. Increased expression of the presynaptic vesicle protein, synaptophysin have been reported after nerve injury (Chou et al., 2002). Based on this evidence it would be interesting to determine if there is any alteration in expression of vesicle proteins such as synapsin in the superficial dorsal horn in our injury model. This could possibly provide an explanation for an increased excitatory synaptic drive to the substantia gelatinosa neurons after nerve injury. The studies on L-type calcium channel blockers suggest a possible up-regulation or function of L-channels after nerve injury. Future studies using western blot analysis to estimate the expression of L-type channel protein in the superficial dorsal horn neurons in our nerve injury model could further complement our electrophysiological findings. Even though the L-type blockers alone in various neuropathic pain models have been unsuccessful, there is a possibility that they could be used as an add-on therapy under certain condition (Dogrul et al., 2001). This possibly opens up novel therapeutic avenues for the management of neuropathic pain.

6.3 References

Abdulla FA, Smith PA (2001) Axotomy- and Autotomy-Induced Changes in Ca²⁺ and K⁺ Channel Currents of Rat Dorsal Root Ganglion Neurons. J Neurophysiol 85: 644-658.

Albuquerque C, Lee CJ, Jackson AC, MacDermott AB (1999) Subpopulations of GABAergic and non-GABAergic rat dorsal horn neurons express Ca2+-permeable AMPA receptors. Eur J Neurosci 11: 2758-2766.

Baba H, Ji RR, Kohno T, Moore KA, Ataka T, Wakai A, Okamoto M, Woolf CJ (2003) Removal of GABAergic inhibition facilitates polysynaptic A fiber-mediated excitatory transmission to the superficial spinal dorsal horn. Mol Cell Neurosci 24: 818-830.

Baccei ML, Kocsis JD (2000) Voltage-Gated Calcium Currents in Axotomized Adult Rat Cutaneous Afferent Neurons. J Neurophysiol, 83: 2227-2238.

Bailey AL, Ribeiro-da-Silva A (2006) Transient loss of terminals from non-peptidergic nociceptive fibers in the substantia gelatinosa of spinal cord following chronic constriction injury of the sciatic nerve. Neuroscience 138: 675-690.

Chou AK, Muhammad R, Huang SM, Chen JT, Wu CL, Lin CR, Lee TH, Lin SH, Lu CY, Yang LC (2002) Altered synaptophysin expression in the rat spinal cord after chronic constriction injury of sciatic nerve. Neurosci Lett 333: 155-158.

Coggeshall RE, Lekan HA, White FA, Woolf CJ (2001) A-fiber sensory input induces neuronal cell death in the dorsal horn of the adult rat spinal cord. J Comp Neurol 435: 276-282.

Coull JA, Beggs S, Boudreau D, Boivin D, Tsuda M, Inoue K, Gravel C, Salter MW, de Koninck Y (2005) BDNF from microglia causes the shift in neuronal anion gradient underlying neuropathic pain. Nature 438: 1017-1021.

Coull JA, Boudreau D, Bachand K, Prescott SA, Nault F, Sik A, De Koninck P, de Koninck Y (2003) Trans-synaptic shift in anion gradient in spinal lamina I neurons as a mechanism of neuropathic pain. Nature 424: 938-942.

Dogrul A, Yesilyurt O, Isimer A, Guzeldemir ME (2001) L-type and T-type calcium channel blockade potentiate the analgesic effects of morphine and selective mu opioid agonist, but not to selective delta and kappa agonist at the level of the spinal cord in mice. Pain 93: 61-68.

Field MJ, Hughes J, Singh L (2000) Further evidence for the role of the alpha(2)delta subunit of voltage dependent calcium channels in models of neuropathic pain. Br J Pharmacol 131: 282-286.

Gee NS, Brown JP, Dissanayake VU, Offord J, Thurlow R, Woodruff GN (1996) The novel anticonvulsant drug, gabapentin (Neurontin), binds to the alpha2delta subunit of a calcium channel. J Biol Chem 271: 5768-5776.

Grudt TJ, Perl ER (2002) Correlations between neuronal morphology and electrophysiological features in the rodent superficial dorsal horn. J Physiol 540: 189-207.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Hains BC, Saab CY, Klein JP, Craner MJ, Waxman SG (2004) Altered Sodium Channel Expression in Second-Order Spinal Sensory Neurons Contributes to Pain after Peripheral Nerve Injury. Journal of Neuroscience 24: 4832-4839.

Hantman AW, van den Pol AN, Perl ER (2004) Morphological and Physiological Features of a Set of Spinal Substantia Gelatinosa Neurons Defined by Green Fluorescent Protein Expression. Journal of Neuroscience 24: 836-842.

Heinke B, Ruscheweyh R, Forsthuber L, Wunderbaldinger G, Sandkuhler J (2004) Physiological, neurochemical and morphological properties of a subgroup of GABAergic spinal lamina II neurones identified by expression of green fluorescent protein in mice. J Physiol 560: 249-266.

Iino M, Koike M, Isa T, Ozawa S (1996) Voltage-dependent blockage of Ca(2+)-permeable AMPA receptors by joro spider toxin in cultured rat hippocampal neurones. J Physiol 496 (Pt 2): 431-437.

Kerr RC, Maxwell DJ, Todd AJ (1998) GluR1 and GluR2/3 subunits of the AMPA-type glutamate receptor are associated with particular types of neurone in laminae I-III of the spinal dorsal horn of the rat. Eur J Neurosci 10: 324-333.

Kohno T, Moore KA, Baba H, Woolf CJ (2003) Peripheral nerve injury in the rat alters excitatory synaptic transmission in lamina II of the dorsal horn. J Physiol 548: 131-138.

Laird JM, Bennett GJ (1993) An electrophysiological study of dorsal horn neurons in the spinal cord of rats with an experimental peripheral neuropathy. J Neurophysiol 69: 2072-2085.

Laird JMA, Bennett GJ (1992) Dorsal root potentials and afferent input to the spinal cord in rats with an experimental peripheral neuropathy. Brain Res 584: 181-190.

Light AR, Perl ER (1979) Reexamination of the dorsal root projection to the spinal dorsal horn including observations on the differential termination of coarse and fine fibers. J Comp Neurol 186: 117-131.

Light AR, Willcockson HH (1999) Spinal Laminae I-II Neurons in Rat Recorded in Vivo in Whole Cell, Tight Seal Configuration: Properties and Opioid Responses. J Neurophysiol, 82: 3316-3326.

Lu Y, Perl ER (2003) A specific inhibitory pathway between substantia gelatinosa neurons receiving direct C-fiber input. J Neurosci 23: 8752-8758.

Lu Y, Perl ER (2005) Modular Organization of Excitatory Circuits between Neurons of the Spinal Superficial Dorsal Horn (Laminae I and II). Journal of Neuroscience 25: 3900-3907.

Moore KA, Kohno T, Karchewski LA, Scholz J, Baba H, Woolf CJ (2002) Partial peripheral nerve injury promotes a selective loss of GABAergic inhibition in the superficial dorsal horn of the spinal cord. J Neurosci 22: 6724-6731.

Mosconi T, Kruger L (1996) Fixed-diameter polyethylene cuffs applied to the rat sciatic nerve induce a painful neuropathy: ultrastructural morphometric analysis of axonal alterations. Pain 64: 37-57.

Nicholson B (2000) Gabapentin use in neuropathic pain syndromes. Acta Neurol Scand 101: 359-371.

Ruscheweyh R, Sandkuhler J (2002) Lamina-specific membrane and discharge properties of rat spinal dorsal horn neurons in vitro. J Physiol (Lond) 541: 231-244.

Scholz J, Broom DC, Youn DH, Mills CD, Kohno T, Suter MR, Moore KA, Decosterd I, Coggeshall RE, Woolf CJ (2005) Blocking caspase activity prevents transsynaptic neuronal apoptosis and the loss of inhibition in lamina II of the dorsal horn after peripheral nerve injury. J Neurosci 25: 7317-7323.

Smith PA, Lu VB, Balasubramanyan S (2005) Chronic constriction injury and brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) produce a similar "pain footprint" in dorsal horn neurons. Abstract Viewer/Itinerary Planner Washington, DC: Society for Neuroscience, Online (in press).

Snutch TP, Sutton KG, Zamponi GW (2001) Voltage-dependent calcium channels--beyond dihydropyridine antagonists. Curr Opin Pharmacol 1: 11-16.

Suzuki R, Morcuende S, Webber M, Hunt SP, Dickenson AH (2002) Superficial NK1-expressing neurons control spinal excitability through activation of descending pathways. Nat Neurosci 5: 1319-1326.

Swett JE, Woolf CJ (1985) The somatotopic organization of primary afferent terminals in the superficial laminae of the dorsal horn of the rat spinal cord. J Comp Neurol 231: 66-77.

Todd AJ, Spike RC (1993) The localization of classical transmitters and neuropeptides within neurons in laminae I-III of the mammalian spinal dorsal horn. Prog Neurobiol 41: 609-645.

Woolf CJ, Mannion RJ (1999) Neuropathic pain: aetiology, symptoms, mechanisms, and management. Lancet 353: 1959-1964.

Xiao HS, Huang QH, Zhang FX, Bao L, Lu YJ, Guo C, Yang L, Huang WJ, Fu G, Xu SH, Cheng XP, Yan Q, Zhu ZD, Zhang X, Chen Z, Han ZG, Zhang X (2002) Identification of gene expression profile of dorsal root ganglion in the rat peripheral axotomy model of neuropathic pain. PNAS 99: 8360-8365.

Yang L, Zhang FX, Huang F, Lu YJ, Li GD, Bao L, Xiao HS, Zhang X (2004) Peripheral nerve injury induces trans-synaptic modification of channels, receptors and signal pathways in rat dorsal spinal cord. Eur J Neurosci 19: 871-883.